
A Meeting of the COUNCIL will be held in Council Chamber 
- Civic Offices on THURSDAY 22 MARCH 2018 AT 
7.30 PM

Manjeet Gill
Interim Chief Executive
Published on 14 March 2018

This meeting will be filmed for inclusion on the Council’s 
website.

Please note that other people may film, record, tweet or blog 
from this meeting.  The use of these images or recordings is 
not under the Council’s control.

Public Document Pack



Our Vision

A great place to live, an even better place to do business

Our Priorities

Improve educational attainment and focus on every child 
achieving their potential

Invest in regenerating towns and villages, support social and 
economic prosperity, whilst encouraging business growth

Ensure strong sustainable communities that are vibrant and 
supported by well designed development

Tackle traffic congestion in specific areas of the Borough

Improve the customer experience when accessing Council 
services

The Underpinning Principles

Offer excellent value for your Council Tax

Provide affordable homes

Look after the vulnerable

Improve health, wellbeing and quality of life

Maintain and improve the waste collection, recycling and fuel 
efficiency

Deliver quality in all that we do



To: The Members of Wokingham Borough Council

ITEM 
NO. WARD SUBJECT PAGE

NO.

77.  APOLOGIES
To receive any apologies for absence.

78.  MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
To confirm the Minutes of the Meeting held on 22 
February 2018.

15 - 26

79.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
To receive any declarations of interest.

80.  PUBLIC QUESTION TIME
To answer any public questions.

A period of 30 minutes will be allowed for members of 
the public to ask questions submitted under notice. 

The Council welcomes questions from members of 
the public about the work of the Council

Subject to meeting certain timescales, questions can 
relate to general issues concerned with the work of 
the Council or an item which is on the Agenda for this 
meeting.  For full details of the procedure for 
submitting questions please contact the Democratic 
Services Section on the numbers given below or go 
to www.wokingham.gov.uk/publicquestions

80.1 Wescott Helen Power has asked the Executive Member for 
Business, Economic Development and Regeneration 
the following question:

Question:
With Wokingham town centre suffering complete 
chaos from the regeneration shambles, why not wait 
until the Peach Place and Town Centre works are 
complete and all the retail units successfully let 
before continuing to destroy Elms Field?

80.2 None Specific Peter Humphreys has asked the Executive Member 
for Highways and Transport the following question:

Question:
By way of background I first raised this question via 
email with the Regeneration team on 8/2/18 who 
passed it to the so-called Highways Improvements 
team.  When they failed to respond I also contacted 

http://www.wokingham.gov.uk/publicquestions


the Executive Member for Highways & Transport and 
also the Leader of the Council. Despite several 
reminders none of these parties bothered to respond 
and as well as not being able to answer the question 
can’t name a single individual within the apparently 
faceless Highways Improvement team who I could 
chase-up in person.  A visit to Shute End proved to 
be equally fruitless as not a single employee could be 
found who was working on the Market Place project; 
well it was a Friday.

Anyway in early February I observed that the hole 
caused by road works at the entrance to Peach Plaza 
in Rose Street had been filled in yet part of the 
highway was still fenced off and the temporary traffic 
lights with one-way working still in use. The hoardings 
have moved since then but at that point in time the 
road could have been re-opened to two-way traffic.  
But wasn’t.  By way of an update the hoardings at the 
Broad Street junction have been moved forward but if 
the project had been properly managed the road 
works at this point would have been done first to free 
up the junction.

Clearly if the works in the square had been logically 
sequenced the temporary traffic lights in Rose Street 
could have been removed weeks ago and with this 
alternative westbound route opened through the town 
centre congestion would also have been relieved on 
Denmark Street, Finchampstead & Wellington Roads.  
Why was this not done?

80.3 None Specific Keith Malvern has asked the Leader of the Council 
the following question:

Question:
Budget consultation:  Can the Leader of the Council 
explain to me and the nearly 700 other people who 
made comments on the Budget consultation, why the 
report on the consultation was not available before 
the council meeting in February when the Budget was 
decided?

80.4 Wescott Jacqueline Wilson has asked the Executive Member 
for Business, Economic Development and 
Regeneration the following question:

Question:
Can someone please explain to me why the decision 
to start work on Elms Field (a very unpopular project 
to most residents) was taken when our lovely old 
town is already in such total chaos? 



80.5 Hawkedon David Hare has asked the Executive Member for 
Highways and Transport the following question:

Question:
Residents have complained recently about localised 
speeding.  Would it be possible to have VAS (vehicle 
activated signs) in Cutbush Lane/Chatteris Way, 
Meldreth Way and Carshalton Way?

80.6 Maiden Erlegh Tahir Maher has asked the Executive Member for 
Environment the following question:

Question:
Many residents in Maiden Erlegh have signed my 
petition to try to save the Maiden Erlegh Public 
Library.  What has the Council done to try to save the 
Library?

80.7 Hillside Sue Smith has asked the Executive Member for 
Strategic Highways and Planning the following 
question:

Question:
Can you give me an update on any proposed 
development of Area DD at Chalfont Park; is the 
Council still looking at a housing development on this 
space?

80.8 Wescott David Knee has asked the Executive Member for 
Business, Economic Development and Regeneration 
the following question:

Question:
There is considerable evidence that there is over-
provision of restaurants, eating houses etc. 
throughout UK.  With the imminent closure of Prezzo 
in Wokingham and Woodley and the future of the 
Café Rouge chain in doubt, how confident are WBC 
that new eating establishments will open in 
Wokingham Town centre, notably, Peach Place, and 
thrive? 

80.9 Wescott Michael Smith has asked the Executive Member for 
Environment the following question:

Question
With the forthcoming development of Elms field as 
both residential and commercial properties, what 
plans are in place to mitigate the significantly 
increased environmental impact of the removal of the 
mature trees that previously would have absorbed the 



increased air bourn pollution from the additional 
traffic, particularly as the current traffic loads 
constantly cause long stationary queues of polluting 
traffic on the nearly roads?

80.10 Emmbrook; 
Evendons; 
Norreys; 
Wescott

Caroline Smith has asked the Executive Member for 
Environment the following question:

Question
Over the years, benefactors have donated several 
parcels of land for the pleasure and enjoyment of the 
residents of Wokingham Town. What green legacy 
are YOU (the current Council) leaving for the future 
generations of residents of Wokingham Town?

80.11 Emmbrook Rachel Bishop Firth has asked the Executive Member 
for Adults' Services the following question:

Question
Some of the council owned garages on Ormonde 
Road are in a very poor condition.  Repairs have now 
started (and thank you for this) - however a number of 
them are still damp and dilapidated.  The cost of 
renting a garage is currently £48 / month.  Will the 
council be offering a rebate to those who are renting 
a garage which has not been maintained?

80.12 None Specific Morgan Rise has asked the Executive Member for 
Strategic Highways and Planning the following 
question:

Question
You have been responsible for, or heavily involved in 
the planning of the many thousands of houses that 
Wokingham is currently in the position of having built 
in our area. You are now leading the latest local plan 
where even more houses could be coming, but the 
infrastructure to support these numbers of houses 
has not been delivered. When are we going to see 
plans to ensure our borough has the infrastructure it 
needs to support its current and new residents?

80.13 Maiden Erlegh Guy Grandison has asked the Executive Member for 
Environment the following question:

Question
Give the disappointing decision of the school to ask 
the Library at Maiden Erlegh to leave the site can the 
executive member confirm what is being done to 
ensure that Maiden Erlegh residents have access to 
sufficient library service?



80.14 Finchampstead 
South

David Cornish has asked the Executive Member for 
Environment the following question:

Question
California Country Park has been fine as it with just 
maintenance required for well-used features like the 
playground and the boardwalk. You’ve spent money 
clearing trees for a massive, unneeded and 
unfinished car park extension, but let the boardwalk 
fall into ruins - Why are you doing this?

81.  PETITIONS
To receive any petitions which Members or members 
of the public wish to present.

82.  MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS
To receive any announcements by the Mayor.

83.  None Specific COUNCIL PLAN
To receive a report setting out a review of the Council 
Plan.

RECOMMENDATION That Council:

1) endorse and approve the publication and 
communication of the 2014-17 Council Plan 
achievements as attached in Appendix 1 to 
the report.

2) request that a Borough Plan for 2019-22 
produced in partnership is presented to 
Council in February 2019. 

27 - 56

84.  None Specific CHANGES TO THE CONSTITUTION
To consider a report containing revisions regarding 
petitions presented to Council, speaking by Members 
other than [Planning Committee] members, Ethics 
and Corporate Governance and the Procurement and 
Contract Rules and Procedures.

RECOMMENDATION:  That Council agree the 
following changes to the Constitution as 
recommended by the Constitution Review Working 
Group:

1) Chapter 4 The Council Meeting

that Rule 4.2.19.2 be amended as follows:

4.2.19.2 Petitions presented to Council 
‘….Members will be entitled to speak for no 
more than three minutes in support of a 

57 - 124



petition.  A member of the public may present 
a petition at any meeting of the Council and 
will be entitled to speak for no more than three 
minutes in support of the petition…’

2) Chapter 8 Regulatory and Other Committees 

that Rule 8.2.7 be amended as follows:

8.2.7 Speaking by Members other than 
[Planning] Committee Members
‘…if the Member who wishes to speak is not 
the relevant Ward Member they will need to 
provide evidence that he/she (or their 
residents) are directly affected by the proposed 
development.  Ward Members directly 
affected by the proposed development 
should register to speak as either a 
supporter or objector as appropriate.  In 
cases of applications situated in a single 
member ward and the Ward Member is 
directly affected by the proposed 
development, a Ward Member from an 
adjoining ward may be requested to speak 
on others’ behalf.’ 

3) that Section 9 Ethics and Corporate 
Governance be amended as set out in 
Appendix 1 to the report;

4) revisions to the Procurement and Contract 
Rules and Procedures as highlighted in 
Appendix 2 to the report. 

85.  None Specific ANNUAL REPORT FROM THE OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE AND THE 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEES 
2017/18
To receive a report from the Chairman of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee on 
the work undertaken by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Committee and the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees over the previous year.

RECOMMENDATION: That the report from the 
Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Committee be noted. 

125 - 150

86.  None Specific AUDIT COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 2017-18
To receive a report from the Chairman of the Audit 
Committee on the work undertaken over the past 
year. 

151 - 154



RECOMMENDATION: That the report from the 
Chairman of the Audit Committee be noted. 

87.  None Specific STANDARDS COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 
2017-18
To receive a report from the Chairman of the 
Standards Committee on the work undertaken over 
the past year. 

RECOMMENDATION: That the report from the 
Chairman of the Standards Committee be noted.

155 - 160

88.  None Specific REPORTS FROM MEMBERS APPOINTED TO 
OUTSIDE BODIES
To note those reports from Members on Outside 
Bodies as circulated in the agenda.

RECOMMENDATION: That the reports from 
Members appointed to Outside Bodies be noted.

161 - 210

89.  STATEMENTS BY THE LEADER OF THE 
COUNCIL, EXECUTIVE MEMBERS, AND DEPUTY 
EXECUTIVE MEMBERS
To receive any statements by the Leader of the 
Council, Executive Members, and Deputy Executive 
Members.

In accordance with Procedure Rule 4.2.23 the total 
time allocated to this item shall not exceed 20 
minutes, and no Member shall speak for more than 5 
minutes.

90.  STATEMENTS FROM COUNCIL OWNED 
COMPANIES
To receive any statements from Directors of Council 
Owned Companies.

In accordance with Procedure Rule 4.2.24 the total 
time allocated to this item shall not exceed 10 
minutes, and no Director, except with the consent of 
Council, shall speak for more than 3 minutes.

91.  MEMBER QUESTION TIME
To answer any member questions

A period of 20 minutes will be allowed for Members to 
ask questions submitted under Notice

Any questions not dealt with within the allotted time 
will be dealt with in a written reply



91.1 None Specific Oliver Whittle has asked the Executive Member for 
Highways and Transport the following question:

Question:
The introduction of Civil Parking Enforcement (CPE) 
has resulted in better observation of the various 
parking restrictions, particularly as they relate to 
Residents Parking. Whilst non-residents are now 
being identified and discouraged from parking in 
Residents Parking spaces, the introduction of CPE 
has also identified the need to accommodate care 
workers, doctors, builders, and visitors who need to 
park near their clients and relatives, and sometimes 
stay for more than the maximum parking time 
permitted. Is the Council looking at ways to overcome 
this problem?

91.2 None Specific Angus Ross has asked the Executive Member for 
Children's Services the following question:

Question:
Could the Executive Member for Children's Services 
tell the Council about the Borough's competitive 
Primary Schools Football competitions, set up over 
the last four years, and their successes?

91.3 None Specific Ian Pittock has asked the Executive Member for 
Children's Services the following question:

Question:
Bohunt was designed and built for an intake of 180 
pupils per annum, taking into consideration all 
planned housing developments. Over seven years 
this would fill the school classrooms to capacity 
including allowing for two years of 6th Form. Bohunt 
has increased their intake to 240 pupils per annum 
resulting in denuding other local secondary schools of 
pupils and associated funding and which will fill 
Bohunt to capacity faster, resulting in there being no 
room for 6th Formers who will, therefore, have to go 
elsewhere. WBC did not object to the increase in the 
annual intake, and did not involve local Members. 
The result is a threat to the funding of other local 
secondary schools and the lack of a 6th Form at 
Bohunt.  What is WBC going to do to solve this?

91.4 None Specific Philip Mirfin has asked the Executive Member for 
Strategic Highways and Planning the following 
question:



Question:
I know that there are concerns that a large number of 
mature trees have been felled in Elms Field.  To the 
best of my knowledge, l know that many of those 
trees were unsuitable for a number of reasons and for 
every tree felled there, it will be replaced by 25% 
more semi mature trees.
 
So my question is, across this Borough just how 
many new trees are being planted to ensure that our 
residents will continue to believe that Wokingham is 
the happiest place in this country and one of the best 
places to live?

91.5 None Specific David Chopping has asked the Executive Member for 
Strategic Highways and Planning the following 
question:

Question:
Could the Executive Member confirm this Council’s 
Policy on encouraging affordable housing on all new 
developments within the Borough and this Council’s 
record on delivering what we promise?

91.6 None Specific Lindsay Ferris has asked the Executive Member for 
Highways and Transport the following question:

Question:
I have been receiving an increasing number of 
complaints regarding the lack of parking facilities for 
businesses in areas with Residents Parking Permits. 
This is having an impact on both local businesses 
and others. Several have received parking tickets and 
many residents are having problems finding spaces 
for someone like a plumber, builder, cleaner or other 
to park.

I made a suggestion about a year ago where 
Wokingham Borough Council could provide a 
Business Parking Permit, one that allows a local 
business to park in these areas, but restricted to Mon 
- Fri 8am - 5pm with an appropriate annual charge.

Can the Executive Member responsible please advise 
what action is being taken to assist these 
businesses?

91.7 None Specific Michael Firmager has asked the Executive Member 
for Highways and Transport the following question:

Question:
Following the upgrade of the street lighting in the 



Borough can the Executive Member give me an 
update including savings made?

91.8 Hawkedon Clive Jones has asked the Executive Member for 
Strategic Highways and Planning the following 
question:

Question:
Is the Council aware of any proposals for potential 
housing or other development south of the M4 near 
Cutbush Lane? Recently engineers have been taking 
soil cores in University owned fields which suggests 
possible development that would seriously impact my 
residents in Hawkedon ward.

91.9 None Specific Imogen Shepherd-Dubey has asked the Executive 
Member for Strategic Highways and Planning the 
following question:

Question
The residents of Emmbrook have seen very little 
progress when it comes to the new roads that WBC 
are expected to build. This is creating a number of 
questions about WBC's commitment to building the 
infrastructure that we need. In particular, this relates 
to the Western edge of the Northern Relief Road, 
Winnersh Bypass and the Forest Road 
improvements, where there is very little progress 
information available to both Councillors and the 
public. When are we going to see practical 
information, such as timelines and real time progress 
status for these projects and ideally have something 
publicly available on the WBC Website?

92.  MINUTES OF COMMITTEE MEETINGS AND WARD 
MATTERS
A period of 20 minutes will be allowed for Members to 
ask questions in relation to the latest circulated 
volume of Minutes of Meetings and Ward Matters.

93.  MOTIONS
To consider any motions.

In accordance with Procedure Rule 4.2.11.2 a 
maximum period of 30 minutes will be allowed for 
each Motion to be moved, seconded and debated, 
including dealing with any amendments.  At the expiry 
of the 30-minute period debate will cease 
immediately, the mover of the Motion or amendment 
will have the right of reply before the Motion or 
amendment is put to the vote.



93.1 None Specific Motion 402 submitted by Prue Bray

This Council apologises to the residents of 
Wokingham for felling a large number of mature trees 
and destroying the green space at Elms Field over 
the weekend of 17th and 18th February 2018.  This 
Council further apologises to the residents of 
Wokingham for deciding to appropriate this land for 
development from being public open space, thus 
ignoring both the wishes of the benefactors who 
originally made this land available for the enjoyment 
of local people, and the wishes of thousands of 
current residents. 

This Council will set up a working group to discuss all 
its current regeneration plans, including its plans for 
Elms Field.  The working group would be cross party 
and include a small number of residents, and 
Wokingham town councillors.  The working group will 
discuss and assess all the Council’s plans for the 
regeneration of Wokingham town and make 
recommendations back to the council before the end 
of 2018.

93.2 None Specific Motion 403 submitted by Richard Dolinski

There is a worrying and growing trend for 
personalised attacks against politicians, those in the 
public, private and voluntary sectors in the public eye, 
and those seeking public office. This trend has been 
exacerbated by the anonymity provided by social 
media.

As part of drawing up a new Council Plan, this 
Council will be seeking to work with individuals, 
groups and organisations, regardless of political 
affiliation, both within the Borough and further afield, 
that will allow the Council to build ‘partnerships 
beyond politics’.

Genuine disagreements over political issues should 
be dealt with through civilised debate. Therefore, this 
Council condemns attacks on those in public life that 
are not based on legitimate disagreements over 
policy or actions. Further, this Council calls on 
Members to lead by example by engaging with each 
other and outside organisations in a positive spirit of 
co-operation, healthy challenge and scrutiny.



CONTACT OFFICER

Anne Hunter Democratic & Electoral Services Lead Specialist
Tel 0118 974 6051
Email anne.hunter@wokingham.gov.uk
Postal Address Civic Offices, Shute End, Wokingham, RG40 1BN



MINUTES OF A MEETING OF
THE COUNCIL

HELD ON 22 FEBRUARY 2018 FROM 8.00 PM TO 9.50 PM
Members Present
Councillors: Rob Stanton (Mayor), John Kaiser (Deputy Mayor), Mark Ashwell, 
Keith Baker, Laura Blumenthal, Prue Bray, UllaKarin Clark, Gary Cowan, Andy Croy, 
Richard Dolinski, Lindsay Ferris, Michael Firmager, Kate Haines, Mike Haines, 
Charlotte Haitham Taylor, John Halsall, Emma Hobbs, Tim Holton, Philip Houldsworth, 
John Jarvis, Clive Jones, Norman Jorgensen, Pauline Jorgensen, Dianne King, David Lee, 
Abdul Loyes, Julian McGhee-Sumner, Ken Miall, Philip Mirfin, Stuart Munro, Ian Pittock, 
Bob Pitts, Anthony Pollock, Malcolm Richards, Angus Ross, Beth Rowland, 
Imogen Shepherd-DuBey, Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey, David Sleight, Chris Smith, 
Wayne Smith, Bill Soane, Alison Swaddle, Simon Weeks, Oliver Whittle and 
Shahid Younis

71. MINUTE SILENCE 
The Mayor announced the recent death of Norman Gould who was the elected Member for 
Shinfield North from 2004 to 2011. Members stood in silent tribute. 

72. APOLOGIES 
Apologies for absence were submitted from Alistair Auty, Parry Batth, Chris Bowring, 
David Chopping, Pauline Helliar-Symons, Charles Margetts and Barrie Patman.

73. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETINGS 
The Minutes of the meeting of the Council held on 23 November 2017 and the 
extraordinary meeting held on 19 January 2018 were confirmed as a correct record and 
signed by the Chairman. 

74. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
There were no declarations of interest.

75. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME 
In accordance with the agreed procedure the Mayor invited members of the public to 
submit questions to the appropriate Members.

75.1 Christopher Everett had asked the Executive Member for Environment the 
following question and, due to his absence at the meeting, the following 
written response was provided: 

There is always an increased amount of litter around Woosehill the day after the recycling 
bins have been emptied. Does the current service level agreement with the refuse 
contractor require their staff to pick up litter that escapes from the bins whilst they are 
being emptied?  If so, this needs to be enforced.

Answer
The current service level agreement with Veolia includes them clearing any litter that they 
drop or cause to be dropped and all vehicles are equipped with a shovel and broom to 
enable them to do this at the time. If however, residents witness them not picking up litter 
that they have caused then they should report this to Customer Service and a complaint 
will be issued. 

In relation to litter caused by strong winds, animals or vandalism, whilst Veolia will where 
possible try to address this they often can’t due to time constraints. In these cases we ask 

15

Agenda Item 78.



them to report it to us so that we can get the waste cleared as quickly as possible.

We are aware that spread litter causes an eyesore for the respective locality and if this is 
caused by Veolia we apologise. If litter is being scattered by animals or high winds ahead 
of collection there are ways that you can mitigate against this by; ensuring your blue bags 
are securely tied, place loose paper in the bottom of your box, place your blue bag on top 
of the box and if necessary place your blue bag in a normal dustbin from where we will 
collect the tied bag especially if you have to place your waste out overnight. 

75.2 Jean Jacques Ellis had asked the Executive Member for Environment the 
following question and, due to his absence at the meeting, the following 
written response was provided: 

The access point from the Parklands estate in Woodley to the Highwood Nature Reserve 
is a bit of a mess. Please can you explain how it will be improved and when?

Answer
The planning permission granted for the Parklands estate in Woodley includes the 
provision of a new formal access point into Highwood Local Nature Reserve. The plans 
showed the entrance in the vicinity of the red circle on this map, however this access point 
is located in one of the areas still under construction and it appears that residents of the 
estate have in the interim constructed their own informal access to the site. The Council 
has not yet received detailed plans or timescales for the formal access point and is in 
contact with the developer to see what can be done to accelerate the delivery of the formal 
access point. 

75.3 Jenny Cheng asked the Executive Member for Highways and Transport the 
following question: 

The residents of Woodley deserve a better bus service - at present the 12 is not fit for 
purpose. Please can you explain what the Council is doing to ensure residents have a 
service that meets their needs?

Answer
The Council is following the European procurement process to secure a new bus service 
to commence in September 2018. This adds significant time to reach a conclusion as is 
open to the whole of the EU to submit an expression of interest in running this service.

This particular process has had unprecedented levels of consultation, both in terms of 
feedback and face to face meetings. For example, over 750 responses came in from the 
web-based consultations and the petition. The face to face meetings were held with two 
residents’ associations, namely the Maiden Erlegh Residents’ Association (MERA) and the 
northern Earley Residents’ Association (ACER). The outcome of those meetings was 
captured in their submission. 

At the same time Earley Town Council and Woodley Town Council set up a joint working 
party which included representatives from the Residents’ Associations. Each individual 
Town Council’s Planning Committee discussed the issues and provided core comments to 
the joint working party which combined them into an agreed joint submission. 

Officers were involved extensively in these discussions. The importance of the 
consultation is that the criteria for the new bus service takes into account the feedback 
from these consultations. Bus operators who would like to operate the bus service in future 
will have to demonstrate how they will provide a bus service that meets the key criteria 

16



approved at the January 2018 Executive meeting. 

Supplementary Question
Please can you confirm whether the Council increased its subsidy to Reading Buses for 
the 12?

Supplementary Answer
Absolutely, yes we did.

75.4 David Hare asked the Executive Member for Environment the following 
question: 

When is Wokingham Council going to start kerbside recycling of glass, and so reach their 
50% recycling target by 2020?

Answer
In your recent newsletter you claim to have forced the Conservatives on Wokingham 
Borough Council to retain weekly waste collections. It has been the policy of the 
Conservative Group on this Council for many years to retain weekly waste collections. We 
issued a press release to that effect nearly a year ago. It appears you missed that.

In my leaflets in the 2007 election at which I was first elected to this Council I said we must 
retain weekly waste collections and encourage more recycling. David Chopping and Tim 
Holton made similar statements.

So that is another Liberal myth busted.

So what happens where Liberals are in control of a Council? Of those we checked, the 
vast majority have collections every two weeks rather than the weekly collections we have 
here in Conservative Wokingham.

So how often do they have collections in Cheltenham? Bi-weekly.
How often in Colchester? Bi-weekly.
How often in Eastleigh? Bi-weekly.
How often in Maidstone? Bi-weekly.
You get the picture. 

The existing glass banks are well used so we capture most glass waste. By using bring 
banks we get the glass sorted into colours which improves the value for recycling. If it was 
collected kerbside then either it would be mixed or we would need collection vehicles with 
lots of compartments. Such vehicles would be expensive to buy and operate.

It offers our taxpayers better value to encourage greater use of the bring banks and to 
increase the number of bring banks. I would welcome your help in identifying more sites 
for bring banks and encouraging greater use of the bring banks.

Supplementary Question
Veolia are buying about 20 new vehicles to cope with the new collections. And, well done. 
We are getting food waste collected and more plastics are being recycled. Why didn’t you 
take this wonderful opportunity when new vehicles were being purchased to also include 
glass being collected from the kerbside, thereby being more able to hit the recycling 
targets?

17



Supplementary Answer
I thought that I had answered that. It would be very expensive to do that. It would require a 
separate compartment for glass. Either you put all the glass in one compartment, in which 
case you wouldn’t be able to recycle it and would probably use it for road ballast or you 
have lots of compartments on the vehicle. So we would need more vehicles or very large 
vehicles. We would also probably need to provide people with bins to put their bottles in 
before they were put out. All of that would cost a lot of money.

We have estimated that just collecting from the kerbside and throwing all the bottles in a 
vehicle would cost about £600k per annum. So, with the Capital costs and the running 
costs it doesn’t seem like best value for money. We do capture most glass in the bring 
banks. If we can capture another 10/20% of what people put out in their blue bags then we 
can notch up the recycling. 

76. PETITIONS 
Councillor Philip Mirfin presented a petition on behalf of residents from The Terrace, 
Wokingham.

The Mayor’s decision as to the action to be taken is set out against the petition.

Councillor Phillip 
Mirfin

Councillor Mirfin presented a petition with 38 
signatures requesting the immediate restoration of 
resident parking on The Terrace to equivalent levels 
to the custom and practice over many years.

To be referred to the Executive Member for 
Highways and Transport.

77. MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 
The Mayor informed Members of the following items:

Mayor’s Ball – the event, held on 17 February, had been attended by 141 people and had 
been a major success, raising £9,500 for good causes.

Voluntary Sector Reception – the reception, held at the Finchampstead Baptist Centre on 
21 February, had been a good opportunity to recognise the excellent work carried out 
across the Borough by voluntary sector organisations. 

78. MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN AND ASSOCIATED REPORTS 
The Council considered four reports which together comprised a single Agenda item:

 The Housing Revenue Account Budget 2018/21 as set out on Agenda pages 57-72;
 The Capital Programme and Strategy 2018/21 as set out on Agenda pages 73-102;
 The Treasury Management Strategy 2018/21 as set out on Agenda pages 103-146;
 The Medium Term Financial Plan 2018/21 – Revenue Budget Submission 2018/19 as 

set out on Agenda pages 147-152.

The Mayor reminded Members that a total of 90 minutes would be set aside for the 
debate.

18



Councillor Charlotte Haitham Taylor, Leader of the Council, made a statement on the 
2018/19 Budget (attached as Appendix A to the Minutes).

Councillor Lindsay Ferris, Leader of the Opposition, then made a Budget statement on 
behalf of the Liberal Democrat Group (attached as Appendix B to the Minutes).

Following the two speeches, Members discussed the various aspects of the proposed 
Budget in detail. 

78.1 Housing Revenue Account Budget 2018/21 
It was proposed by Councillor Charlotte Haitham Taylor and seconded by Councillor Julian 
McGhee-Sumner that the recommendations, set out on Agenda page 57, be approved, 
subject to the amendment of recommendation 7 as agreed by the Executive.

Upon being put to the vote it was: 

RESOLVED: That the following be approved:

1) The Housing Revenue Account budget;

2) Council house dwelling rents be reduced by 1% effective from April 2018 in line with 
the Welfare Reform and Work Bill 2015;

3) Garage rents be increased by 3.6%, effective from April 2018, in line with Council 
fees and charges;

4) Shared Equity Rents will be increased by 3.85% based on September RPI, effective 
from April 2018;

5) Tenant Service Charges are set in line with estimated costs;

6) The Housing Major Repairs (capital) programme for 2018/19 as set out in Appendix 
C;

7) Sheltered room guest charges to increase from £9.00 to £9.50 per night, effective 
from April 2018.

78.2 Capital Programme and Strategy 2018/21 
It was proposed by Councillor Charlotte Haitham Taylor and seconded by Councillor Julian 
McGhee-Sumner that the Capital Programme and Strategy for 2018/21, as set out on 
Agenda pages 73 to 102, be approved.

Upon being put to the vote it was:

RESOLVED That:

1) the Capital Programme and Strategy for 2018/21, as set out in Appendix A to the 
report, be approved;

2) the draft vision for capital investment over the next 10 years, as set out in Appendix 
B to the report, be noted;

19



3) the developer contributions S106 and CIL, as set out in Appendix C to the report, 
be noted, also noting that the S106 and CIL values are estimated and that approval 
is sought up to the scheme budget. 

78.3 Treasury Management Strategy 2018/21 
It was proposed by Councillor Charlotte Haitham Taylor and seconded by Councillor Julian 
McGhee-Sumner that the recommendations, as set out on Agenda page103, be approved.

Upon being put to the vote it was:

RESOLVED That the following be approved:  

1) Capital Prudential indicators, 2018/19;

2) Borrowing Strategy 2018/19;

3)        Annual Investment Strategy 2018/19;

4)        Flexible use of capital receipts strategy; 
 
5)        Minimum Revenue Provision Policy;

6) Treasury Indicators: limits to borrowing activity 2018/19.

78.4 Medium Term Financial Plan 2018/21 - Revenue Budget Submission 2018/19 
It was proposed by Councillor Charlotte Haitham Taylor and seconded by Councillor Julian 
McGhee-Sumner that the Medium Term Financial Plan for 2018/21, including the Revenue 
Budget Submission for 2018/19 and the Statutory Resolution setting out the 2018/19 Council 
Tax levels, be approved.

In line with the requirements of the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2014, a recorded vote was taken. 

FOR AGAINST ABSTAINED
Mark Ashwell Prue Bray John Kaiser
Keith Baker Gary Cowan Rob Stanton
Laura Blumenthal Andy Croy
UllaKarin Clark Lindsay Ferris
Richard Dolinski Clive Jones
Michael Firmager Ian Pittock
Kate Haines Beth Rowland
Mike Haines Imogen Shepherd-Dubey
Charlotte Haitham Taylor Rachelle Shepherd-Dubey
John Halsall
Emma Hobbs
Tim Holton
Philip Houldsworth
John Jarvis
Norman Jorgensen
Pauline Jorgensen
Dianne King
David Lee

20



Abdul Loyes
Julian McGhee-Sumner
Ken Miall
Philip Mirfin
Stuart Munro
Bob Pitts
Anthony Pollock
Malcolm Richards
Angus Ross
David Sleight
Chris Smith
Wayne Smith
Bill Soane
Alison Swaddle
Simon Weeks
Oliver Whittle
Shahid Younis

Upon being put to the vote it was:

RESOLVED That:

1) the Medium Term Financial Plan for 2018/21, including the Revenue Budget submission for 
2018/19, be approved;

2) the Statutory Resolution that sets out the 2018/19 Council Tax levels be approved and it be 
noted that, at its meeting on 19th January 2018, the Council calculated the following 
amounts for the year 2018/19 in accordance with regulations made under Section 31B of 
the Local Government Finance Act 1992, as amended by the Localism Act 2011 and the 
Local Government Finance Act 2012:

(a)  68,669.10 being the amount calculated by the Council, (Item T) in accordance with 
regulation 31B of the Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) Regulations 1992 
(as amended by the Localism Act 2011 and the Local Government Finance Act 2012), as its 
council tax base for the year

(b) Part of the Council's area.

Arborfield and Newland 1,272.4
Barkham 1,594.4
Charvil 1,409.7
Earley 11,842.5
Finchampstead 5,769.5
Remenham 320.0
Ruscombe 496.8
St. Nicholas Hurst 1,058.1
Shinfield 5,371.7
Sonning 815.3
Swallowfield 1,041.4
Twyford 3,004.9
Wargrave 2,110.3
Winnersh 4,011.3
Wokingham 15,052.5

21



Wokingham Without 3,179.5
Woodley 10,318.8

68,669.1

being the amounts calculated by the Council, in accordance with regulation 6 of the 
Regulations, as the amounts of its council tax base for the year for dwellings in those parts 
of its area to which a parish precept relates.

2. calculate that the Council Tax requirement for the Council’s own purposes for 
2018/19 (excluding Parish precepts) is £98,464,106. This includes £6,713,092 in 
respect of the Adult Social Care precept for 2018/19; this is based on a 2.5% 
increase on the 2017/18 council tax.

3. the following amounts be now calculated by the Council for the year 2018/2019 in 
accordance with Sections 32 to 36 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, 
amended by the Localism Act 2011. However, the precepts shown below for the 
parishes of Earley, Shinfield, Winnersh, and Woodley are provisional and are 
subject to approval at the parishes annual precept meetings by the end of February 
2018. The precept shown below for the Royal Berkshire Fire Authority is also 
provisional subject to approval at a meeting of the Fire Authority on  27 February 
2018:

 
(a) £289,637,310

being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council 
estimates for the items set out in Section 31A(2)(a) to (f) of 
the Act taking into account all precepts issued to it by parish 
councils

(b) (£187,019,070)
being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council 
estimates for the items set out in Section 31A(3)(a) to (d) of 
the Act

(c) £102,618,240

being the amount by which the aggregate at 3(a) above, 
exceeds the aggregate at 3(b) above, calculated by the 
Council, in accordance with Section 31A(4) of the Act, as its 
council tax requirement for the year (Item R)

(d) £1,494.39

being the amount at 3(c) above (Item R), all divided by 1(a) 
above (Item T), calculated by the Council, in accordance with 
Section 31B of the Act, as the 'basic amount of its Council 
Tax for the year (including Parish precepts).

(e) £4,154,134
being the aggregate amount of all special items (parish 
precepts) referred to in Section 34(1) of the Act (as per the 
table below).

2018/19 2017/18 Council
TAX PARISH PARISH TAX PARISH PARISH Tax

BASE PRECEPT BAND D BASE PRECEPT BAND D Increase
£ £ £ £ %

Arborfield and 
Newland 1,272.4 100,231 78.77 1,263.4 95,150 75.31 4.59

Barkham 1,594.4 50,318 31.56 1,526.9 46,342 30.35 3.99
Charvil 1,409.7 47,070 33.39 1,409.3 40,715 28.89 15.58
Earley 11,842.5 859,700 72.59 11,755.9 812,780 69.14 4.99
Finchampstead 5,769.5 139,638 24.20 5,725.0 126,944 22.17 9.16
Remenham 320.0 24,076 75.24 321.9 23,150 71.92 4.62
Ruscombe 496.8 35,500 71.46 501.5 10,266 20.47 249.10

22



St. Nicholas 
Hurst 1,058.1 40,000 37.80 1,053.1 30,000 28.49 32.68

Shinfield 5,371.7 356,144 66.30 5,144.0 341,047 66.30 0.00
Sonning 815.3 36,280 44.50 808.3 35,568 44.00 1.14
Swallowfield 1,041.4 19,984 19.19 1,006.0 19,308 19.19 0.00
Twyford 3,004.9 81,645 27.17 2,994.5 77,921 26.02 4.42
Wargrave 2,110.3 175,660 83.24 2,098.3 168,345 80.23 3.75
Winnersh 4,011.3 113,760 28.36 3,897.1 110,521 28.36 0.00
Wokingham 15,052.5 809,335 53.77 14,685.2 766,961 52.23 2.95
Wokingham 
Without 3,179.5 163,673 51.48 3,109.9 145,543 46.80 10.00

Woodley 10,318.8 1,101,119 106.71 10,133.1 1,081,303 106.71 0.00

Total / Average 68,669.1 4,154,134 60.50 67,433.4 3,931,863 58.31 3.76

(f) £1,433.89

being the amount at 3(d) above less the result given by 
dividing the amount at 3(e) above by the amount at 1(a) 
above, calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 
34(2) of the Act, as the basic amount of its council tax for the 
year for dwellings in those parts of its area to which no 
special items relates.

4. it be noted that for the year 2018/2019 the Police and Crime Commissioner for the 
Thames Valley has issued a precept to the Council in accordance with Section 40 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 for each category of dwellings in the 
Council's area as indicated in the table below. The Royal Berkshire Fire and 
Rescue Authority is due to approve its precept on 27th February 2018, and their 
provisional precept has been used below.

5. the Council in accordance with Sections 30 and 36 of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992, hereby sets the aggregate amounts shown in the tables below 
as the amounts of Council Tax for 2018/2019 for each part of its area and for each 
of the categories of dwellings.

SUMMARY OF COUNCIL TAX 2018/2019

Valuation Bands

A B C D E F G H
Wokingham 

Borough 
Council

955.93 1,115.25 1,274.57 1,433.89 1,752.53 2,071.17 2,389.82 2,867.78

Thames 
Valley 
Police 

Authority

121.52 141.77 162.03 182.28 222.79 263.29 303.80 364.56

Royal 
Berkshire 

Fire 
Authority

42.91 50.06 57.21 64.36 78.66 92.96 107.27 128.72

Aggregate of Council Tax Requirement for each parish and the borough for each part of 
the Council's area:-

Arborfield and 
Newland

1,008.44 1,176.52 1,344.59 1,512.66 1,848.80 2,184.95 2,521.10 3,025.32

23



Barkham 976.97 1,139.80 1,302.62 1,465.45 1,791.10 2,116.76 2,442.42 2,930.90

Charvil 978.19 1,141.22 1,304.25 1,467.28 1,793.34 2,119.40 2,445.47 2,934.56

Earley 1,004.32 1,171.71 1,339.09 1,506.48 1,841.25 2,176.02 2,510.80 3,012.96

Finchampstead 972.06 1,134.07 1,296.08 1,458.09 1,782.11 2,106.13 2,430.15 2,916.18

Remenham 1,006.09 1,173.77 1,341.45 1,509.13 1,844.49 2,179.85 2,515.22 3,018.26

Ruscombe 1,003.57 1,170.83 1,338.09 1,505.35 1,839.87 2,174.39 2,508.92 3,010.70
St. Nicholas 
Hurst

981.13 1,144.65 1,308.17 1,471.69 1,798.73 2,125.77 2,452.82 2,943.38

Shinfield 1,000.13 1,166.82 1,333.50 1,500.19 1,833.56 2,166.94 2,500.32 3,000.38

Sonning 985.60 1,149.86 1,314.13 1,478.39 1,806.92 2,135.45 2,463.99 2,956.78

Swallowfield 968.72 1,130.18 1,291.63 1,453.08 1,775.98 2,098.89 2,421.80 2,906.16

Twyford 974.04 1,136.38 1,298.72 1,461.06 1,785.74 2,110.42 2,435.10 2,922.12

Wargrave 1,011.42 1,179.99 1,348.56 1,517.13 1,854.27 2,191.41 2,528.55 3,034.26

Winnersh 974.84 1,137.31 1,299.78 1,462.25 1,787.19 2,112.13 2,437.09 2,924.50

Wokingham 991.78 1,157.07 1,322.37 1,487.66 1,818.25 2,148.84 2,479.44 2,975.32
Wokingham 
Without

990.25 1,155.29 1,320.33 1,485.37 1,815.45 2,145.53 2,475.62 2,970.74

Woodley 1,027.07 1,198.25 1,369.42 1,540.60 1,882.95 2,225.31 2,567.67 3,081.20
Aggregate of Council Tax Requirements for each part of the Council's area:-

Arborfield 
And
Newland 1,172.870 1,368.350 1,563.830 1,759.300 2,150.250 2,541.200 2,932.170 3,518.600
Barkham 1,141.400 1,331.630 1,521.860 1,712.090 2,092.550 2,473.010 2,853.490 3,424.180
Charvil 1,142.620 1,333.050 1,523.490 1,713.920 2,094.790 2,475.650 2,856.540 3,427.840
Earley 1,168.750 1,363.540 1,558.330 1,753.120 2,142.700 2,532.270 2,921.870 3,506.240
Finchamp-
stead 1,136.490 1,325.900 1,515.320 1,704.730 2,083.560 2,462.380 2,841.220 3,409.460
Remenham 1,170.520 1,365.600 1,560.690 1,755.770 2,145.940 2,536.100 2,926.290 3,511.540
Ruscombe 1,168.000 1,362.660 1,557.330 1,751.990 2,141.320 2,530.640 2,919.990 3,503.980
St. Nicholas 
Hurst 1,145.560 1,336.480 1,527.410 1,718.330 2,100.180 2,482.020 2,863.890 3,436.660
Shinfield 1,164.560 1,358.650 1,552.740 1,746.830 2,135.010 2,523.190 2,911.390 3,493.660
Sonning 1,150.030 1,341.690 1,533.370 1,725.030 2,108.370 2,491.700 2,875.060 3,450.060
Swallowfield 1,133.150 1,322.010 1,510.870 1,699.720 2,077.430 2,455.140 2,832.870 3,399.440
Twyford 1,138.470 1,328.210 1,517.960 1,707.700 2,087.190 2,466.670 2,846.170 3,415.400
Wargrave 1,175.850 1,371.820 1,567.800 1,763.770 2,155.720 2,547.660 2,939.620 3,527.540
Winnersh 1,139.270 1,329.140 1,519.020 1,708.890 2,088.640 2,468.380 2,848.160 3,417.780
Wokingham 1,156.210 1,348.900 1,541.610 1,734.300 2,119.700 2,505.090 2,890.510 3,468.600
Wokingham 
Without 1,154.680 1,347.120 1,539.570 1,732.010 2,116.900 2,501.780 2,886.690 3,464.020
Woodley 1,191.500 1,390.080 1,588.660 1,787.240 2,184.400 2,581.560 2,978.740 3,574.480

3) in the event that there are any changes to the provisional precept of the Fire Authority or 
parishes, arising from their precept setting meetings held before the end of February, the 
Director of Corporate Services is delegated authority to enact all relevant changes to the 
MTFP, Statutory Resolution and Council Tax levels.

79. TREASURY MANAGEMENT MID-YEAR REPORT 2017/18 
The Council considered the Treasury Management Mid-Year Report for 2017/18 as set out 
on Agenda pages 153 to 178.The report gave details of treasury management operations 
during the first six months of 2017/18.

24



It was proposed by Councillor Julian McGhee-Sumner and seconded by Councillor 
Charlotte Haitham Taylor that the recommendations set out on Agenda page 153 be 
approved.

Upon being put to the vote it was:

RESOLVED That:

1) the mid-year Treasury Management report for 2017/18 be approved;

2) the actual 2017/18 prudential indicators within the report be noted.

80. INTERIM REVIEW OF POLLING PLACES 
The Council considered a report, set out on Agenda pages 179 to 182, which gave details 
of a review of polling places following the submission of a number of requests for change. 
The report recommended that no changes be made at this time. 

It was proposed by Councillor Julian McGhee-Sumner and seconded by Councillor 
Norman Jorgensen that the recommendation set out on Agenda page 179 be approved.

Upon being put to the vote it was:

RESOLVED: That no changes be made to the Borough’s designated polling places at this 
time.

81. TIMETABLE OF MEETINGS 2018/19 
The Council considered the proposed Timetable of Meetings for the 2018/19 Municipal 
Year as set out on Agenda page 183.

It was proposed by Councillor Charlotte Haitham Taylor and seconded by Councillor David 
Lee that the 2018/19 Timetable of Meetings be approved.

Councillor Lindsay Ferris commented that consideration should be given to holding a 
Council meeting in January each year to enable further opportunities for debate. 

Upon being put to the vote it was:

RESOLVED: That the Timetable of Meetings for 2018/19 Municipal Year, as set out in the 
Agenda, be approved. 

25



This page is intentionally left blank



TITLE Council Plan

FOR CONSIDERATION BY Council on 22 March 2018

WARD None specific

DIRECTOR

LEAD MEMBER

Manjeet Gill, Chief Executive

Charlotte Haitham-Taylor, Leader of the Council 

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY

Enables the community to understand the progress that the Council has made in 
implementing its 2014/15-17/18 plan, the actions planned for 2018/19 and the process for 
creating a revised strategic plan for 2019/20-2024/25.

RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that Council:

1) endorse and approve the publication and communication of the 2014-17 Council 
Plan achievements as attached in Appendix 1 to the report.

2) request that a Borough Plan for 2019-22 produced in partnership is presented to 
Council in February 2019. 

SUMMARY OF REPORT

The Council’s Plan for 2014/15-17/18 laid out a vision and priorities for 2014/15-17/18. 
The achievements of that plan and review of what is carried forward into the next plan are 
outlined.

The review covers the priorities that will be delivered in 2018/19 and a timetable of 
stakeholder engagement which will then culminate in a more grounded 2019/20-2024/25 
partnership plan for the borough which will be presented to Council in February for 
approval as the Council and Borough Plan 2019/20-2024/25. 

27

Agenda Item 83.



Background

In 2018, the Council has similar challenges to 2014, as well as new challenges, 
particularly provision of affordable housing, health and care ensuring that the Council 
continues to deliver efficient, high quality services in the face of a much reduced 
Revenue Support Grant. 

The Council recognises that its priorities and vision are increasingly delivered in 
collaboration with various stakeholders, be they Town and Parish Councils, residents, 
and associations, the NHS or Police, as some examples.

In late 2016, the Council developed its 21st Century Council model for how it operated 
and residents accessed services. This model puts the customer at the heart of how it is 
organised; better use of technology and insight; and utilises localism in how its services 
are tailored to area needs in partnership with others.

Strategic planning for the new plan needs to engage all the different stakeholders and 
prepare a new Borough Plan that recognises and establishes key priorities and how 
they will be delivered by partners and the Council as opposed to a ‘Council Plan’ which 
sets the authority’s priorities is isolation from our partners and stakeholders. For a 
partnership and corporate plan to be effective, all need clarity on how the plan will be 
delivered. The golden thread from vision to outcomes, to arrangements for delivery and 
key success measures need to be outlined. 

It is envisaged that the next six months will establish a plan to achieve these aims. This 
will include engaging with all of our stakeholders. The review outlines the Council’s 
approach, values and the golden thread in terms of present delivery.

Analysis of Issues  

The Council Plan Review sets out the key actions that the Council has delivered in the 
last four years. It is an opportunity to review progress in delivering the Council Plan 
2014/15-2017/18 and to look forward to the coming year. 

The Council Plan Review also sets out the process to create a new Borough Plan with 
our Partners for 2019/20-2024/25. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
The Council faces severe financial challenges over the coming years as a result 
of the austerity measures implemented by the Government and subsequent 
reductions to public sector funding.  It is estimated that Wokingham Borough 
Council will be required to make budget reductions in excess of £20m over the 
next three years and all Executive decisions should be made in this context.

How much will it 
Cost/ (Save)

Is there sufficient 
funding – if not 
quantify the Shortfall 

Revenue or 
Capital?

Current Financial 
Year (Year 1)

N/A N/A N/A

Next Financial Year 
(Year 2)

N/A N/A N/A

28



Following Financial 
Year (Year 3)

N/A N/A N/A

Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision
None

Cross-Council Implications 
These changes impact across all the Council’s services. 

List of Background Papers
 Council Plan Review 2014/15-17/18

Contact  Manjeet Gill Service  Chief Executive
Telephone No Email  Manjeet.Gill@wokingham.gov.uk
Date  13 March 2018 Version No.  v1

29

mailto:Manjeet.Gill@wokingham.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

   

COUNCIL PLAN REVIEW  

2014/15 – 2017/18 

 

New Greenway connec ng Finchampstead to Arborfield Green 

Part of our £4.1m investment in cycle infrastructure between 2014/15 and 2017/18 

 

31



 

 2 

FOREWORD 

We wish  to  thank everyone who has  contributed  to delivering our  vision and priori es over  the  last 

four years. There  is much  to celebrate  in  terms of our achievements, as  there  is  to  learn and  reflect 

upon in terms of ongoing challenges: such as; affordable housing, growth in the number of children and 

adults needing our social care services, and decreasing Government grants.  

Some of the achievements we are par cularly proud of on behalf of the Council are: 

 The  number  of  new homes we  have  delivered  and  the  increase  in  the  amount  of  funding  per 

house  from developers  to  invest  in  vital  infrastructure  such  as  roads,  community  facili es  and 

healthcare. 

 Being one of the country’s highest performing health and care services when it comes to helping 

people in hospital back into their homes receive suitable care. 

 The borough consistently ranking as one of the top five places people choose to  live. Residents 

know they can bring up their  families with access to high performing schools, great  leisure and 

sports facili es, and world class employment opportuni es. 

 Having adapted the way we work, inves ng in our technology and workforce, to become a 21st 

Century  Council  that  is  customer  focused.  Delivering  efficient,  value  for  money  services  and 

adop ng a  commercial mindset in how we collaborate with local communi es and partners. 

This plan sets out our achievements, our ac ons for 2018/19 and looks forward to how we will develop 

our next long term plan, which will be a ‘partnership plan’ for the Borough. I hope you can join us in the 

next chapter of our journey in shaping our future vision values and priori es. 

We will carry on inves ng in towns, villages and communi es. The Council  has agreed £500 million  of 

investment and hopes to secure more funding from developers for vital infrastructure. However these 

are challenging  mes, with reduced Government funding and complex challenges facing our residents 

and communi es. We will be bold and ambi ous  in  tackling  these  issues with you. We will  help our 

communi es  to  be  self  sufficient,  live  independently,  support  the  most  vulnerable  and  promote 

equality of opportunity for all. 

 

Cllr Charlo e Haitham Taylor     Manjeet Gill 

Leader of the Council       Chief Execu ve 

 

	

	
 

Our Council Plan  

32



 

 3 

 
  

INTRODUCTION  

The Borough of Wokingham is one of the best places where people choose to live and are the 

happiest. 

The Borough of Wokingham has one of the highest levels of economic  growth outside of London.  

In 2014, we set a vision to be a “great place to live, and an even be er place to do business.” Evidence 

shows  that we are  achieving our  vision  and our  ambi on  is  to both maintain  these  standards  and do 

more so that we have inclusive prosperity for all.  

The purpose of  this document  is  to review the previous  four years and share what has been achieved 

over the period of the plan under the priori es we said we would work to.  

These were:  

 lmprove educa onal a ainment and focus on every child achieving their poten al; 

 Invest in regenera ng towns and villages, support social and economic prosperity, whilst encouraging 

business growth; 

 Ensure  strong  sustainable  communi es  that  are  vibrant  and  supported  by  well  designed 

development; 

 Tackle traffic conges on in specific areas of the Borough; 

 Improve the customer experience when accessing Council services. 

The above priori es  were delivered in line with the following underpinning principles: 

 Offer excellent value for your Council Tax; 

 Provide affordable homes; 

 Look a er the vulnerable; 

 Improve health, wellbeing and the quality of life; 

 Maintain and improve waste collec on, recycling and fuel efficiency; 

 Deliver quality in all that we do. 

In  this  document we have  summarised what has been delivered and what our  key  ac ons will  be  for 

2018/19. 

 

 

 

One of the new  3G  football pitches at  

Arborfield   

33



 

 4 

This plan  review also  sets out  the  steps  to  transi on  to our next  long  term plan.  The  inten on  is  to 

reflect how our  vision and values have adapted  to  changes  in  community priori es,  and where  they 

may be similar to the previous plan, such as “Ensure value for money as an efficient Council”.  

The last eighteen months have seen us adopt a new opera ng model called the 21st Century Council. 

Its focus is on a more streamlined council, working within the reduced funding compared to four years 

ago.  It  maintains  an  emphasis  on  being  customer  focused  and  understanding  the  needs  of  our 

residents.  This  has meant  inves ng  in  new  technology  that  enables  residents  to  access  services  and 

informa on  in  the  way  that  is  easiest  for  them.  Our  investment  in  technology  is  to  enable  be er 

services, but we are commi ed  to ensure  that  those without  technology, or not wishing  to use  it  to 

access  council  services  in  this  way  are  not  le   behind  if  they  do  not  have  access.  Over  23,000 

customers  have  registered  for  the  Council’s    online  customer  account  that  enables  them  to  access 

services digitally at their convenience.  Our investment in technology also enables the Council to u lise 

informa on  to manage  growing  demands  in  areas  such  as  health,  and  the  care  needs  of  a  growing 

older popula on.  

Localism is a key part of 21st Century Council, building on our work directly with residents, or with local 

partners such as parish councils, GPs and community groups, to develop and regenerate our towns and 

villages as they grow and evolve. It is about bringing decisions and services closer to local people. Most 

importantly, we have improved our ways of working to be more commercial and collabora ve.  

By commercial, we mean  that we have delivered social priori es  such as housing with a commercial 

return  to  the  Council,  so  that  we  can  reinvest  this  in  maintaining  services  for  our  most  vulnerable 

residents across the Borough.  

We  have  expanded  this  approach  to  other  areas  such  as  our  property  por olio.  Collabora on  and 

engagement with our partners and other stakeholders  is how be er outcomes can be delivered. We 

want to be more crea ve in how we do this in future, so that we carry on delivering results efficiently, 

safely and to the best quality possible.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Developing Leisure 

Services. 

Between 2014/15 and 

2016/17 we have 

invested £3.2 million in 

Leisure Services. 

34



 

 5 

Inves ng in our schools 

Between 2014/15 and 

2016/17 we have 

invested £61 million in 

our school buildings. 

The Council’s vision has been about “a great place to live and an even be er place to do business.”  

Na onal surveys show that the Borough con nues to be amongst the top places people choose to live.  

Business  growth  has  exceeded  our  original  forecasts  as  evidenced  by  our  partnership  plans with  the 

Local Enterprise Partnership. We want  to con nue with  this vision as an underpinning principle going 

forward. 

We want our vision to be er reflect the current  mes and the ma ers that are most important to our 

residents. We want to develop a future vision for our next long term plan that is shared by partners. Our 

ini al  thoughts  for  what  a  future  vision  should  encompass  is:  “A Borough that nurtures individual 

responsibility, assists those who are unable to be self sufficient and promotes equality of 

opportunity.” We want  to hear  views  from our partners,  community  and  especially  young people  to 

shape the next vision with their hopes and aspira ons.   

We  will  work  with  all  our  partners  to  ensure  that  we  tailor  our  approach  to  the  different  needs  of 

individuals, whether  they  are  a  resident,  customer,  live  in  a  rural  or  urban area,  are  a business,  or  a 

partner,  such  as  a  charity  or  the  police.  We  want  to  invest  in  preven on  services  that  increase  or 

maintain  independence,  and we must work  in partnership with  residents and  communi es  to deliver 

these services. We want to be a Borough that embraces localism, with communi es and the voluntary 

sector empowered to help people to help themselves and others.  

The final sec on of this plan details how we will develop our future Council Plan, a list of stakeholders 

we  will  engage  with,  and  a  metable  of  ac ons  over  the  year  to  develop  the  new  Council  Plan  for 

2019/20‐2023/24.  It  also  provides  details  of  the  investment we are making  in  the  future,  including  a 

£500 million capital programme. 

 

35



 

 6 

IMPROVE EDUCATIONAL ATTAINMENT AND FOCUS ON EVERY CHILD ACHIEVING THEIR POTENTIAL 

We planned to 

Work  together  to  secure  a  world  class,  full  educa on,  from  early  years  experiences  to  adulthood, 

delivering outstanding progress and a ainment for each person.  We will encourage and draw on best 

prac ce  in  Wokingham  schools  and  beyond,  in  a  framework  of  challenge  and  support  for  school 

improvement which is inspiring, systema c, sustainable and accountable. 

Review and  re–commission  the 0‐5 year old offer across  the Local Authority, health and early years 

sector to ensure that children are school ready, emo onally resilient and healthy.   

Deliver achievement focused new Primary and Secondary provision including new Primary schools and 

a new Secondary school in the south of the borough.  

Ensure more Wokingham Borough  children have access  to  good or be er  schools  and  se ngs,  and 

mobilise  the  range  of  resources  around  communi es  and  schools  to  deliver  a  focus  on  iden fied 

priori es and impact on improvements  

Implement  the  changes  required  to  deliver  on  the  supported  changes  set  out  in  the  Children  and 

Families Bill and to go further to bring the child and family into the centre of assessment, planning and 

support processes. 

Design and implement the placements strategy to ensure children in care remain in their community 

of  origin,  have  access  to  high  quality  and  consistent  teaching,  receive  high  quality  care,  and  are 

enabled to live within permanent care arrangements within a  mescale that makes sense to them. 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In 2017 , Wokingham 

Borough pupils 

outperformed all other 

authori es in the South 

East for achievement of a 

9‐4 grade in Maths and 

English. 

92% of pupils a end a 

Wokingham Borough 

school which is rated 

“Good” or “Outstanding” 

by Ofsted.   Bohunt Secondary School opened September 2016 

Pupils in Wokingham Borough schools achieved the 

highest a ainment, across the South East, at Key Stage 1 

in English Reading & Wri ng, Mathema cs and Science in 

2017.  

Over 76% of children aged between 0‐5 years are assessed as having a Good Level of 
Development within Wokingham Borough compared to na onal average of 71%. 

Addington School for children with addi onal 

needs rated Outstanding by Ofsted for a 3rd 

consecu ve inspec on. 

36



 

 7 

Delivered Ac ons 

We  implemented  changes  set  out  in  the  Children  &  Families  Bill.    In  2017/18  we  issued  and 
maintained 860 Educa on, Health and Care Plans to support children with Special Educa onal Needs 
and  Disabili es  progress  towards  their  aspira ons  in  order  to  enter  independent  or  supported 
employment and living. 

We built Bohunt Secondary School, which transferred to its newly completed permanent premises on 
the Arborfield Garrison site in September 2017. The site includes new sports facili es serving both the 
school and the Wokingham Borough community. The new school will offer 1,200 places. 

We  have  expanded  Shinfield  Infant  and  Nursery  School  with  addi onal  classrooms,  a  new  mul ‐
purpose hall, refurbished classroom blocks, and a new school meals kitchen. The expansion of these 
schools  brought  an  addi onal  210  places  in  Shinfield.  In  addi on,  the  expansion  of  the  Grazeley 
Parochial CofE Voluntary Aided Primary School brought a further 105 places to Shinfield. 

We  enabled  the  building  of  Floreat  Montague  Park  Primary  School  built  through  local  housing 
development,  and  selected  the    Academy  provider.  The  school    transferred  to  its  permanent 
accommoda on in 2017, offering 420 places. 

In  the  last  12 months  we  have    supported  over  800  adults  and  1,000  children  in  gaining  posi ve 
outcomes such as Early Years Founda on Stage and Ready for School.  

We  designed  and  implemented  our  Placement  Strategy.  Success  in  recrui ng  foster  carers  has 
resulted in 97% of children and young people coming into care being placed locally so far in 2017/18, 
enabling them to remain in their community.   

 

Key Ac ons for 2018/19 

 work  together  to  secure  a  world  class,  fulfilling  educa onal  offer  from  early  years  through  to 
adulthood to ensure each person makes outstanding progress and a ainment. We will encourage 
and draw on best prac ce in Wokingham Borough schools and beyond, in a framework of challenge 
and support for school improvement which is inspiring, systema c, sustainable and accountable. 

 con nue to improve the 0‐5 year old offer across the local authority, health and early years se ngs 
to ensure that children are school ready, emo onally resilient and healthy.   

 con nue to deliver new primary and secondary provision across Wokingham Borough, in response 
to local needs.  

 ensure all Wokingham Borough children have access to good or outstanding schools, colleges and 
early years se ngs. 

 con nue  to  close  the  achievement  gap  for  all  vulnerable  children  including  those  with  special 
educa onal needs and/or disabili es. 

 where  necessary,  reshape  and  extend  Special  Educa onal  Need  (SEN)  provision  to  be er match 
local provision to Wokingham needs. 

 con nue to ensure that children  in care can have their needs met as close to their community of 
origin as possible. 

 work with school nurses and health visitors to increase children’s resilience. 

 

37



 

 8 

INVEST IN REGENERATING TOWNS AND VILLAGES, SUPPORT SOCIAL AND ECONOMIC PROSPERITY, 

WHILST ENCOURAGING BUSINESS GROWTH 

We planned to 

Submit the new planning applica ons to regenerate Wokingham town centre, and moving forward to 

create a  town that  is vibrant, prosperous and thriving, maintaining  the balance of  the new and the 

historic. 

Ensure there is a great mix of new retailers coming to the town to occupy the new shops as we build 

them, so that as we build units, we will fill them. 

Progress  the design  for  the Carnival  Pool  site,  to  create a new and exci ng  leisure  led offer at  the 

heart of the town. We plan to engage and consult widely with you, so that what we develop reflects 

what you tell us you want to see. 

Implement  the  City  Deal  to  enhance  the  support  business  receives,  to  improve  our  local  training 

offers, and to support a commitment to ge ng local people into locally created jobs. 

Focus support for our local businesses, and  con nue to work with the Thames Valley Berkshire Local 

Enterprise Partnership to drive growth and ensure that the  infrastructure needs of the Borough are 

recognised in all strategic plans and bids for funding. 

Work closely with our town and parish councils to support  local communi es,    including developing  

some early pilots for joint/delegated  service delivery. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

We have created 60+ opportuni es (new jobs, appren ceships and graduate posts) through Employment & 

Skills Plans with developers as part of Sec on 106 agreements. 

22 new key worker homes will be 

delivered in Wokingham town centre. 

Carnival Pool Phase 1 has been delivered. Phase 2 planning 

applica on agreed for Swimming Pool, Concert Hall and Library.   

City Deal funding helped Elevate by brokering 51 appren ceships and 177 jobs to 

support 16‐24 year olds not in educa on or employment. 

Comple on of Phase 1 of Carnival Pool redevelopment  

38



 

 9 

Delivered Ac ons 

Work  is  progressing  with  the  regenera on  of  Wokingham  town  centre.  January  2017  saw  work 

commence at Peach Place to create a new public square, shops, restaurants, four town houses and 22 

key worker apartments—income from the retail units will provide income for the provision of services 

across the Borough. This will be completed by December 2018. 

Construc on  works  have  commenced  at  Elms  Field  in  prepara on  for  development  in  2018.    The 

development  includes  new  retail  and  restaurants,  an  Everyman  Cinema,  Premier  Inn  Hotel,  Aldi 

Foodstore, a range of residen al proper es, a new road linking Shute End to Wellington Road and an 

improved park  and play  area,  providing new  cultural  and  leisure opportuni es.  As well  as  crea ng  a 

vibrant town centre, this will provide revenue to support the Council’s vital services. 

We completed and opened  the new 529  space mul ‐storey car park  to  the public  in  June 2017,  and  

American Amusements Ltd opened their new facility, Wokingham Superbowl, in November 2017 as part 

of the Phase 1 Carnival Pool redevelopment. Planning consent for the second phase of the Carnival Pool 

site  has  been  secured  and will  include  a  new,  larger  leisure  centre,  a  library,  commercial  space  and 

apartments. Work is expected to start  in 2020/21 and will be coordinated with the redevelopment of 

Bulmershe Leisure Centre in Woodley.  

We have appointed a new operator for our leisure centres. This will  increase revenue for the Council, 

whilst  adop ng  a  public  health‐led  performance  contract  which  aims  to  improve  the  health  and 

wellbeing of  the popula on  through physical  ac vity. We have  started  to deliver new and enhanced 

leisure facili es at Arborfield  and Ryeish Green. 

Key Ac ons for 2018/19 

 deliver  the  programme  of  work  for  Peach  Place,  Elms  Field  and  Carnival  Pool  in  Wokingham  to 

improve our retail and leisure offer in a way that also delivers a commercial return. 

 work in partnership with our town & parish councils to enable growth and community development. 

 look to other towns across the Borough to improve the infrastructure and increase the vibrancy and 

vitality of the communi es. 

 con nue  to  implement  the  City  Deal  to  assist  young  people  in  accessing  local  employment  and 

training and, in turn, help meet the needs of local businesses.  

 support  our  local  businesses,  by  con nuing  to  work  with  the  Thames  Valley  Berkshire  Local 

Enterprise Partnership and Thames Valley Chamber of Commerce to drive growth, and ensuring that 

the infrastructure needs of the Borough are recognised in all strategic plans and bids for funding. 

 work closely with our town and parish councils to support local communi es,   including developing  

some early pilots for joint/delegated service delivery and joint investment priori es. 

 develop neighbourhood estates investment programme by commencing with the Gorse Ride Estate 

in Finchampstead.    

39



 

 10 

ENSURE STRONG COMMUNITIES THAT ARE VIBRANT AND SUPPORTED BY WELL‐DESIGNED 

DEVELOPMENT 

We planned to 

Implement the Council’s Community Infrastructure Levy to ensure that funding for vital infrastructure 

in  the  Borough  is  secured  and  we  will  work  with    our  towns  and  parishes  to  ensure  that  local 

infrastructure provision  reflects our joint local priori es.  

Adopt  and  implement  the  Local  Flood  Risk  Management  Strategy  (LFRMS)  in  2014/15  to  raise 

awareness of flood risks and help to develop proposals for reducing those risks across communi es. 

Ensure that when considering planning and related applica ons we   promote the highest quality of 

design and secure the greatest amount of new infrastructure that we can jus fy. 

Work with towns and parishes and the Strategic Development Loca on Forums to ensure that as the 

new developments are delivered, both exis ng and new communi es are well  supported and have 

access to the high quality community facili es they require.  

Develop a modern vision for our libraries ensuring local access to high quality services. 

Work with Re3 (our waste and recycling partnership) to further develop our  local waste strategy and 

we will work with our communi es and our partners to raise recycling rates.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Newly completed Phoenix Avenue housed 68 households 

Over 450 affordable homes delivered in 

the Borough this year. 

Built three new 3G sports pitches.  84% people sa sfied with their homes. 

5 km of cycle ways.   

2.25 km of new greenways. 

Recycling more plas cs and food waste. 

Inves ga on of over 700 poten al breaches of 

planning control. 

40



 

 11 

Delivered Ac ons 

We are delivering well designed, high quality developments. The New Homes Survey of new houses on 

our Strategic Development Loca ons shows that 84% of respondents are sa sfied with their homes, an 

increase  of  4%  from  last  year.  We  determined  over  3,600  planning  applica ons  and  defended  93 

planning  applica ons,  of  which  74%  were  dismissed.  We  have  adopted  a  Local  Risk  Management 

Strategy and we work closely with developers on flood risk mi ga on measures.  

We con nue to be a good landlord and meet our regulatory requirements, with 99.9% of the housing 

stock mee ng  the Decent Homes  Standard. Our  flagship  development  in  2017  at  Phoenix  Avenue,  a 

£13.5 million scheme in the heart of Wokingham’s Norreys community on the former Eustace Crescent 

site, has successfully housed 68 households in either social rented or intermediate rented homes from 

our housing register. 

Our Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is now a key funding source for strategic infrastructure in the 

Borough. Between April 2015 and December 2017,  the Council  secured £18.7m  in CIL  related  to new 

developments in the Borough. Of this, £2.8m has, or will be, given to the town or parish councils where 

that development is taking place. The remainder is allocated to strategic infrastructure projects, such as 

road improvements, schools and leisure, to support development and the local community. 

Key Ac ons for 2018/19 

 con nue to progress our Local Plan update. We will consult on a dra  Local Plan and within a year 

submit the final version to Government for examina on.   

 ensure  the  Council’s  Community  Infrastructure  Levy  con nues  to  secure  funding  for  vital 

infrastructure in the Borough, remains fit for purpose and is reviewed alongside the Local Plan.  

 con nue  to work with our  towns and parishes  to ensure  that  local  infrastructure provision  reflects 

our joint local priori es. 

 ensure that when considering planning and related applica ons we   promote the highest quality of 

design and secure the greatest amount of new infrastructure that we can jus fy. 

 con nue to work to safeguard the environmental quality of the Borough to ensure public safety and 

protec on of its residents and businesses. 

 work  with  towns  and  parishes  and  the  SDL  Forums  to  ensure  that  as  the  new  developments  are 

delivered, both exis ng and new communi es are well supported and have access to the high quality 

community facili es they require.  

 con nue  to  implement  our  modern  vision  for  our  libraries,  ensuring  local  access  to  high  quality 

services. 

 work  with  Re3  to  further  develop  our    local  waste  strategy  and  work  with  our  communi es  and 

partners to raise recycling rates.  

 con nue  to  expand  and  improve  our  leisure  offer. We  will  renovate  Ryeish  Green  Leisure  Centre 

opening in October 2018 and progress with our plans to demolish and rebuild an improved Bulmershe 

Leisure Centre during 2020. 

 

41



 

 12 

TACKLE TRAFFIC CONGESTION IN SPECIFIC AREAS OF THE BOROUGH  

We planned to 

Ensure that new development has the necessary transport infrastructure to have minimal impact on 

the exis ng  transport network,  and protect  the exis ng highway network by  resis ng development 

that that will have a significantly harmful and unmi gated impact on it. 

Ensure that new development provides funding  for strategic transport infrastructure (e.g. funding for 

distributor  roads)  to  alleviate  pressure  on  our  roads  and  that  all  opportuni es  to  secure  further 

funding  including  from  Central  Government,  the  Local  Enterprise  Partnership  and  elsewhere 

are  exploited.  

Deliver the Local Sustainable Transport Fund projects, including cycle paths on the A329, traffic signal 

improvements  on  the  Showcase  cinema,  and  further  personal  and  business  travel  planning  on  the 

A329 corridor. 

Deliver opera onal Park and Ride sites at Mereoak and Winnersh. 

Work with towns and parishes to iden fy local solu ons to issues of conges on. 

Increase choice of transport op ons including public transport, cycleway and footpaths. 

2.4 million annual passenger 

journeys on local buses within 

Wokingham Borough last year. 

14% increase in cycle journeys on 

A329 corridor since 2013. 

14% increase in passenger 

journeys on local buses in the 

last three years. 

Over 1,400 children (aged 10‐14 

years) trained on Bikeability cycle 

training courses at Wokingham 

schools; the majority of which id  

funded by Department for Transport 

Bikeability grant. 

New Park and Ride facili es at Winnersh 

Triangle and Mereoak 

Cycling at Finchampstead Bap st Church 

42



 

 13 

Delivered Ac ons 

The Council con nues to deliver a varied programme of transport investment across the Borough to 

address traffic conges on, promote economic growth and deliver new homes, as detailed in our Local 

Plan and Local Transport Plan. There are six main road projects underway to help our residents make 

their journeys easier around the Borough. 

The Council’s flagship “My Journey” project con nues to promote and deliver sustainable transport 

schemes, ac vi es and  informa on to new residents as they move  into the Borough. This has been 

supported by the early inclusion of new bus services, such as the Leopard 10 in Shinfield and the 125 

in North Wokingham. We have delivered the  latest  sec on of  the A329 cycleway, which provides a 

con nuous link between the Three Tuns and Wokingham town centre and includes upgraded traffic 

signals and remarked carriageway surfaces. 

We  opened  our  first  ‘Greenway’  in  California  Country  Park;  which  provides  a  series  of  traffic  free 

routes for pedestrians, cyclists and horse riders linking up key parts of the Borough.  

We have invested in, and opened new Park and Ride sites on the A329 Winnersh Triangle and the A33 

at Mereoak, which are commercially run by Reading Buses. These sites include two 50kWh Rapid Car 

Chargers to support the uptake of electric vehicles.  

We have  lobbied  for  improved rail  services across  the Borough. From December 2018 there will be 

increased train  frequencies on Reading  to Waterloo and Reading  to Gatwick Services.  January 2017 

saw the introduc on of electric services on the Great Western Mainline serving Twyford.   

The Council inspected and maintained 720km of highways and footways, making safe 3,150 potholes, 

and processed 55,000 no ces for works to the highway to co‐ordinate works. Over 13,500 streetlights 

have been replaced with new energy saving lanterns across the Borough.  

Key Ac ons for 2018/19   

 ensure that new developments have the necessary transport infrastructure to minimise the impact 

on  the  exis ng  transport  network.  We  will  protect  the  exis ng  highway  network  by  resis ng 

developments that that will have a significantly harmful and unmi gated impact on it. 

 ensure that new developments provide funding for strategic transport infrastructure (for example 

funding for distributor roads) to alleviate pressure on our roads. All opportuni es to secure further 

funding including from Central Government, the Local Enterprise Partnership and elsewhere will be 

explored and exploited.  

 deliver new and improved Park and Ride sites at Thames Valley Park/ Winnersh Parkway. 

 con nue  to  exercise  our  Civil  Parking  Enforcement  powers  to  improve  the  safety  of  our  roads, 

ensure that parking is fair and reduce an ‐social parking. 

 con nue to work with towns and parishes to iden fy local solu ons to issues of conges on. 

 con nue  to  deliver  sustainable  transport  ini a ves  including  public  transport,  ac ve  travel  and 

smarter choices as detailed within our Local Transport Plan.  

43



 

 14 

LOOK AFTER VULNERABLE PEOPLE 

We planned to 

Use  the Be er Care Fund  to  improve outcomes and  reduce hospital  stays  for  vulnerable people by 

integra ng Health and Social Care services. 

Ensure our communi es are demen a friendly. 

Focus on outcomes based assessment and improved reablement services so that everyone is helped 

to be as independent as possible. 

Develop and  implement an early  interven on strategy building on what works well now  to  support 

and  enable  children  and  families  needs  to  be  iden fied  and  met  at  the  earliest  opportunity,  to 

empower  families  to  meet  the  welfare  and  emo onal  health  needs  of  their  children,  and  ensure 

children  are  kept  safe  and  their  welfare  promoted;  including  reviewing  and  recommissioning 

emo onal health and wellbeing services  including primary Children’s and Adolescent Mental Health 

Services  (CAMHS)  to  improve  the emo onal health and wellbeing of  vulnerable  children and young 

people.  

Implement  a  new  placements  commissioning  strategy  to  ensure  that  children  in  care  receive  the 

highest quality care and support.   

Adopt  and  implement  the  Young  People’s  Housing  Strategy  in  order  that  children  at  risk  of 

homelessness are prevented from becoming homeless; that vulnerable young people who cannot live 

at  home  are  able  to  access  safe,  suppor ve  accommoda on,  and  that  care  leavers  have  access  to 

suitable  accommoda on  that  supports  them  become  full  members  of  a  stable  community  into 

adulthood. 

The propor on of service users who say our services make 

them feel  safe and secure increased to 90% in 2016/17. 

Wokingham Borough is rated 10th best in the 

country for achieving employment for adults with 

a learning disability. 

Residen al and nursing placements have reduced and are 

within our target of less than 11 per month. 

Fosters has 34 self‐contained 

apartments provide older people 

with a home that enables 

independent living and 24 hour on‐

site care & support by Optalis. 

 859,000 free school meals were 

provided in the academic year 

2016/17. 

128 care leavers have been supported 

since 2015. 

Our services have supported 128 young people to 

help reduce substance misuse since 2015. 

Fosters extra care housing in Woodley 

44



 

 15 

Delivered Ac ons 

Wokingham  Borough  is  the  Corporate  Parent  for  100  Children  in  Care  and  currently  protects  100 

vulnerable children via a Child Protec on Plan.  

We  have  provided  Short  Breaks  for  children  and  young  people  with  disabili es  including  529 

overnight  stays, support and ac vi es including 4,698 hours day care, and 2,791 hours Saturday Club. 

Bridges Resource Centre service for disabled children and young people rated Outstanding by Ofsted.  

The Borough is in the top 10 local authori es na onally for ge ng people home from hospital when 

they are ready to leave.  

We  are  on  target  to  deliver  around  500  new  affordable  homes, mee ng  a  range  of  needs,  before 

March  2018.  As  part  of  the  implementa on  of  our  Young  People’s  Housing  Strategy,  we 

commissioned  a  new  purpose‐built  supported  housing  scheme  for  vulnerable  young  people  at  52 

Reading  Road,  which  is  due  to  be  complete  in  March  2018.  Wokingham  Housing  Group  have 

welcomed their first  tenants at Grovelands and Anson Walk; both  schemes house people who may 

otherwise have been made homeless.   

Wokingham Community Mental Health Team (CMHT)  is  rated   Good and our Older Persons Mental 

Health Service is rated Outstanding by the Care Quality Commission. 

We  have  linked  work  programmes  to  pa ent  pathways  in  the  Community  Health  &  Social  Care 

(CHASC)  Service  so  that  vulnerable  pa ents  can  be  directly  referred  and  supported  to  realise  the 

physical and social benefits of exercise. 

Key Ac ons for 2018/19  

 con nue to use the Be er Care Fund to improve outcomes and reduce hospital stays for vulnerable 
people by integra ng Health and Social Care services. 

 ensure  high  quality  services  and  provision  to  support  the  needs  of  people  with  demen a,  in 
response to local needs. 

 work to ensure maximum independence through  mely assessments in response to local needs. 

 con nue  to  improve  and  deliver  early  help  services  and  statutory  services  to  children  and  their 
families, to ensure children are kept safe and their welfare is promoted. 

 through our Placements Strategy con nue to ensure sufficient places are commissioned to ensure 
that children in care receive the highest quality care and support. 

 con nue to improve support and opportuni es for carers in our community including mental health 
support to carers. 

 implement new ways of working to develop the local community and voluntary sector to improve 
resident’s health and wellbeing. 

 work with our housing companies and housing associa on partners to deliver a mix of affordable 
housing  to  meet  the  needs  of  the  local  community,  including  specialist  housing  for  vulnerable 
people. 

 work with our health care partners to improve services by con nuing to develop integrated health 
and social care services. 

 increase  the  number  of  people  that  are  helped  to  remain  living  at  home  a er  a  period  of 
reablement. 

 con nue to provide responsive services to support pa ent discharge from acute care se ngs. 

 con nue  to  improve  safeguarding  prac ce  and  ensure  it  is  easy  for  local  people  to  refer  their 
concerns to us. 

 ensure closer integra on of adult mental health services in Wokingham Borough. 

 

45



 

 16 

IMPROVE THE CUSTOMER EXPERIENCE WHEN ACCESSING COUNCIL SERVICES. 

We planned to 

Implement  the  Council’s  Improving  the  Customer  Experience  Strategy  that  seeks  to  maximise  the 

customer and resident’s percep on across all Council Services and maximise first point resolu on. 

Adopt a revised Statement of Community Involvement to ensure that local residents and our partners 

know how to comment on and influence our approach to land use planning, and use the results of our 

New Homes Survey to improve the quality of future development in the Borough. 

Develop an engagement strategy so that the voice of children, young people, parents and carers are 

understood and taken into account in service design and delivery across all parts of the Council. 

Ra onalise Council assets and establish the new community asset  in areas of  regenera on  in a way 

that maximises  service delivery  (e.g.  through co‐loca on of  services) and minimises  the opera onal 

running costs of services for service enabling reinvestment or reducing the cost of council tax.  

Over 65% of calls and emails resolved via first 

contact. 

Mobile first website 

Handled over 140,000 telephone calls in 2017. 

WBC received over 26,000 email requests and 

handled around 9,000 web chats last year. 

Main Recep on, Council Offices,  Shute End. 

Over 23,000 customers have registered for an 

online customer account.  

46



 

 17 

Delivered Ac ons 

21st Century Council  is  an ambi ous  reform which will  see  internal processes  reduced and customer 

service  improvements  to  residents.   Under Phase 1 of  the 21st Century Council Programme we have 

saved £2 million per year.    

We have redesigned our website to ensure that content  is accessible via mobile devices and that our 

informa on is easier to find and use.  

We are moving more of our services online and an increasing number of customers are using our web 

chat  facility  whilst  using  the  Council  website;  enhancing  their  experience  with  advisors  responding 

quickly to their enquiry. We offer a number of  services which are completely handled online, such as 

land  charges,  disabled  parking  badges,  and  school  admission  applica ons,  where  we  con nue  to 

provide a mediated support service for those who may either need further assistance, or are unable to 

access the internet, or may just prefer this choice of access to these services.  

By upskilling our Customer Service teams, and enabling them wider access to relevant systems, we have 

improved the number of enquiries we resolve at first point of contact.  

Feedback we  received  from  customers  a ending  our  ‘Meet  the  Council’  events  showed  that we  are 

mee ng or exceeding their expecta ons two thirds of the  me, and feedback was par cularly posi ve 

in areas such as our willingness to help and how easy it is for customers to communicate with us. 

We adopted a revised Statement of Community Involvement that communicates how residents can get 

involved in the planning process. 

Key Ac ons for 2018/19 

 become  closer  to  becoming  a  self  sufficient  council  funded  from  Council  Tax,  Business  Rates  and 

other income sources without any general financial support from the Government in the form of the 

Revenue Support Grant. 

 iden fy opportuni es and acquisi ons  to  invest  in  commercial proper es  to provide an  income  to 

the  Council  over  and  above  the  rate  of  borrowing.  We  will  use  this  return  to  fund  vital  Council 

services.  In 2018/19 we will build capability  in  this area and begin  to build our £100m commercial 

property por olio. Wokingham Housing Ltd will return £700k to the general funds of the Council.  

 implement the 21st Century Programme that will deliver be er customer service and transparency, 

making it easier to transact with the Council and more op ons to access services  in different ways. 

While self serve will be ac vely promoted, there will also be tradi onal op ons for those who need 

or want them.  

 maintain  high  resident  sa sfac on  with  new  homes  and  engagement  to  con nue  to  drive 

improvements in the quality of new developments in the Borough. 

 engage with our housing tenants in the design and delivery of housing services.  

 we will lobby local government on fairer funding to keep local taxes local to meet our needs. 

 

 
 
 
 

47



 

 18 

OTHER ACHIEVEMENTS  

 Fewer adults wai ng over 28 days for an Occupa onal Therapy or Social Work Assessment; reduced 

from 31% in 2016/17 to 6% in 2017/18. 

 Fewer children who have received social work support are requiring our services for a second  me. 

 Since April 2016, 16 families have a member who has returned to con nuous employment and ten 

families have achieved significant and sustained progress thanks to services we have provided 

through the Na onal Troubled Families Programme. 

 More of our older people are being supported to stay in their own home. Older people admi ed to 

hospital are experiencing fewer discharge delays. Successful introduc on of Step Down Beds 

preven ng ‘bed blocking’ in hospital.   

 Wokingham had the 4th lowest rate of first  me youth offending in the South East in 2016/17. 

 We have con nued to invest in our libraries to provide longer opening hours; loaning over 750,000 

items and have had 470,000 visits to our ten libraries during 2017. 

 Older People’s Services con nue to deliver carers’ educa on courses for people caring for people 

with demen a. 

 The number of people with a learning disability who live in their own homes, or with their families, 

has increased to 78%.  

 Through our support, the number of people admi ed to residen al and nursing care homes has 

reduced; this has enabled them to live in their own home for longer. 

 Public Health have commissioned Solu ons4Health Stop Smoking services to become the first local 

authority in the country to bring its smoking prevalence into single figures; now at only 8.8%.  

 We have managed and maintained 217 hectares of Country Parks, over 100 hectares of nature 

reserves and 59 hectares of Suitable Alterna ve Natural Green spaces. We managed 100 children's 

play areas.   

 Worked with volunteers who commi ed over 2,000 days worth of support in our Country Parks, 

helping our Countryside Services to manage and maintain around 380 hectares of countryside sites. 

Worked with 1,400 children on environmental educa on ac vi es. 

 In 2017, we allocated 2,155 primary school places, 575 junior school places and 1,945 secondary 

school places for children resident in the Borough. We also allocated 1,555 in‐year applica ons 

within 20 days. We support our schools to deliver high quality educa on for 26,315 pupils in our 69 

schools (including maintained schools, Pupil Referral  Units and academies). In 2017 this included 

teacher training (170 courses) and training sessions for governors (1,084).  

 2,678 children aged between 2 and 4 old years, a ended our 126 Early Years Se ngs. Over 30% of 

3 and 4 year olds, a ending nursery provision in the Borough in 2016/17 were eligible and took up 

their 30 hours free extended en tlement. 

 We collected £112 million of Council Tax from 66,000 proper es and £66 million of business rates 

which we retain, £13.7 million from 4,000 proper es with collec on rates of 99.6% and 99.7%. In 

2016/17 Wokingham topped the na onal Council Tax collec on charts for all local authori es.  

48



 

 19 

Inves ng in and Delivering Our Council Plan 

The Council will bring out the poten al of all its assets and resources. We will use our assets to lever 

in addi onal resources. This could be using our funding to achieve other external funding, help 

communi es to help themselves and others, and develop our people with the skills needed. 

The Council has looked at all its opera ons to make sure they are fit for purpose. Our 21st Century 

Council opera ng model is about pu ng the customer at the heart of how we organise service 

delivery. It includes being more digital and  inves ng in the technology to enable greater convenience 

in how customers access the Council. It enables us to gain greater insight into the needs and demands 

upon services. This means our reducing resources will be be er priori sed and targeted, with 

commissioning and procurement grounded with evidence based decisions. Our people are our biggest 

asset, and we are developing our staff and management structures to make sure roles and abili es 

are relevant to an increasingly digital, commercial and collabora ve customer focused approach.   

Thanks to the Borough Council’s carefully planned developments which are bringing significant 

contribu ons from housing developers, a rac ng Central Government capital grants and through 

prudent borrowing, we are able to translate people’s priori es into day‐to‐day reality. This means the 

Borough Council is able to invest an unprecedented half a billion pounds during the next three years 

in areas that ma er most to local people. 

Full details of our capital programme are given over the page but some of the highlights include: 

 Roads and tackling traffic conges on: £158million. Includes construc on of six new relief roads, 

highways maintenance and improvements. 

 Educa on: £49.3million. Includes new schools; improvements to school buildings; providing new 

school places and enhanced provision for children and young people with disabili es. 

 Regenera ng towns and villages, suppor ng social and economic prosperity:  £170million. 

Includes affordable housing; leisure and sports facili es; country parks and play areas and 

Wokingham town centre regenera on, and superfast broadband. 

 Building strong sustainable communi es: £52.7million. Includes new cycleways, greenways and 

byways; street ligh ng replacement scheme; social housing; waste schemes; flood allevia on and 

drainage scheme; park and ride schemes; and a community centre at Shinfield. 

 Commercial assets: £100million. Includes inves ng in commercial assets to generate income to 

fund vital services. 

 Infrastructure: £4.5million. Includes upgrades to IT to make it more efficient, effec ve and easier 

for residents to use Council services, and to maintain and refurbish buildings that are used by  

residents accessing adult social care services. 

49



 

 20 

Capital Programme 

This table provides details of the significant capital investment the Council is making. 

50



 

 21 

Looking  Forward—Transi on  to  a New Borough  Plan  in 

2019 

This sec on outlines how we will prepare our future Borough Plan and what we think should be its key 

components based on our review and engagement with stakeholders, and what makes a good strategic 

plan.  We  are  going  to  create  a  Borough  Plan  that  pulls  together  contribu ons  from  across  all  the 

stakeholders  in  the  Borough.  The  Council’s  contribu on  will  be  one  amongst  many  to  making  the 

Borough a be er place. 

 Vision and Values 

As with our previous plans, it is important to have a clear vision that acts as the golden thread in all we 

do. We want to engage with partners as well as all within the Council so that we have a shared vision. 

Similarly our values need to be shaped and shared; we want to be more collabora ve, commercial, and 

customer focused, as well as carrying on with values of providing efficient, value for money services. We 

want to embrace the poten al of digital technology where it can make a difference to our priori es. We 

think  this  should be  a  core  value  in  all  that we do.  Equally,  our  role as  a Council  should be  as much 

about advocacy and  influence, as  it  is about delivering services directly, or  in partnership. One of our 

values is to empower and support individuals and communi es to help themselves and others. We want 

to encourage strong networks, community groups and a thriving voluntary sector.  

 Our Priori es 

There are many priori es in our current plan that should be priori es in the future, such as educa onal 

a ainment and housing. We want  to priori se what we  focus on and what may be a greater priority 

compared to four years ago, such as community safety, for example.  

 The Golden Thread 

As a large organisa on ‐ working in partnership ‐ a shared vision, values, and priori es are important. In 

execu ng  delivery  of  these  with  maximum  impact,  it  is  important  that  we  have  the  right  delivery 

arrangements in place: 

 democra c oversight;  

 outcome and success measures with aligned key performance indicators are in place;  

 a clear “golden thread” of vison, policy and delivery.  

A future Borough Plan would seek to do this for all priori es, where everyone, including our partners, 

have  clarity on  their  roles,  ac ons  to be  taken, monitoring delivery  and  celebra ng achievements by 

giving deserved thanks and recogni on.   

 

51



 

 22 

Delivering in partnership 

Wellbeing, economic prosperity, educa onal a ainment and safer communi es are all outcomes that 

are shaped and enabled by many. Most important are the residents we serve; as a community and as 

individuals. 

What a young person needs  for good mental health and a successful  future will be unique  to each 

person. This is why we will “work with” and not “do to”, ac ng as advocates and good partners with 

schools, employers and health services, shaping responsive integrated services.  

This  is  one  example  of why  partnership working  is  important  and  how we must  be  the  leaders  in 

modelling collabora on across the public sector for our communi es.  

We have many excellent partnerships, and  this  transi on plan shows  the many  that we work with. 

However, we are ambi ous to be consistently excellent and to improve greater collabora on that is 

focused  and  provides  value  for money.  Therefore, we will  engage with  a  range  of  stakeholders  to 

develop the 2019 version of this plan, building on the solid founda ons of partnerships to establish 

priori es and joint ac ons. 

This  is  not  necessarily  about  establishing  new  partnerships,  but  rather  making  sure  exis ng 

partnerships are delivering and all are commi ed to taking ac on toward achieving shared visions and 

outcomes. 

The page opposite lists all the stakeholders we will work with over the next six months, from April to 

October. This  is not a exhaus ve  list, but by way of  illustra on,  shows  the many different  types of 

stakeholders the Council works with and values. 

The details of how we will engage with stakeholders will be expanded on going  forward,  to ensure 

that it is based on an ac ve dialogue between the Council and our partners. 

  

52



 

 23 

Key Stakeholders we will work with 

 Residents and service users 

 Families 

 Children and young people 

 Adults and older people 

 Special interest groups 

 Parishes, Towns and Neighbourhoods 

 Parish and town Councils 

 Resident Associa ons 

 Neighbourhood groups 

 Community groups at local level  

 Voluntary, charity and community 

 Chari es that advocate and or deliver services 

 Networks such as Healthwatch 

 Community groups 

 Faith organisa ons 

 Businesses 

 Business and enterprise bodies such as the CBI, LEP, Chamber of Commerce and 

Federa on of Small Businesses 

 Public Sector 

 NHS Trusts, Clinical Commissioning Group 

 Police, Police and Crime Commissioner, and criminal jus ce bodies 

 Blue light services such as Fire and Ambulance 

 Schools, Colleges, Universi es 

 Transport bodies—Rail, Bus and Road 

 Infrastructure and U li es such as Highways Agency, Environment Agency, Water, 

telecommunica ons and energy providers.  

 Housing Developers, Homes England, Housing Associa ons  

 Government, local MPs and Berkshire Local Authori es 

53



 

 24 

Timeline to Develop the New Borough Plan 2019‐2024 

54



 

 25 

Conclusion 

A  great  deal  has  been  achieved  and  a  lot  of  challenges  in  the  future  s ll  need  to  be  addressed.  The 

Council has the ambi on and determina on to provide leadership, working with its many valued partners 

and colleagues in the Borough Council, as well as around Berkshire and at a na onal level.  

This  year we will  embed  the principles of our 21st Century Council  and achieve a Borough Plan  that  is 

truly  a  partnership  plan,  with  a  clear  focus  on  key  priori es  and  the  values  that  drive  a  more 

entrepreneurial approach to focus on customers and communi es. Our Plan releases the poten al of all 

our assets and will be commercial in approach where possible. 

We want to maintain our posi on as a Borough where people choose to live and grow their business; a 

place where people have  the  support  to be  self  sufficient and  independent, with  support  for our most 

vulnerable, and equality of opportunity for all. 

55



This page is intentionally left blank



TITLE Changes to the Constitution

FOR CONSIDERATION BY Council on 22 March 2018

WARD None Specific

LEAD OFFICER Andrew Moulton, Assistant Director, Governance 

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY

Reviewing the Council’s Constitution on a regular basis ensures that it is relevant and fit 
for purpose.  

RECOMMENDATION

That Council agree the following changes to the Constitution as recommended by the 
Constitution Review Working Group:

1) Chapter 4 The Council Meeting

that Rule 4.2.19.2 be amended as follows:

4.2.19.2 Petitions presented to Council 
‘….Members will be entitled to speak for no more than three minutes in support 
of a petition.  A member of the public may present a petition at any meeting of the 
Council and will be entitled to speak for no more than three minutes in support of 
the petition…’

2) Chapter 8 Regulatory and Other Committees 

that Rule 8.2.7 be amended as follows:

8.2.7 Speaking by Members other than [Planning] Committee Members
‘…if the Member who wishes to speak is not the relevant Ward Member they will 
need to provide evidence that he/she (or their residents) are directly affected by 
the proposed development.  Ward Members directly affected by the proposed 
development should register to speak as either a supporter or objector as 
appropriate.  In cases of applications situated in a single member ward and 
the Ward Member is directly affected by the proposed development, a Ward 
Member from an adjoining ward may be requested to speak on others’ 
behalf.’ 

3) that Section 9 Ethics and Corporate Governance be amended as set out in 
Appendix 1 to the report;

4) revisions to the Procurement and Contract Rules and Procedures as highlighted 
in Appendix 2 to the report. 

57

Agenda Item 84.



SUMMARY OF REPORT

Chapter 1.1.4 of the Council’s Constitution states that the Monitoring Officer will monitor 
and review the operation of the Constitution to ensure that its aims and principles are 
given full effect.

The report contains revisions to a number of areas in the Constitution which were 
agreed by the Constitution Review Working Group (CRWG) at their meeting on 8 March 
2018.  

58



Background

SECTION 4 – THE COUNCIL MEETING

1. The Constitution Review Working Group considered proposals regarding the time 
limit for presenting petitions at meetings of Full Council.  

The following change is therefore proposed to Rule 4.2.19.2:

4.2.19.2 Petitions presented to Council

‘….Members will be entitled to speak for no more than three minutes in support of a 
petition.  A member of the public may present a petition at any meeting of the Council 
and will be entitled to speak for no more than three minutes in support of the petition…’

SECTION 8 – REGULATORY AND OTHER COMMITTEES

2. The CRWG considered a request that 8.2.7 Speaking by Members other than 
[Planning] Committee Members be clarified.  Current 8.2.7 conflicts with 8.2.5 Public 
Speaking Rights.  If a Member is not a Committee member or the relevant Ward 
Member and are directly affected by the proposal they should register to speak under 
other pre-existing categories e.g. supporters or objectors.  Ward Members also directly 
affected by an application should also register to speak as either a supporter or objector 
as appropriate.  In this instance the Member would not be speaking in their capacity as 
a Councillor.

The CRWG considered this request and felt that this would be appropriate.  

The following change is therefore proposed to Rule 8.2.7:

8.2.7 Speaking by Members other than Committee Members 

‘…if the Member who wishes to speak is not the relevant Ward Member they will need 
to provide evidence that he/she (or their residents) are directly affected by the proposed 
development.  Ward Members directly affected by the proposed development 
should register to speak as either a supporter or objector as appropriate.  In 
cases of applications situated in a single member ward and the Ward Member is 
directly affected by the proposed development, a Ward Member from an adjoining 
ward may be requested to speak on others’ behalf.’

SECTION 9 ETHICS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

Section 9.4 Anti Fraud and Corruption Strategy, Section 9.5 Whistleblowing 
Policy and Guidance, Section 9.6 Anti Bribery Policy, Section 9.7 Anti Money 
Laundering Policy, Section 9.8 Prosecution and Sanctions Policy 

3. The CRWG reviewed the Anti Fraud and Corruption Strategy, the Whistleblowing 
Policy and Guidance, the Anti Bribery Policy, the Anti Money Laundering Policy and the 
Prosecution and Sanctions Policy which are included in the Constitution at Section 9. 
Minor amendments such as changes to job titles within the policies had been proposed.  
Changes to the Whistleblowing Policy reflected current best practice.  Members also 

59



received the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) Policy which was now a 
separate document to the RIPA Procedures so as to capture legislative updates, and 
agreed that it should be included within Section 9 of the Constitution at Section 9.9, with 
the remainder of Section 9 being renumbered accordingly.  

The amended policies and the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) Policy are 
attached at Appendix 1 to the report. 

4. In addition, the inclusion of the RIPA Policy in Section 9 of the Constitution 
means that Section 11.3.3.2 Other Legislation, should be deleted as this information is 
contained with the RIPA Policy. 

11.3.3.2  Other Legislation
The following Officers have been appointed Proper Officer under the terms of the 
following legislation:

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000
Sections 29 and 30 of the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 empower 
Authorising Officers to authorise covert directed surveillance activities and the use of 
covert human intelligence sources, where to do so would be likely to prevent or detect 
crime.  Section 22 of the Act empowers the Council’s designated single Point of Contact 
(SPOC) to authorise the acquisition of communications data, also for the purposes of 
the prevention or detection of crime.

Persons, designated as Authorising Officers, in the case of local authorities, by 
regulations made under the Act are any Officers appointed as “Assistant Chief Officer”, 
“Assistant Head of Service”, “Service Manager or equivalent”.  Any Officer senior to the 
designated Officers is also an Authorising Officer.

The Council considers that any executive Officer who reports directly to a Director an 
“Assistant Chief Officer” or an “Assistant Head of Service”.  It is a matter for each 
Director to identify, when the need arises in relation to his/her service, who the Director 
considers to be a “Service Manager”.  Further guidance can be found in the Council’s 
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 – Policy and Procedures.

SECTION 13 - PROCUREMENT AND CONTRACT RULES AND PROCEDURES

5. The CRWG considered a number of proposed amendments to the Procurement 
and Contract Rules and Procedures regarding tender openings and tender thresholds, 
which are highlighted and set out in Appendix 2 to the report. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
The Council faces severe financial challenges over the coming years as a result of 
the austerity measures implemented by the Government and subsequent reductions 
to public sector funding.  It is estimated that Wokingham Borough Council will be 
required to make budget reductions in excess of £20m over the next three years and 
all Executive decisions should be made in this context

60



How much will it 
Cost/ (Save)

Is there sufficient 
funding – if not 
quantify the Shortfall 

Revenue or 
Capital?

Current Financial 
Year (Year 1)

£0

Next Financial Year 
(Year 2)

£0

Following Financial 
Year (Year 3)

£0

Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision
There are no financial implications arising from this report. 

Cross-Council Implications 
None

List of Background Papers
The Council’s Constitution

Contact  Madeleine Shopland Service  Governance 
Telephone No  0118 974 6319 Email  

madeleine.shopland@wokingham.gov.uk
Date  6 March 2018 Version No.  1

61



This page is intentionally left blank



Page updated February 2018December 2015 

 

CHAPTER 9.4 – CORPORATE ANTI-FRAUD AND ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY 
 
9.4.1  Introduction 
Wokingham Borough Council (The CouncilWBC) aims to deliver high quality services and 
provide value for money by being fully accountable, honest and open in everything that it 
does.   
 
Fraud and corruption undermine these aims by diverting resources from legitimate 
activities, damaging public confidence in the Council and adversely affecting staff morale. 
 
To achieve its strategic priorities, the Council seeks to ensure that measures are taken to 
prevent, detect and investigate fraudulent or corrupt acts.  The aim of this policy is to 
reduce losses from fraud and corruption to an absolute minimum.   
 
The Council has a zero tolerance policy regarding fraud and corruption.  It has adopted the 
following approach. 
 
“In administering its responsibilities the Council is opposed to fraud and corruption whether 
it is attempted on or from within the Council and is committed to preventing, deterring, 
detecting and investigating fraud and corruption.” 
 
This policy is particularly relevant to: 
 

a) elected Members; 
 
b) employees; 
 
c) contractors; 
 
d) consultants; 
 
e) suppliers; 
 
f) service users; 
 
g) customers (including the public); and 
 
h) partner organisations. 

 
9.4.2  Defining Fraud 
The Council defines “fraud” as an intentional distortion of financial statements or other 
records by persons internal or external to the organisation which is carried out to conceal 
the misappropriation of assets or otherwise for financial gain.  This may involve, but is not 
limited to: 
 

a) falsification or alteration of accounting records or other documents; 
 
b) misappropriation of assets or theft; 
 
c) suppression or omission of the effects of transactions from accounting records of 

other documents; 

63



Page updated February 2018December 2015 

 

d) recording transactions which have no substance; and 
 
e) wilful misrepresentation of transactions or of the Council’s state of affairs. 

 
9.4.2.1 
Furthermore, the Fraud Act 2006 has defined fraud in law for the first time, defining it in 
three classes:  
 

a) fraud by false representation; 
 
b) fraud by failing to disclose information; and 
 
c) fraud by abuse of position. 

 
9.4.3  Defining Corruption 
The Council defines cCorruption as the offering, giving, soliciting or accepting of any 
inducement or reward which would influence the actions taken by the Council, its Members 
or Officers.  Areas where corrupt practices may occur include, but are not limited to: 
 

a) tendering and awarding of contracts; 
 
b) pecuniary interests of Members and Officers; 
 
c) the award of permissions, planning consents and licenses; and 
 
d) the disposal of assets. 

 
9.4.4  Framework for Prevention and Detection 
It is a management responsibility to maintain the internal control system and to ensure that 
the Council’s resources are properly applied in the manner and on the activities intended.  
This includes responsibility for the prevention and detection of fraud and other illegal acts. 
 
9.4.5  Key Principles and Culture 
The Council will not tolerate fraud and corruption in the administration of its responsibilities 
whether from inside or outside of the authority.   The Council is committed to creating a 
culture of opposition to fraud and corruption.  The Council is determined that the authority 
meets the expectations of the Committee on Standards of Public Life and is committed to 
the ten general principles which govern standards of conduct in local government, namely: 
 

a) selflessness; 
 
b) honesty and integrity; 
 
c) objectivity; 
 
d) accountability; 
 
e) openness; 
 
f) personal judgement; 

64



Page updated February 2018December 2015 

 

g) respect for others; 
 
h) duty to uphold the law; 
 
i) stewardship; and 
 
j) leadership. 

 
9.4.5.1 
The Council expects Members (elected and co-opted) and employees (including agency 
staff, consultants and contractors) to lead by example in ensuring effective opposition to 
fraud and corruption.  This includes ensuring adherence to legislation, local rules and 
regulations, National and Local Codes of Conduct and that all procedures and practices 
are beyond reproach. 
 
9.4.6  Raising Concerns 
Employees at all levels should be alert to the possibility of fraud and corruption.  They are 
expected, and positively encouraged to raise any concerns relating to fraud and corruption 
which they become aware of.  These can be raised in any way that the employee prefers, 
including with their line manager, through a Director, with the Shared Audit and 
Investigation Service or through the Council’s Whistleblowing Policy.  Whichever route is 
chosen, the employee can be assured that concerns raised in good faith will be fully 
investigated and, wherever possible, those raising concerns will be dealt with in 
confidence.  
 
When management receive concerns from employees or others regarding potential fraud 
or corruption, they should immediately contact the Assistant Director, GovernanceHead of 
Governance and Improvement Services (and Monitoring Officer) with details of the 
concerns.  The Assistant Director, GovernanceHead of Governance and Improvement 
Services will make preliminary enquiries and in consultation with the Section 151 Officer 
will determine whether there are grounds for an investigation.   
 
Councillors, service users, suppliers, partner organisations and members of the public are 
encouraged to report any concerns.  These concerns about fraud and corruption should be 
reported either directly to the Assistant Director, GovernanceHead of Governance and 
Improvement Services or via the Council’s Whistleblowing Policy.  
 
If employees feel that they are unable to use internal routes then they can contact the 
council’s external auditors, Ernst and Young: 
 
Ernst and Young 
Helen Thompson  

Wessex House, 19 Threefield Lane, Southampton, SO14 3QB, United Kingdom  

hthompson2@uk.ey.com 
07974 007332 
 
Although the Council encourages its staff to report concerns acting in good faith, any 
maliciously motivated and unfounded allegations may be dealt with through the Council’s 
disciplinary code. 
 

65

mailto:hthompson2@uk.ey.com


Page updated February 2018November 2014 

 

9.4.7  Corporate Governance 
The main corporate policies and procedures which formulate the Council’s framework for 
minimising risk and the prevention of fraud and corruption include: 
 

a) Anti-Fraud and Anti-Corruption Policy; 
 
b) Internal Audit Charter; 
 
c) Contract and Procurement Regulations; 

 
d) Financial Regulations; 
 
e) Human Resources Policy and Guidance for Discipline; 
 
f) Human Resources Policy for Conduct and Personal Behaviour; 
 
g) Human Resources Policy for Recruitment and Retention; 
 
h) Member’s Code of Conduct; 
 
i) Money Laundering Policy; 
 
j) Officer’s Code of Conduct; 
 
k) Prosecution and Sanction Policy; 

 
l) Risk Management Strategy; 
 
m) Scheme of Delegation; 
 
n) Whistleblowing Policy; and 
 
o) Anti-Bribery Policy 

 
 
9.4.8  Corporate Responsibility 
Service Heads (Assistant Directors) must ensure that all employees in their service are 
familiar with the corporate policies and procedures listed at 9.4.7, in addition to any other 
relevant rules and regulations specific to their service.  Failure to adhere to these policies 
and procedures could result in the instigation of disciplinary procedures. 
 
9.4.9  Recruitment 
The Council recognises that one of the most important issues relating to the prevention of 
fraud and corruption is the effective recruitment of staff and therefore takes pre-
employment screening seriously. 
 
Employee recruitment is required to be in accordance with procedures laid down by the 
Head of Support Services (Lead Specialist, HR).  As part of these procedures, particular 
reference is made to: 
 

66



Page updated November 2014February 2018 

 

a) verifying the identity of the applicant; 
 
b) obtaining satisfactory references prior to appointment; 
 
c) verifying the applicant is able to legitimately work in the UK; 
 
d) verifying and retaining copies of certificates for stated qualifications; and 
 
e) undertaking Disclosure Barring Service checks where appropriate. 

 
These practices apply to all permanent appointments including those where employees 
have entered the organisation as an agency worker or consultant in the first instance. 
 
9.4.10  System of Internal Control 
The risk of fraud and corruption can be minimised by good financial management, sound 
internal control systems, effective management supervision, and by raising public, member 
and employee awareness of fraud. 
 
9.4.10.1 
Internal control is the whole system of controls, financial and otherwise, established to 
provide reasonable assurance of: 
 

a) proper aims and objectives; 
 
b) efficient and effective operations; 
 
c) reliable management information and reporting; 
 
d) legitimate expenditure; 
 
e) compliance with laws and regulations; 
 
f) performance management; and 
 
g) security of assets and income. 

 
9.4.10.2 
Weaknesses in the design and operation of administrative and financial internal control 
systems may increase the risk of fraud.  Systems should contain efficient, effective, and 
well documented internal controls that cover the following: 
 

a) adequate segregation of duties; 
 
b) proper authorisation and approval procedures; 
 
c) adequate physical security over assets; and 
 
d) reliable monitoring and reporting arrangements. 

67



Page updated November 2014February 2018 

 

9.4.10.3 
It is management’s responsibility to install adequate internal controls and rectify 
weaknesses if they occur.  To help management discharge this responsibility, systems 
may be subject to review by both Internal and External Audit.  Auditors are responsible for 
reporting to management on significant weaknesses in the control environment, including 
deficiencies in the operation of internal controls and highlighting exposure to the risk of 
fraud.  High risk audit concerns are promptly followed up to ensure issues highlighted are 
appropriately actioned. 
 
Management should instigate occasional deterrent compliance checks on the operation of 
internal controls within their service and are encouraged to seek advice from the Shared 
Audit and Investigation Service on what checks should be carried out.  This work should 
be used to inform the Annual Governance Statement. 
 
9.4.11  Risk Management 
Major fraud risks relating to services should be included within local Risk Registers and 
subject to regular review to ensure that appropriate controls are in place to mitigate those 
risks. 
 
9.4.12  Role of Statutory Officers 
The Council has a statutory responsibility, under Section 151 of the Local Government Act 
1972, to ensure the proper administration of its financial affairs and also to nominate one 
of its Officers to take responsibility for those affairs.  The Council’s nominated Section 151 
Officer is the Deputy Chief Executive and Director of Corporate Services Finance and 
Resources. 
 
9.4.12.1 
The Council’s Monitoring Officer (Assistant Director, Governance)Head of Governance 
and Improvement Services) is responsible under Section 5 of the Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989 to guard against, inter alia, illegality, impropriety and maladministration 
in the Council’s affairs. 
 
9.4.13  Effective Action 
Responsibility for investigating suspected fraud and corruption against the Council rests 
with the Shared Audit and Investigation Service.  This is to ensure that the investigation is 
performed only by properly trained officers in accordance with the appropriate legislation: 
 

a) Corruption Act 1906 
 
b) Criminal Procedures and Investigations Act (CPIA) 1996; 
 
c) Data Protection Act 1998; 
 
d) Fraud Act 2006;  
 
e) Freedom of Information Act 2000; 
 
f) Human Rights Act 1998; 
 
g) Local Government Finance Act 1992; 
 
h) Police and Criminal Evidence Act (PACE) 1984; 

68



Page updated November 2014February 2018 

 

 
i) Proceeds of Crime Act 2002;  
 
j) Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) 2000; 

 
k) The Council Tax (Administration and Enforcement) Regulations 1992. 

 
9.4.14  Procedure 
All referrals will initially be risk assessed and material instances of fraud or irregularity in 
the Council will be referred to the Shared Audit and Investigation Service. 
 
The Shared Audit and Investigation Service will ensure the following objectives are met: 
 

a) investigations are undertaken fairly, objectively and in accordance with relevant 
laws and regulations, so as to avoid jeopardising the outcome on legal and 
procedural technicalities; 

 
b) to protect the evidence; 
 
c) to prove or disprove the original suspicions of fraud; 
 
d) if proven, to support the findings by producing effective evidence; 
 
e) to present evidence in an appropriate format accepted by the Crown Prosecution 

Service or the appropriate disciplining service;  
 
f) to apply appropriate sanctions and redress against those individuals and 

organisations that seek to defraud.  
 
9.4.15  Completion 
Once an investigation is completed the Shared Audit and Investigation Service may have 
responsibilities in relation to: 
 

a) recommending improvements to systems; 
 
b) attendance at disciplinary hearings and tribunals; 
 
c) attendance at Court as a witness; and 
 
d) reporting to the Audit Committee. 

 
Conclusions will be based on fact allowing management to take forward any required 
disciplinary and / or criminal proceedings as they determine appropriate.

69



Page updated February 2018November 2014 

 

9.4.16  Disciplinary 
The Council has in place disciplinary procedures which must be followed whenever staff 
are suspected of committing a fraudulent or corrupt act. 
 
The disciplinary procedures are set out in the Disciplinary Policy and Guidance. The Chief 
Executive has overall responsibility for ensuring that the disciplinary procedure is managed 
effectively. Line managers, under the overall direction of Assistant DirectorsHeads of 
Service are responsible for day to day management and ensuring compliance with the 
Disciplinary Policy and Guidance. 
 
9.4.17  Reporting and Publicity 
Incidents of fraud and corruption are reported through the following mechanisms: 
 

a) Corporate Leadership Team; 
 
b) Audit Committee; and 
 
c) External Auditors (currently Ernst and Young). 

 
Where evidence of fraud and corruption is found, appropriate sanctions will be sought in 
line with the Council’s Prosecution and Sanctions Policy. The details of any proven act of 
fraud or corruption, including action taken by the Council will be publicised to employees, 
Members and the public. This is aimed at deterring further attempts of fraud or corruption 
by demonstrating the seriousness with which the Council views such cases. In agreement 
with the Section 151 Officer, Monitoring Officer, the Council will report criminal activity to 
the Police at the appropriate stage. 
 
9.4.18  Council Tax Investigations 
The Investigations Team within the Shared Audit and Investigation Service is also 
responsible for undertaking investigations within the Council Tax Reductions Scheme. This 
involves: 
 

a) investigating suspected fraud by false statement and/or failure to declare 
changes in circumstances or other method. ; 

 
b) making random checks on claimants; and 
 
c) maximising recovery of overpayments. 

 
Where evidence of fraud and corruption is found, appropriate sanctions will be sought in 
line with the Council’s Prosecution and Sanctions Policy. Successful prosecutions will be 
publicised to help deter further fraud. 
 
9.4.19  Working with Others 
Arrangements are in place and continue to develop and encourage the exchange of 
information between the Council and other agencies on national and local fraud and 
corruption activity.  This includes participation in the National Fraud Initiative which 
matches data across a wide range of public service organisations in order to detect fraud 
or erroneous payments. 

70



Page updated February 2018November 2014 

 

9.4.20  Money Laundering 
Money laundering is the process of moving illegally generated funds through a cycle 
of transformation in order to create the end appearance of legitimately earned funds. 
 
The Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 details the three principal money laundering 
offences as: 
 

a) assisting another to retain the benefit of crime; 
 
b) acquisition, possession or use of criminal proceeds; and 
 
c) concealing or transferring proceeds to avoid prosecution. 

 
In addition there are related offences for failing to report where a person has 
knowledge, suspicion or reasonable grounds for knowledge or suspicion that money 
laundering has taken place, as well as for tipping off a person that a disclosure has 
taken place. 
 
Council Officers and Members who suspect money laundering activities should 
report their concern to the Council’s nominated Money Laundering Reporting Officer 
(MLRO), the Section 151 Officer (Deputy Chief Executive and Director of Corporate 
Services Finance and Resources).  Further details are contained in the Anti-Money 
Laundering Policy. 
 
9.4.21  Conclusion and Review 
The Council has in place a clear framework of systems and procedures to deter and 
investigate fraud and corruption.  It will ensure that these arrangements are fair and 
are monitored and updated to keep pace with future developments in preventative, 
deterrent and detection techniques regarding fraudulent or corrupt activity. 
 
To this end, the Council maintains a continuous review of these arrangements 
through, in particular the Audit Committee, the Section 151 Officer (Deputy Chief 
Executive and Director of Corporate Services Finance and Resources), Shared Audit 
and Investigation Service, External Audit and the Monitoring Officer (Assistant 
Director, GovernanceHead of Governance and Improvement Services). 
 

71



This page is intentionally left blank



Chapter updated January 2018 

CHAPTER 9.5 – WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY AND GUIDANCE 
 
9.5.1  Introduction     

The Council is committed to delivering high quality services to its customers and 
expects high standards from its employees and contractors. In order to maintain 
those high standards a culture of openness and accountability is vitally important. 
The aims of this policy are: 

a) to encourage you to raise concerns about malpractice within the 
organisation without fear of reprisal; 

b) to reassure you that your concerns will be taken seriously; and 

c) to provide information about how to raise your concerns and explain how 
the council will respond. 

This policy applies to all Council employees, former employees, agency staff and 
contractors engaged by the Council.  

 

9.5.2  What is Whistleblowing? 

In practical terms, whistleblowing occurs when a concern is raised about danger or 
illegality that affects others, e.g. clients, members of the public or the Council itself.  
As the person “blowing the whistle” you would not usually be directly affected by the 
danger or illegality.  Consequently you would rarely have a personal interest in the 
outcome of any investigation into your concerns.  This is different from a complaint or 
grievance.  If you make a complaint or lodge a grievance, you are saying that you 
personally have been poorly treated.  This poor treatment could involve a breach of 
your individual employment rights or bullying and you are entitled to seek redress for 
yourself. A qualifying disclosure means any disclosure of information that, in the 
reasonable belief of the worker is made in the public interest. As a result of this 
employees will generally be precluded from being able to “blow the whistle” about 
breaches of his or her employment contract. Although an employee making such a 
complaint can still use the Council’s grievance policy. 

Examples of whistleblowing concerns are: 

a) fraud in, on or by the Council; 

b) offering, taking or soliciting bribes; 

c) unauthorised use of public funds; 

d) financial maladministration; 

e) the physical, emotional or sexual abuse of clients; 

f) failure to comply with legal obligations; 

g) endangering of an individual’s health and safety; 

h) damage to the environment; 

i) a criminal offence; 

j) failure to follow financial and contract procedure rules; 

k) showing undue favour to a contractor or a job applicant; 

l) misreporting performance data; or 

73



Chapter updated January 2018 

m) neglect of people in care. 

This Policy does not replace the Council’s complaints or grievance procedures. 

 

9.5.3  Who should I contact?  

Having considered this Policy, an employee of the Council, or any other person 
covered by the Public Interest Disclosure Act (PIDA) 1998, who has serious 
concerns about any aspect of the Council’s work, should in the first instance inform 
one of the following methods: 

a) Inform Line Manager 

 In many cases, raising concerns with the immediate line manager is the 
most appropriate route for an employee. The line manager should inform 
the Assistant Director, Governance of the disclosure and an appropriate 
course of action will be agreed. If this is not a suitable option (for example 
because the issue may implicate the manager or if the concern has been 
raised but remains unaddressed) the concern should be raised using one of 
the other methods. 

b) Dedicated Whistleblowing Communication Channels  

 The Shared Audit and Investigation Service have established a dedicated 
24 hour answerphone hotline for receiving disclosures. 

 Hot line number - 0118 974 6550; 

 Email:- confidential.whistleblowing@wokingham.gov.uk; 

 By Post - Confidential Whistleblowing, Shared Audit and Investigation 
Service, Shute End, Wokingham, RG40 1BN; 

 In person at Shute End by asking for the Shared Audit and Investigation  
Service at reception. 

c) Shared Audit and Investigation Service and Assistant Director, 
Governance 

 The Shared Audit and Investigation Service can offer confidential 
independent advice on the use of the Whistleblowing Policy.  If you suspect 
an employee, a member of the public or contractor (in their business 
dealings with the Council) of fraud or corruption you can contact the Shared 
Audit and Investigation Service who will discuss your concerns with you in 
complete confidence.  If you are in receipt of any allegation involving 
possible corruption, fraud or malpractice you should notify the Assistant 
Director, Governance immediately on 07747 777298. 

d) Director People Services  

 If you wish to raise a concern involving vulnerable children and adults, you 
can contact the Director of People Services to seek guidance on how to 
proceed. 

 

 

 

74



Chapter updated January 2018 

e) Schools 

 You should refer to the whistleblowing arrangements for the individual 
school. If it is not suitable for the school’s Governing Body to deal with, the 
concern should be raised with the Director of People Services (contact 
details above). 

9.5.3.1 

Advice and guidance on how matters of concern may be pursued can be obtained 
from: the Monitoring Officer (Assistant Director, Governance). 

 

9.5.4  Legal Protection  

The Public Interest Disclosure Act (PIDA) 1998 – sets out a framework of protection 
against victimisation or dismissal for workers who blow the whistle (“disclosure”) on 
criminal behaviour and other specified forms of malpractice.   

 

9.5.4.1 

It applies to making a ‘protected’ disclosure in respect of specific types of 
malpractice, which are: 

a) that a criminal offence has been committed, is being committed or is likely 
to be committed; 

b) that a person has failed, is failing or is likely to fail to comply with any legal 
obligation to which he is subject; 

c) that a miscarriage of justice has occurred, is occurring or is likely to occur; 

d) that the health or safety of any individual has been, is being or is likely to be 
endangered; 

e) that the environment has been, is being or is likely to be damaged; or 

f) that information tending to show any matter falling within any one of the 
preceding paragraphs has been, is being or is likely to be deliberately 
concealed. 

 

9.5.4.2 

The Act covers internal disclosures to the Wokingham Borough Council as the 
employer, disclosures to prescribed ‘persons’ such as regulatory bodies (e.g. for 
health and safety issues, the Health and Safety Executive), and wider disclosures, 
for example to the police and the media.   

 

9.5.5  Raising Concerns outside the Council 

In certain circumstances it may be appropriate to raise concerns outside the Council 
to the appropriate ‘prescribed regulator’. This should only be done where any 
disclosure of information that is made in the public interest and where you believe 
the information is true, i.e. more than just suspicion. You are advised to discuss your 
concerns with a legal advisor, trade union or Public Concern at Work before 

75



Chapter updated January 2018 

reporting them outside the Council. Examples of prescribed regulators are set out 
below: 

a) The Council’s external auditors (Ernst and Young);  

b) Information Commissioner; 

c) Environment Agency; 

d) Health and Safety Executive; 

e) Commissioner of the Inland Revenue; 

f) Ofsted; 

g) General Social Care Council; 

h) Care Quality Commission; 

i) The Commission for Social Care Inspection; and 

j) National Care Standards Commission. 

 

9.5.5.1 

As a last resort you may choose to raise your concern outside the Council to 
someone other than a prescribed regulator, e.g. to the police or your MP. You should 
only do this if, in addition to the conditions above, they meet one of three 
preconditions.  Provided the disclosure is reasonable in all the circumstances and is 
not made for personal gain, the preconditions are that you: 

a) reasonably believed that you would be victimised if you raised the matter 
internally within the Council; or 

b) reasonably believed that the matter would be ‘covered up’ and there is no 
prescribed regulator; or 

c) have already raised the matter internally or with a prescribed regulator. 

 

9.5.5.2 

It should be noted that wider disclosures (i.e. to the media) can only be protected 
where there is a justifiable cause for going wider and where the particular disclosure 
is reasonable. The Council therefore encourages concerns to be raised initially using 
one of the methods described in 9.5.3. 

 

9.5.6  Making a Protected Disclosure 

This policy is intended to allow the internal investigation and resolution of any 
concerns raised. In accordance with the PIDA 1998, to make a ‘protected’ disclosure 
the whistleblower has to meet certain conditions: 

a) A qualifying disclosure means any disclosure of information that, in the 
reasonable belief of the worker is made in the public interest. Therefore, 
while the employer can seek a declaration from the whistleblower that he or 
she is not knowingly making false allegations, disciplinary action is likely to 
be appropriate only where there is clear evidence that the reporting worker 
has misused the whistleblowing policy. 

76



Chapter updated January 2018 

b) Disclosure to a regulatory body will be protected where, in addition, the 
whistleblower honestly and reasonably believes that the information they 
provide and any allegation contained in it are substantially true. 

c) Disclosure to other external bodies will be protected if, in addition, making it 
is in all respects reasonable. ‘In all respects reasonable’ means, in effect 

i) the disclosure is not made for personal gain; 

ii) the whistleblower reasonably believed that they would be victimised if 
they raised the matter internally; 

iii) there is no relevant regulatory body; 

iv the whistleblower reasonably believed that evidence was likely to be 
concealed or destroyed; 

v) the concern has already been raised with the employer and/or 
relevant regulatory body; and 

vi) the concern is of an ‘exceptionally serious’ nature – which in a local 
government setting could include, say, the alleged abuse of children 
or vulnerable adults in an authority’s care. 

 

9.5.6.1 

This may be done orally or in writing. If you are writing, remember to give details of 
how you can be contacted. Anonymous disclosures present difficulties for effective 
investigation. Your  identity will be kept strictly confidential if you so request, unless 
disclosure is required by law. However, the Council recognises that despite the dual 
safeguards of confidentiality and legal protection from recrimination that individuals 
may still feel unable to reveal their identity. In these situations individuals can report 
their concerns anonymously, but should be aware that these concerns carry less 
weight with the investigation teams and the disclosure may not be sufficiently 
detailed to provide a successful investigation. 

 

9.5.6.2 

Allegations that are malicious, or allegations made for personal gain, may result in 
action against the person making them. If an allegation is made in the public interest, 
but is not confirmed by an investigation, no action will be taken against the person 
who raised the concern. 

 

9.5.6.3 

It is preferable that a whistleblowing concern be raised as soon as there is 
reasonable suspicion. Employees are not expected to investigate the matter 
themselves or prove that their concern is well-founded.  

 

  

77



Chapter updated January 2018 

9.5.6.4 

Anyone who has made a protected disclosure will not suffer any detriment as a result 
of raising their concern unless it is later proved that they knew they were providing 
false information.  In addition, whistleblowers are protected from suffering a 
detriment, bullying or harassment from another worker. 

Examples of detriment includes (but is not limited to): 

a) failure to promote, if linked to the disclosure; 

b) denial of training; 

c) closer monitoring; 

d) ostracism; 

e) blocking access to resources; 

f) unrequested re-assignment or re-location; 

g) demotion; 

h) suspension; 

i) disciplinary sanction; 

j) bullying or harassment; 

k) victimisation; 

l) dismissal; 

m) failure to provide an appropriate reference; or 

n) failing to investigate a subsequent concern. 

 

9.5.7  How will the Council respond? 

The action taken by the Council will depend on the nature of the concern. The 
matters raised may: 

a) be investigated internally; 

b) be referred to the Police; 

c) be referred to the external auditors (Ernst and Young); 

d) form the subject of an independent inquiry; or 

e) be considered a service issue and referred to the service to respond by any 
combination of the above.  

 

9.5.7.1 

In all cases, where a concern is raised, the contacted officer shall notify the 
Monitoring Officer (Assistant Director, Governance) and the Section 151 Officer 
(Director of Corporate Services).  These officers will assess the nature of the 
concern to decide the appropriate response. Some concerns may be resolved by 
agreed action without the need for investigation. Any investigation will be overseen 
by the Assistant Director, Governance.  

 

78



Chapter updated January 2018 

9.5.7.2 

Feedback on the outcome of the concern will be given to the person raising the 
concern. This feedback may be limited due to legal obligations of confidentiality (i.e. 
if disciplinary action is taken against a Council employee). The person raising a 
concern should normally be told: 

a) how and by whom a concern will be handled; 

b) an estimate of how long an investigation will take; 

c) the outcome of the investigation (where appropriate); 

d) that if they believe they are suffering detriment as a result of raising the 
concern that they should report it; 

e) that he or she is entitled to independent advice. 

 

9.5.8  What if I am dissatisfied with the Council’s response? 

This policy is intended to provide you with an avenue to raise concerns within the 
Council. However, if at the end of the process an employee of the Council, or any 
other person covered by the Act, is not satisfied with how a disclosure has been 
dealt with and wishes to pursue matters by means of a wider disclosure, the 
following points of contact are available to you: 

a) the Chairman of the Council’s Audit Committee 
b) your local Member (if you live in the area of the borough); 

c) the Council’s external auditors (Ernst and Young); 

d) relevant professional bodies or regulatory organisations; 

e) relevant inspection body; 

f) your solicitor; or 

g) the Police. 

 

9.5.8.1 

If you do decide to take the matter outside of the Council, you need to ensure that 
you do not disclose confidential information and that you are ‘protected’ in 
accordance with the PIDA 1998 (refer to 9.5.5). If you wish to raise a concern 
outside of the Council, you may raise it with an external body from the list of 
prescribed persons and bodies detailed in the ‘Department for Business Innovation & 
Skills ‘Blowing the Whistle to a Prescribed Person’ document: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/blowing-the-whistle-list-of-prescribed-
people-and-bodies--2 

9.5.9  Further information and advice 

Independent advice on ‘whistleblowing’ can also be obtained from: 

Public Concern at Work 3rd Floor, Bank Chambers, 6 - 10 Borough High Street, 
London, SE1 9QQ 

Whistleblowing Advice Line: 020 7404 6609  General enquiries: 020 3117 2520 

Email: whistle@pcaw.org.uk 

79

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/blowing-the-whistle-list-of-prescribed-people-and-bodies--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/blowing-the-whistle-list-of-prescribed-people-and-bodies--2
mailto:whistle@pcaw.org.uk


Chapter updated January 2018 

Ernst and Young 
Helen Thompson  

Wessex House, 19 Threefield Lane, Southampton, SO14 3QB, United Kingdom  

hthompson2@uk.ey.com 
07974 007332 
 

Professional Body or Trade Union 

If you are a member of a professional body or trade union they should be able to 
advise you on Whistleblowing. 

80

mailto:hthompson2@uk.ey.com


Page reviewed December 20175February 2018 

 

 

CHAPTER 9.6 - ANTI-BRIBERY POLICY 
 
9.6.1  Policy Statement: Anti-Bribery   
Bribery is a criminal offence.  We do not, and will not, pay bribes or offer improper 
inducements to anyone for any purpose, nor do we or will we, accept bribes or improper 
inducements. 
 
9.6.1.1 
To use a third party as a conduit to channel bribes to others is a criminal offence.  We do 
not, and will not, engage indirectly in or otherwise encourage bribery. 
 
9.6.1.2 
We are committed to the prevention, deterrence and detection of bribery.  We have zero-
tolerance towards bribery.  We aim to maintain anti-bribery compliance “business as 
usual”, rather than as a one-off exercise. 
 
9.6.2  Objective of this policy 
This policy provides a coherent and consistent framework to enable Wokingham Borough 
Council employees to understand and implement arrangements enabling compliance.   In 
conjunction with related policies and key documents it will also enable employees to 
identify and effectively report a potential breach. 
 
We require that all personnel including those permanently employed, temporary agency 
staff and contractors: 
 

a) act honestly and with integrity at all times and to safeguard the Council’s 
resources for which they are responsible; and 

 
b) comply with the spirit, as well as the letter, of the laws and regulations of all 

jurisdictions in which the Council operates, in respect of the lawful and 
responsible conduct of activities. 

 
9.6.3  Scope of this policy 
This policy applies to all of the Council’s activities.  For partners, joint ventures and 
suppliers, we will seek to promote the adoption of policies consistent with the principles set 
out in this policy. 
 
9.6.3.1 
Within the Council, the responsibility to control the risk of bribery occurring resides at all 
levels, in every service. 
 
9.6.3.2 
This policy covers all personnel, including all levels and grades, those permanently 
employed, temporary agency staff, contractors, non-executives, agents, Members 
(including independent members), volunteers and consultants. 
 
 
 

81



Page updated February 2018 

 

 

9.6.4  Commitment 
Wokingham Borough Council commits to: 
 

a) setting out a clear anti-bribery policy and keeping it up to date; 
 
b) making all employees aware of their responsibilities to adhere strictly to this 

policy at all times; 
 
c) training all employees so that they can recognise and avoid the use of bribery by 

themselves and others; 
 
d) encouraging its employees to be vigilant and to report any suspicions of bribery, 

providing them with suitable channels of communication and ensuring sensitive 
information is treated appropriately; 

 
e) rigorously investigating instances of alleged bribery and assisting police and 

other appropriate authorities in any resultant prosecution; 
 
f) taking firm and vigorous action against any individual(s) involved in bribery; 
 
g) provide information to all employees to report breaches and suspected breaches 

of this policy; 
 
h) include appropriate clauses in contacts to prevent bribery. 

 
9.6.5  The Bribery Act 
The Council defines bribery as ‘an inducement or reward offered, promised or provided to 
gain personal, commercial, regulatory or contractual advantage’. 
 
9.6.5.1 
There are four key offences under the Act: 
 

a) bribery of another person (section 1); 
 
b) accepting a bribe (section 2); 
 
c) bribing a foreign official (section 6); and 
 
d) failing to prevent bribery (section 7). 

 
9.6.5.2 
The Bribery Act 2010 (http://www.opsi.gov.uk/acts/acts2010/ukpga_20100023_en_1) 
makes it an offence to offer, promise or give a bribe (Section 1). It also makes it an offence 
to request, agree to receive, or accept a bribe (Section 2).  Section 6 of the Act creates a 
separate offence of bribing a foreign public official with the intention of obtaining or 
retaining business or an advantage in the conduct of business.  There is also a corporate 
offence under Section 7 of failure by a commercial organisation to prevent bribery that is 
intended to obtain or retain business, or an advantage in the conduct of business, for the 
organisation.  An organisation will have a defence to this corporate offence if it can show 
that it had in place adequate procedures designed to prevent bribery by or of persons 
associated with the organisation. 

82

http://www.opsi.gov.uk/acts/acts2010/ukpga_20100023_en_1


Page updated February 2018 

 

 

9.6.5.3 
The guidance states that a “commercial organisation” is any body formed in the United 
Kingdom and “...it does not matter if it pursues primarily charitable or educational aims or 
purely public functions.  It will be caught if it engages in commercial activities, irrespective 
of the purpose for which profits are made.” Therefore, we are a “commercial organisation”. 
 
9.6.6  Adequate procedures 
Whether the procedures are adequate will ultimately be a matter for the courts to decide 
on a case-by-case basis.  Adequate procedures need to be applied proportionately, based 
on the level of risk of bribery in the organisation.  It is for individual organisations to 
determine proportionate procedures in the recommended areas of six principals.  These 
principles are not prescriptive.  They are intended to be flexible and outcome focussed, 
allowing for the different circumstances of organisations.  Small organisations will, for 
example, face different challenges to those faced by large multi-national enterprises.  The 
detail of how organisations apply these principles will vary, but the outcome should always 
be robust and effective anti-bribery procedures. 
 
9.6.7  Proportionate procedures 
An organisation’s procedures to prevent bribery by persons associated with it are 
proportionate to the bribery risks it faces and to the nature, scale and complexity of the 
organisation’s activities.  They are also clear, practical, accessible, effectively implemented 
and enforced. 
 
9.6.8  Top level commitment 
The Chief Executive, Directors and Members are committed to preventing bribery by 
persons associated with it.  Bribery is never acceptable. 
 
9.6.9  Risk Assessment 
The Council will assess the nature and extent of its exposure to potential external and 
internal risks of bribery on its behalf by persons associated with it.  The assessment is 
periodic, informed and documented.  It includes financial risks but also other risks such as 
reputational damage. 
 
9.6.10  Due diligence 
The Council applies due diligence procedures, taking a proportionate and risk based 
approach, in respect of persons who perform or will perform services for or on behalf of the 
organisation, in order to mitigate identified bribery risks. 
 
9.6.11  Communication (including training) 
The Council seeks to ensure that its bribery prevention policies and procedures are 
embedded and understood throughout the organisation through internal and external 
communication, including training that is proportionate to the risks it faces. 
 
9.6.12  Monitoring and review 
The Council monitors and reviews procedures designed to prevent bribery by persons 
associated with it and makes improvements where necessary.  Wokingham Borough 
Council is committed to proportional implementation of these principles. 
 
9.6.13  Penalties 
An individual guilty of an offence under sections 1, 2 or 6 is liable: 

83



Page updated February 2018 

 

 

a) on conviction in a magistrates court, to imprisonment for a maximum term of 12 
months (six months in Northern Ireland), or to a fine not exceeding £5,000, or to 
both; 

 
b) on conviction in a crown court, to imprisonment for a maximum term of ten years, 

or to an unlimited fine, or both. 
 
Organisations are liable for these fines and if guilty of an offence under section 7 are liable 
to an unlimited fine. 
 
9.6.14  Bribery is not tolerated 
It is unacceptable to: 
 

a) give, promise to give, or offer a payment, gift or hospitality with the expectation or 
hope that a business advantage will be received, or to reward a business 
advantage already given; 

 
b) give, promise to give, or offer a payment, gift or hospitality to a government 

official, agent or representative to "facilitate" or expedite a routine procedure; 
 
c) accept payment from a third party that you know or suspect is offered with the 

expectation that it will obtain a business advantage for them; 
 
d) accept a gift or hospitality from a third party if you know or suspect that it is 

offered or provided with an expectation that a business advantage will be 
provided by us in return; 

 
e) retaliate against or threaten a person who has refused to commit a bribery 

offence or who has raised concerns under this policy; 
 
f) engage in activity in breach of this policy. 

 
9.6.15  Facilitation payments 
Facilitation payments are unofficial payments made to public officials in order to secure or 
expedite actions.  Facilitation payments are not tolerated and are illegal. 
 
9.6.16  Gifts and hospitality 
The Council’s Gifts and hospitality policy is included in the Code of Conduct - Employees 
must ensure: 
 

a) when acting in an official capacity they must not give the impression that their 
conduct both inside and outside work with any person or organisation is 
influenced by the receipt of gifts, rewards and hospitality or any other such 
consideration; 

 
b) they think about the circumstances in which offers are made and are aware that 

they may be regarded as owing a favour in return; 
 
c) they have permission from their line managers before accepting such offers and 

are aware that the offers may have to be returned or refused; 

84



Page updated November 2014February 2018 

 

d) that when gifts or hospitality have to be declined those making the offer should 
be courteously but firmly informed of the procedures and standards operating 
within the Council; and 

 
e) all offers whether or not accepted must be recorded in the Gifts and Hospitality 

register. 
 
9.6.16.1 
How an employee should react to an offer depends on the type of offer, the relationship 
between the parties involved and the circumstances in which the gift or hospitality is 
offered: 
 

a) employees must not be seen to be acting in their own personal interests and 
need to be careful that their behaviour cannot be misinterpreted; 

 
b) when receiving authorised gifts/hospitality, employees should be particularly 

sensitive as to its timing in relation to decisions which the Council may be taking 
affecting those providing the hospitality; 

 
c) an offer of a bribe or commission made by contractors, their agents or by a 

member of the public must be reported to the line manager and the Head of 
Governance and Improvement Services.  Hospitality from contractors should also 
be avoided where employees/team are singled out for example Christmas lunch 
etc, this may be perceived as preferential treatment; and 

 
d) employees must not accept significant personal gifts from the contractors and 

outside suppliers, although the Council may wish to allow employees to keep 
insignificant items of token value such as pens, diaries, etc not exceeding the 
value of £25.  The most common form of gift is the offer of wine and chocolates 
etc.  In general these are shared out among colleagues and provided the offers 
are reasonable, for example a single bottle of wine, they may be accepted.  It is 
important that all offers are recorded in the Gifts/Hospitality Register including 
those that are offered and not accepted.  Directors should remind their staff of the 
process to be followed with regards to gifts and hospitality. 

 
9.6.16.2 
No one working for, employed by, or providing services on behalf of the Council is to 
make, or encourage another to make any personal gain out of its activities in any way.  
Any person becoming aware of a personal gain being made at the expense of the Council, 
contractors or the public should follow the Whistleblowing procedures on the Council’s 
intranet (Grapevine). 
 
9.6.16.3 
Employees may only accept offers of hospitality if there is a genuine need to impart 
information or represent the Council in the community.  Offers to attend purely social or 
sporting functions may only be accepted when these are part of the life of the community 
or where the authority should be seen to be represented.  All hospitality must be properly 
authorised and recorded in the Gifts/Hospitality Register.   

85



Page updated February 2018 

 

 

9.6.16.4 
Employees may accept hospitality when attending relevant conferences and courses 
where it is clear the hospitality is corporate rather than personal, where consent is given in 
advance and where it is satisfied that any purchasing decisions are not compromised.  
Where visits to inspect equipment, etc. are required, employees must ensure that their 
service meets the cost of such visits to avoid putting at risk the integrity of subsequent 
purchasing decisions.  
 
9.6.16.5 
The acceptance of gifts and hospitality may be a subject of criticism placing the Council in 
a position that it has to defend such action.  Consequently, it is essential that all offers and 
details of gifts and hospitality be recorded in the Gifts & Hospitality Register which will be 
held by the Director or nominated Manager. 
 
9.6.17  Public contracts and failure to prevent bribery 
Under the Public Contracts Regulations 2006 (which gives effect to EU law in the UK), a 
company is automatically and perpetually debarred from competing for public contracts 
where it is convicted of a corruption offence.  There are no plans to amend the 2006 
Regulations for this to include the crime of failure to prevent bribery.  Organisations that 
are convicted of failing to prevent bribery are not automatically barred from participating in 
tenders for public contracts.  This organisation has the discretion to exclude organisations 
convicted of this offence. 
 
9.6.18  Staff responsibilities 
The prevention, detection and reporting of bribery and other forms of corruption are the 
responsibility of all those working for the Council or under its control.  All staff are required 
to avoid activity that breaches this policy. 
 
Staff must: 
 

a) ensure that they read, understand and comply with this policy; and 
 
b) raise concerns as soon as possible if you believe or suspect that a conflict with 

this policy has occurred, or may occur in the future. 
 
As well as the possibility of civil and criminal prosecution, staff that breach this policy will 
face disciplinary action, which could result in dismissal for gross misconduct. 
 
9.6.19  Raising a concern 
The Council is committed to ensuring that we all have a safe, reliable, and confidential way 
of reporting any suspicious activity.  We want each and every member of staff to know how 
they can raise concerns.  We all have a responsibility to help detect, prevent and report 
instances of bribery.  If you have a concern regarding a suspected instance of bribery or 
corruption, please speak up – your information and assistance will help.  The sooner you 
act, the sooner it can be resolved. 
 
9.6.19.1 
There are multiple channels to help you raise concerns – these are explained in the 
Whistleblowing Policy.  Staff who refuse to accept or offer a bribe, or those who raise 
concerns or report wrongdoing can understandably be worried about the repercussions.  
We aim to encourage openness and will support anyone who raises a genuine concern in 
good faith under this policy, even if they turn out to be mistaken.

86



Page updated February 2018 

 

 

9.6.19.2 
We are committed to ensuring nobody suffers detrimental treatment through refusing to 
take part in bribery or corruption, or because of reporting a concern in good faith.  If you 
have any questions about these procedures, please contact Andrew Moulton, Assistant 
Director of Governance,  
 
9.6.20  Other relevant WBC policies 
Anti-Fraud and Anti-Corruption Ppolicy, Anti-Money Laundering Ppolicy, Whistleblowing 
Ppolicy, Code of Conduct and Finance, Procurement and Contract Regulations. 

 

87



This page is intentionally left blank



Page reviewed December 20175February 2018 

 

CHAPTER 9.7 - ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING POLICY 
 
9.7.1  Introduction 
Money laundering legislation requires local authorities to establish internal procedures to 
prevent the use of their services for money laundering.  Money laundering legislation in the 
UK is primarily governed by the following legislation: 
 

a) the Terrorism Act 2000; 
 
b) the Anti-Terrorist Crime & Security Act 2001; 
 
c) the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002; 
 
d) Serious Organised Crime and Police Act 2005; and 
 
e) the Money Laundering Regulations 2007. 

 
9.7.2  Scope of the Policy 
This Policy applies to all employees and contractors of the Council.  The Policy sets out 
the procedures that must be followed to enable the Council to comply with its legal 
obligations. 
 
9.7.2.1 
Staff should report any suspicions to the appointed Money Laundering Reporting Officer 
(MLRO) (see section 5.0) and it is for the MLRO to consider if the circumstances warrant 
the completion of a ‘suspicious activity report’ (SAR), which is sent to the National Crime 
Agency. 
 
Failure by a member of staff to comply with the procedures set out in this Policy may lead 
to disciplinary action being taken against them in accordance with the Council's 
Disciplinary procedures.   
 
9.7.3  What is Money Laundering? 
The legislation is not limited to major organised crimes, but covers proceeds of all crimes, 
however small.  The primary money laundering offences and thus prohibited acts under 
the legislation are: 
 

a) concealing, disguising, converting, transferring criminal property or removing it 
from the UK (section 327 of the 2002 Act); or 

 
b) entering into or becoming concerned in an arrangement which you know or 

suspect facilitates the acquisition, retention, use or control of criminal property by 
or on behalf of another person (section 328 of the 2002 Act); or 

 
c) acquiring, using or possessing criminal property (section 329 of the 2002 Act); or 
 
d) becoming concerned in an arrangement facilitating concealment, removal from 

the jurisdiction, transfer to nominees or any other retention or control of terrorist 
property (section 18 of the Terrorist Act 2000); or 

 
e) failing to disclose suspected money laundering. 

89



Page reviewed December 20175February 2018 

 

9.7.3.1 
The defence to these offences is to make an ‘authorised disclosure’ to an approved 
person.  Approved persons are Customs Officers, Police Officers and the Council’s MLRO 
(see 9.7.6. below). 
 
9.7.4  Suspicious Activity 
Some indications of suspicious activity are: 
 

a) any unusually large cash payment; 
 
b) any overpayment or duplicate payment in cash where the refund is requested by 

cheque; or 
 
c) if a ‘third party’ is involved in any transaction (e.g. someone paying cash to settle 

someone else’s bill.) 
 
9.7.4.1 
The Council should be alert to large amounts of “Cash” accepted as a payment, which 
would normally arouse suspicion.  
 
9.7.4.2 
Officers involved in Treasury Management and cashiering activities are the most likely to 
encounter attempts to launder money but all staff should be alert to the possibilities. 
 
9.7.4.3 
All organisations and each individual is required by law to try to prevent and to report any 
attempts to ‘launder’ money (i.e. to use the proceeds of crime in apparently legitimate 
business transactions). 
 
9.7.4.4 
Potentially any member of staff could be caught by the money laundering provisions if they 
suspect money laundering and either become involved with it in some way and/or do 
nothing about it. 
 
9.7.5  The Council’s Obligations 
Organisations conducting “relevant business” must:  
 

a) appoint a MLRO to receive disclosures from employees of money laundering 
activity (their own or anyone else’s); 

 
b) implement a procedure to enable the reporting of suspicions of money 

laundering; 
 
c) maintain client identification procedures in certain circumstances; and 
 
d) maintain record keeping procedures. 
 
 

90



Page reviewed December 20175February 2018 

 

9.7.6  The Money Laundering Reporting Officer (MLRO)  
If you have any suspicions, you must contact the MLRO. The Council’s nominated MLRO 
is the Section 151 Officer (Deputy Chief Executive and Director of Corporate Services 
Finance and Resources), (Email Graham.Ebers@wokingham.gov.uk  or telephone 0118 
974 6557).   
 
9.7.7  Disclosure Procedure 
Reporting to the MLRO: Where you know or suspect that money laundering activity is 
taking/has taken place, or become concerned that your involvement in a matter may 
amount to a prohibited act under the legislation, you must disclose this as soon as 
practicable to the MLRO.  The disclosure should be within “hours” of the information 
coming to your attention, not weeks or months later. SHOULD YOU NOT DO SO, YOU 
MAY BE LIABLE TO PROSECUTION.  
 
9.7.7.1 
Once you have reported the matter to the MLRO you must follow any directions they may 
give you. You must NOT make any further enquiries into the matter yourself. 
 
9.7.7.2 
Similarly, at no time and under no circumstances should you voice any suspicions to the 
person(s) whom you suspect of money laundering, without the specific consent of the 
MLRO; otherwise you may commit a criminal offence of “tipping off”.  Do not, therefore, 
make any reference on a client file to a report having been made to the MLRO – should 
the client exercise their right to see the file, then such a note will obviously tip them off to 
the report having been made and may render you liable to prosecution.  The MLRO will 
keep the appropriate records in a confidential manner. 
 
9.7.7.3 
On receipt of the disclosure the MLRO will: 
 

a) consider the report and make such further enquiries as are necessary to form a 
view on whether a person is engaged in money laundering; 

 
b) consider all other relevant information in making this judgement; 
 
c) ensure that nothing is done which could alert the person or business concerned 

that a report and an investigation could ensue; 
 
d) make a report to National Crime Agency, if appropriate, making full notes of the 

reasons for doing so; 
 
e) co-operate with any enquiries made by the proper authorities; and 
 
f) maintain all records of disclosures and reports for at least five years. 

 
9.7.8  Client Identification Procedure 
Each unit of the Council conducting relevant business where a business relationship is to 
be established and an account is to be opened or a one-off transaction or series of linked 
transactions amounting to 15,000 Euros (approximately £10,000) or more must maintain 
procedures which:

91

mailto:Graham.Ebers@wokingham.gov.uk


Page reviewed December 20175February 2018 

 

a) require satisfactory evidence of the identity of both internal and external 
clients at the outset of the matter; 

 
b) require that if satisfactory evidence of identity is not obtained at the outset 

of the matter then the business relationship or one off transaction(s) cannot 
precede any further; 

 
c) recognise the greater potential for money laundering when the client is not 

present; and 
 
d) require that where a client appears to act for another that reasonable 

measures are taken to establish the identity of that person. 
 
Staff involved in Treasury Management should ensure that all dealings are carried 
out in accordance with the Treasury Management Strategy and Treasury 
Management Policies which ensure that transactions are only undertaken with 
approved counterparties. 
 
9.7.9  Record Keeping Procedures 
Each unit of the Council conducting relevant business must maintain records for at 
least five years of: 
 

a) client identification evidence obtained; and  
 
b) details of all relevant business transactions carried out for clients  

 
The precise nature of the records is not prescribed by law, however, they must be 
capable of providing an audit trail.  
 
9.7.10  Further Information and Advice 
For any further information or guidance, please contact the MLRO: 
 
Graham Ebers (Deputy Chief Executive and Director of Corporate Services) 
0118 974 6557 or 
email Graham.Ebers@wokingham.gov.uk  
 

92

mailto:Graham.Ebers@wokingham.gov.uk


Page reviewed December 20175February 2018 

011599-MS/624187 Page 1 
 

CHAPTER 9.8 - PROSECUTION AND SANCTION POLICY 
 

9.8.1 Introduction 
Wokingham Borough Council (The Council) will prosecute any person who commits a criminal 
offence against the systems, processes and functions of the Council and/or assaults or threatens 
any member or employee of the Council, if there is sufficient evidence and if, in the opinion of the 
council, it is in the public interest to do so. 
 

9.8.1.1 
When deciding if it is in the public interest, all officers authorised to decide whether to prosecute 
on behalf of the Council will be guided by the Code for Crown Prosecutors. Whenever it is 
appropriate, the Council will consider offering other sanctions as an alternative to prosecution. 
 

9.8.1.2 
The Council will consider each case on its own merits before deciding whether or not to 
prosecute. If it is the case that the Council has suffered a material/financial loss, it may take 
separate action to stop further payments/ recover money, irrespective of whether it decides to 
take criminal proceedings, and where steps to prevent further losses or recover losses already 
incurred are not available or desirable in the course of any criminal proceedings.  
 

9.8.2 Alternatives to Prosecution - Cautions 
In the issuing of Cautions the council will be guided by the relevant statutory Guidance, currently 
the Ministry of Justice – Simple Caution for Adult Offender guidance.  
 

9.8.3 Alternatives to Prosecution - Statutory Sanctions 
The Council may consider a Statutory Sanction, whether a monetary penalty or otherwise, as an 
alternative to prosecution for an offence where the imposition or offer of such a sanction for the 
specified offence or offences is prescribed by law. 
 

9.8.4 Code for Crown Prosecutors – The Evidential Test 
When making a decision on whether to prosecute, the Council will first consider whether there is 
sufficient evidence: 
 

a) is there sufficient evidence of the commission of an offence to provide a realistic 
prospect of conviction? And 

 
b) is the evidence reliable and able to be used in court? 

 

9.8.5 Code for Crown Prosecutors – The Public Interest Test 
Once the Evidential Test has been satisfied, the Council will then consider whether the Public 
Interest Test is satisfied. The Public Interest Test will be assessed following the guidance in the 
“Code for Crown Prosecutors” to ensure that any prosecution is in the public interest.  
 

9.8.6 Other Sanctions or Penalties 
Where a person engages in conduct which is not criminal, but is otherwise prohibited by legal 
statue or regulation applicable to the functions of the Council, or fails in their legal obligation to the 
Council, the Council may consider the imposition or offer of a sanction or monetary penalty where 
to impose a monetary penalty or sanction for the given circumstances is prescribed by law. 

 
  
 

 

93



This page is intentionally left blank



 
  

 
 

 

WOKINGHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL 

POLICY  

ON THE ACQUISITION OF COMMUNICATIONS DATA, 

 AND USE OF COVERT SURVEILLANCE  

AND COVERT HUMAN INTELLIGENCE SOURCES 

(REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 2000) 

 

Statement 

Officers and employees of (and contractors working on behalf of) 
Wokingham Borough Council may, in the course of their investigatory, 
regulatory and enforcement duties, need to make observations of persons in 
a covert manner, to use a Covert Human Intelligence Source or to acquire 
Communications Data.  These techniques may be needed whether the 
subject of the investigation is a member of the public, the owner of a 
business or a Council employee.  
 
By its very nature, this sort of action is potentially intrusive and so it is 
extremely important that there is a very strict control on what is appropriate 
and that, where such action is needed, it is properly regulated in order to 
comply with Legislation and to protect the individual’s rights of privacy. 

Privacy is a right, but in any democratic society, it is not an absolute right.  
The right to a private and family life, as set out in the European Convention 
on Human Rights, must be balanced with the right of other citizens to live 
safely and freely, which is the most basic function that every citizen looks to 
the state to perform.  

Drawing on the principles set out in the Regulation of Investigatory Powers 
Act 2000 and the Data Protection Act 1998, this policy sets out the Royal 
Borough’s approach to Covert Surveillance, the use of Covert Human 
Intelligence Sources and the acquisition of Communications Data.   

The policy also sets out Members’ oversight of this area, adopts a set of 
procedures and appoints appropriate officers to ensure that these areas are 
properly controlled and regulated.  

 

  

95



Wokingham Borough Council 
Policy on the Acquisition of Communications Data, and the use of Covert Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Sources 

1 

 

 
Policy 
 
1.1 It is the policy of Wokingham Borough Council (the Council) that all Covert Surveillance, the 

use of Covert Human Intelligence Sources (informants) and the acquisition of 
Communications Data by those working for or on behalf of this Council (investigators) will be 
carried out in accordance with this policy and the associated procedure (the RIPA 
Procedure).  Any member, officer or employee who deliberately or recklessly breaches this 
policy will normally be considered to have committed an act of gross misconduct and will be 
dealt with accordingly. 

 
1.2 In so far as the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) allows, Covert Surveillance 

and the use of Covert Human Intelligence Sources (informants) will always be subject to the 
RIPA application process.  (This does NOT affect monitoring activities where the actions 
undertaken do not amount to covert surveillance.)  Where officers wish to undertake covert 
surveillance or use informants but where RIPA is not available, a similar process of 
considering the proportionality and necessity of any such activities must be carried out 
before the activities are undertaken and approval gained from a RIPA authorising officer. 

 
1.3 When acquiring Communications Data officers are instructed to use the RIPA process, as 

amended by the Investigatory Powers Act 2016, unless they are doing so with the consent of 
the data subject.  Communications data may only be obtained using RIPA powers for the 
purposes of investigating a criminal offence. 

 
Appointments 
1.4 The Council appoints the Chief Executive as the Senior Authorising Officer (SAO) and 

Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) for all purposes under RIPA. 
 
1.5 The Council appoints the Assistant Director, Governance as the RIPA Monitoring Officer 

(RMO) to monitor the use of covert techniques within this Council (whether using the RIPA or 
non-RIPA processes) and reports to members on the activities the policy covers.  They are 
also directed to ensure that appropriate training is made available to Authorising Officers 
(AOs) and applicants when it is required. 

 
1.6 The Council directs that only those appointed by this policy as AOs may authorise covert 

surveillance, the use of informants or the acquisition of communications data.  
 
1.7 The Council appoints Directors and Assistant Directors to meet the training criteria. In 

addition, there are identified officers trained as AOs, subject to a maximum number of six 
(including the SAO).  The Council instructs the RMO to maintain a list of all those currently 
authorised as part of the RIPA Procedures. 

 
1.8 The Council directs the SAO to appoint such persons as he may from time to time see fit to 

be Single Points of Contact (SPOC) (or to make such other arrangements as he deems 
appropriate) for the purposes of acquiring communications data by the use of RIPA. 

 
1.9 In order for the Council’s RIPA authorisations to take effect, they must be approved by a 

Magistrate.  The chief legal officer is instructed to authorise all those who may need to apply 
to a Magistrate to appear for that purpose for the Council. The RMO is directed to maintain a 
list, as part of the RIPA Procedures, of all those so authorised. 

 

96



Wokingham Borough Council 
Policy on the Acquisition of Communications Data, and the use of Covert Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Sources 

2 

 

Oversight and Reporting 
1.10 The RMO shall report to elected Members on the use of RIPA regulated activity by officers of 

the Council every six  months.  Such a report shall be presented to the Members (or to such 
a sub-committee as the full council shall deem appropriate to constitute for oversight 
purposes) by the RMO and the SRO.  The report must not contain any information that 
identifies specific persons or operations but must be clear about the nature of the operations 
carried out and the product obtained. 

 
1.11 Alongside this report, the RMO and SRO will report details of ‘Non-RIPA’ surveillance in 

precisely the same fashion. 
 
1.12 Elected Members shall have oversight of the Council’s policy and shall review that policy 

annually should it be deemed by the RMO that significant changes have been made..  At that 
review (or following any six-monthly report) elected Members shall make such amendments 
as they deem necessary to the Council’s policy, and may give such directions as they deem 
necessary to the RMO and SRO in order to ensure that the Council’s policy is followed. 

 
1.13 Elected Members shall not interfere in individual authorisations.  Their function is to, with 

reference to the reports, satisfy themselves that the Council’s policy is robust and that it is 
being followed by all officers involved in this area.  Although it is elected members who 
are accountable to the public for council actions, it is essential that there should be 
no possibility of political interference in law enforcement operations. 

 
RIPA Procedures 
1.14 The RMO is instructed to create a set of procedures that provide instruction and guidance for 

the use of surveillance and informants, and the acquisition of communications data.  They 
are further instructed to maintain and update the RIPA Procedures, ensuring that they 
continue to be both lawful and examples of best practice.   

 
1.15 The reference to ‘maintain and update’ in this section includes the duty to remove AOs from 

the list if they cease to be employed in a relevant role or if they no longer satisfy the 
requirements to be an AO, and the right to add names to that list so long as (a) they satisfy 
the policy and regulatory requirements and (b) at no time does the number of AOs exceed 
six. 

 
1.16 If a change is required, in the opinion of the RMO, in order to comply with this part, they are 

authorised to make that change without prior approval from any person. 
 
1.17 The RMO must report any changes made under this section to Members when they 

undertake their annual oversight of the Policy, as set out above.  
  
1.18 All managers are required to ensure that their staff understand that covert investigation 

techniques may only be used in accordance with this policy and the associated procedures. 
 
Training 
1.19 In accordance with this Code of Practice, AOs must receive full training in the use of their 

powers.  They must be assessed at the end of the training, to ensure competence, and must 
undertake refresher training at least every two years. Training will be arranged by the RMO. 
Designated AOs who do not meet the required standard, or who exceed the training 
intervals, are prohibited from authorising applications until they have met the requirements of 
this paragraph.  AOs must have an awareness of appropriate investigative techniques, Data 
Protection and Human Rights Legislation.  

 
 
 
 
 

97



Wokingham Borough Council 
Policy on the Acquisition of Communications Data, and the use of Covert Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Sources 

3 

 

1.20 Those officers who actually carry out surveillance work must be adequately trained prior to 
any surveillance being undertaken. A corporate training programme will be developed to 
ensure that AOs and staff undertaking relevant investigations are fully aware of the 
legislative framework. 
 

1.21 Senior management who have no direct involvement with covert investigation will undertake 
a briefing at least biannually, to ensure that they have a good understanding of the activities 
that might fall into the definition of covert investigation techniques. 

 
Exceptions, Notes and Complaints 
1.22 CCTV cameras operated by this Council are NOT covered by this policy, unless they are 

used in a way that constitutes covert surveillance; only under those circumstances must the 
provisions of this policy and the RIPA Procedures be followed.   

 
1.23 Interception of communications, if it is done as part of normal business practice, does NOT 

fall into the definition of acquisition of communications data.  (This includes, but is not limited 
to opening of post for distribution, logging of telephone calls, for the purpose of cost 
allocation, reimbursement, benchmarking, etc.; logging E Mails and internet access for the 
purpose of private reimbursement.) 

 
1.24 If any person wishes to make a complaint about anything to which this policy applies is 

invited to use the Council’s Complaints Procedure.  Any complaint received will be treated as 
serious and investigated in line with this Council’s policy on complaints.  Regardless of this, 
the detail of an operation, or indeed its existence, must never be admitted to as part of 
a complaint. This does not mean it will not be investigated, just that the result of any 
investigation would be entirely confidential and not disclosed to the complainant. 

 
Adoption and Amendment of the Policy 
1.25 This version of the Policy was agreed prior to its adoption being recommended to Council via 

the Constitution Review Group on 7 February 2018 after which it came into immediate effect.  
It replaces all previous policies on these subjects.   

 

 

98



PROCUREMENT AND CONTRACTS RULES AND PROCEDURES 

1 Purpose and Significance 

1.1 These Procurement and Contract Rules and Procedures (“PCRPs”) provide a compliance framework 
for managing the Council’s expenditure on goods, services and works and are, in effect, the 
instructions of the Council to ALL officers for undertaking expenditure on behalf of the Council. For 
the avoidance of doubt: responsible individuals (2.3.1) must not commit to expenditure unless 
these PCRPs have been followed. 

These procurement rules and procedures are made in accordance with section 135 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 

1.2 As money spent by the Council is public money, the purpose of these PCRPs is to ensure that the 
Council: 

 purchases goods, services and works of the appropriate quality for its needs 

 uses resources efficiently and obtains value for money in its purchasing decisions 

 furthers its corporate objectives, including collaboration with other authorities 

 is open, fair, transparent and fully compliant with EU public procurement legislation and UK Law, 
as laid out in the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (“PCR2015”) 

 helps to safeguard against fraud, bribery, corruption and dishonesty 

1.3 Failure to follow these PCRPs for all procurement decisions and processes will undermine the 
achievement of the objectives in 1.2. Additionally, in an increasingly litigious and regulated 
environment, non-compliance is seen as an increased risk; including the likelihood of greater 
exposure to claims from suppliers, as well as heavy fines and non-financial penalties from 
regulatory authorities. 

1.4 The PCRPs detailed here should guide users through the processes to follow for any procurement. 
However, they are not intended to be a ‘how to’ guide; they signpost relevant policies, guidance 
and legislation and whenever specific advice is needed, consult the: 

 Procurement team (via your Procurement Business Partner) (part of Strategy & Commissioning 
Support) for day-to-day advice in respect of the operation of these rules and procedures 

 Shared Legal Solutions (“SLS”) team for advice on issues of precedence and the law relating to 
Council contracts. 

1.5 There is a series of policies, which should be read in conjunction with these PCRPs. They may be 
updated from time to time but will always constitute a key component of the PCRPs. See Appendix 
2 for a list of applicable policies and Section 5 below for an explanation of other associated 
documentation. 

  

99

file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23Procurement
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23PCR2015
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23SLS


2 General Principles 

2.1 Application and Scope  

2.1.1 The PCRPs apply to all Council expenditures on goods, services and works. For the avoidance of 
doubt, ‘services’ includes: 

 services of external consultants or temporary workers through external agencies 

 the purchasing of services for individuals, including social care and children’s services, (e.g.: a 
package of care or a foster placement) 

 when we increase volume on a spot contract or go beyond a block contract and for extensions, 
i.e.: existing arrangements (see Section 2.2 Estimating Contract Value) 

 Service Level Agreements (“SLAs”); Memorandums of Understanding (“MoUs”); Grants that are 
awarded by the Council with certain conditions or outcomes attached 

2.1.2 The PCRPs do not apply to contracts for: 

 the appointment of permanent or fixed-term employees 

 the purchase/rental or sale of any interest in land, existing buildings or other immovable 
property. These are covered in the Finance Regulations 12.1.5.13. 

 MoUs and Grants that are awarded by the Council without particular conditions or outcomes 
attached. 

2.1.3 Maintained schools are required by Section 48 of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998 to 
comply with the LEA’s Financial Scheme; which, in turn, refers to the Council’s Finance Regulations 
and PCRPs. Schools also need to have regard to the current School Governance Regulations. 

2.1.4 Council owned trading companies are required to use these PCRPs for all procurement activities 
undertaken; adapting them as required (with advice from Procurement where appropriate) to meet 
their own governance arrangements. Teckal arrangements have now been codified into PCR2015 
but the interpretation can be complex; contact Procurement for advice. 

2.2 Estimating Contract Value 

All contract opportunities are required to state a total ascertainable value (or a value range) so that 
potential suppliers can assess their suitability for the opportunity and the appropriate procurement 
process can be utilised. The estimate includes both revenue and capital elements of any contract. 
There are several requirements in PCR2015 (Regulation 6) that specify how the value of the 
opportunity should be calculated. 
Where no definition of total value is possible, the estimated contract value shall be calculated as 24 
x the monthly value. 
Refer to the Estimate of Value document and contact Procurement for advice. 

2.3 Responsibilities and Compliance 

2.3.1 The PCRPs apply to every officer of the Council and anyone acting on its behalf. It is the 
responsibility of Directors to ensure that the Rules and Procedures are adhered to.  The use of e-
Procurement is a statutory requirement for qualifying tenders from October 18th 2018; WBC 
intends that all procurements will be managed by our e-Procurement system from May 2018 
onwards. 

2.3.2 Failure to comply with these Rules and Procedures may result in disciplinary action. 

2.3.3 Breaches of these Rules and Procedures should be reported to the Monitoring Officer; Section 151 

officer and the Service Manager – Shared Audit & Investigation ServiceAssistant Director - 

Governance 

100

file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23goods
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23services
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23Works
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23services
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23MoUs
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23grants
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23MoUs
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23grants
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23ContractValue
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/Estimate%20of%20Value.docx
https://intranet.wokingham.gov.uk/main.cfm?type=MONITORINGOFFICER&objectid=3638&searchtermredirect=Monitoring%20Officer
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23Section151Officer
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23Section151Officer


2.3.4 Any officer or member of staff who suspects any fraud, corruption or misconduct in relation to any 

procurement or contract must immediately report that suspicion to the Monitoring Officer, Section 

151 Officer and the Service Manager – Shared Audit & Investigation ServiceAssistant Director - 

Governance.  

101

https://intranet.wokingham.gov.uk/main.cfm?type=WHISTLEBLOWING&objectid=2729&searchtermredirect=whistleblowing%20policy
https://intranet.wokingham.gov.uk/main.cfm?type=MONITORINGOFFICER&objectid=3638&searchtermredirect=Monitoring%20Officer
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23Section151Officer
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23Section151Officer


2.4 Conflicts of Interest  

2.4.1 Where a tenderer has provided advice during a preliminary market consultation or has had any 
involvement in the preparation of a tender document (“Prior Involvement”) the following measures 
must be taken to ensure that competition is not distorted by the participation of that tenderer in 
the subsequent procurement process: 

 Details of the Prior Involvement of a tenderer in a particular procurement process must be 
communicated to all tenderers taking part in that procurement process; including details of 
relevant information exchanged between the Council and the tenderer as part of the Prior 
Involvement 

 The time limit for the receipt of tenders must be adequate (so that the tenderers who have not 
benefitted from Prior Involvement have sufficient time to properly formulate their responses) 

What is considered “relevant information” and “adequate” timescales will vary case-by-case. It is 
the responsibility of the Officer involved to make a considered judgement of what these mean for 
their particular instance. 

2.4.2 Any tenderer who has had Prior Involvement in a particular procurement can only be excluded 
from the procurement process where the Council has documented a decision (Material Decision) 
that there are no means available to prevent distortion of competition. The Council shall give the 
excluded tenderer an opportunity to prove how the Prior Involvement will not distort competition 
before it makes that decision. 

2.4.3 Any Council Officer or other person acting on the Council’s behalf who has, directly or indirectly, a 
financial, economic or other personal interest, which might be perceived to compromise their 
impartiality and independence in the context of any procurement process, shall disclose such 
interest and shall not take part in that procurement process. Disclosure of the interest should be 
made via the standard, annual self-declaration procedure. 

2.4.4 The Localism Act includes rules covering any disclosable pecuniary interest in a procurement 
activity by Members.  The Local Government Association has produced an informative guide: “A 
councillor's guide to procurement” 

  

102

https://intranet.wokingham.gov.uk/documentHandler.cfm?dld=1785&pflag=docm93jijm4n1785.
http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/11553/L13-567_A+Concillors+Guide+to+Procurement_FINAL.PDF/8ea382c3-13b6-464c-b835-b8207ed1ab15
http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/11553/L13-567_A+Concillors+Guide+to+Procurement_FINAL.PDF/8ea382c3-13b6-464c-b835-b8207ed1ab15


3 The Procurement and Contract Rules 

3.1 Pre-Procurement Approvals 

The Pre-Procurement Approval steps indicated below must be completed before a formal 
procurement procedure is started; that is, before the publication of any Prior Information Notice or 
advertisement requesting Expression of Interest, Request for ParticipationQuotation, Invitation to 
Tender, or similar.  From May 2018, all WBC procurements with a value exceeding £5k must be 
processed using the e-Procurement system, which requires that the Responsible Officer sets up a 
new project in the system to manage the process.  If you require assistance, please speak to the 
key/super user in your Service area. 

3.1.1 Procurement Business Case (including options appraisal) 

A formal business case is required for any procurement with a total value above £50k (refer to 
section 2.2 for estimating value) with the varying levels of approval shown in the table below:- 

 No formal business 
case required 

Head of Service & 
Director Approval 

Executive Approval 

Goods and Services < £50k £50k - £500k > £500k 

Schedule 3 Services < £50k £50k - £615k > £615k 

Works < £50k £50k - £4,551k > £4,551k 

All Business cases should include the following elements in an appropriate form: - 

 A brief justification linked to service or corporate objectives 

 Vision and description of objectives to be achieved / specific need to be addressed 

 Appraisal of options 

 Statement of benefits and justification of expenditure, including financial costs and benefits, 
where relevant over the life of the contract. 
(Works business cases should include a financial feasibility assessment in terms of investment 
payback, return on investment or discounted cash flow value). 

 Timetable 

 Procurement Approach and Commentary 

 Source and approval of funding and whether it is revenue or capital. 

 Overall approvals as indicated in table above 

The value of a Business Case shall not be distorted or split with the aim of avoiding any threshold. 
The exact nature of any Business Case will vary depending on the requirements of the services 
being procured but all should consider the elements listed above to an appropriate degree. In 
consultation with Procurement, Directorates may design their own templates and requirements for 
Business Cases, in particular where regularly recurring or rapid procurements are required. 

Further guidance on the production of a Business Case is available from Procurement.  

A Business Case must also be produced for ALL direct award waivers, adhering to the same 
approval levels. They must be supported with the Suppliers proposal, including terms and 
conditions and full quotation details in line with the Waivers Policy (see Appendix 2). 

3.1.2 Budget Approvals 

In addition to an approved business case, where required, for the procurement, there must be 
budget available before procurement can commence. 
If/ once a budget has been allocated for the expenditure, the following levels of approval are 
required in order to begin the procurement process. These represent the minimum levels of 
approval that are required; in specific circumstances, such as a new, unusual or particularly risky 
procurement, higher levels of consultation and approval may be appropriate. 
 

103

file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23BusCase
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23BusCase
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/Waivers%20Policy.docx


The approval of the Director is sufficient for any budget approval within their Service remit. The 
Director may choose to consult more widely as appropriate to the nature of the particular 
procurement. 

  

104



3.1.3 Legal Approval 

As soon as the Business Case and Budget have been approved, the likely nature of the contractual 
Terms & Conditions (“T&Cs”) should be determined (see Table 3.3.1 below) and, as appropriate, SLS 
should be engaged prior to the commencement of the procurement. 
SLS needs to be formally instructed to engage in the procurement process; but, in specific 
circumstances, a waiver may be in place that allows the use of pre-approved documentation. Check 
with your Service ManagerAssistant Director to verify if any such waiver exists.  

3.2 Overview of Required Procurement Procedures 

ALL procedures in the PCR2015 (including Schedule 3 Services) are subject to “the principles of 
transparency and equal treatment of economic operators [tenderers]”. Accordingly, there is no 
mechanism for negotiation with any individual tenderer, at any stage of a procurement procedure. 

Procedures are available to allow for negotiation, dialogue and innovation but they may only be 
used in specific circumstances and involving all parties equally. These procedures are difficult to 
manage effectively and should generally be avoided. 

For procurements exceeding £50k, the default procedures are the Open or Restricted procedures 
only or the use of existing frameworks from other procurement bodies; in order to use another 
procedure, officers need to consult with Procurement and raise a waiver. For Services that need to 
manage urgent requirements (e.g.: emergency placements), a blanket waiver (clearly specifying the 
circumstances in which such a procedure is appropriate) may be available. Check with your Service 
ManagerAssistant Director to verify if any such waiver exists. 

3.2.1 Goods & Services – The following table gives an overview of the Procurement and Contract 
requirements for expenditure on Goods and Services (excluding Schedule 3 Services - see below) at 
various contract values: 

Goods & Services 
Contract Value 

Below OJEU £181k£181k Above OJEU 

£0k - £2< £5k 
£25k - £50k 

£50k -  
£181k£181k 

> £181k£181k 

Approved business case for the 
procurement at the appropriate level 

    

Fully compliant OJEU process 
Any applicable process may be utilised. 

    

Pre-qualification questionnaire (PQQSQ) 
(Restricted Process) 

prohibited prohibited prohibited  

Invitation to Tender (ITT)  
Open (single step) process 

    

Request for Quotation (RFQ)Quick Quotes 
process1, with credit check & references 

 
 

(min 3 quotes) 
  

Simple quotation and selection 
processPurchase Order 

 
Min 3 Quotes 

   

Legal & Procurement Support teams to be 
notified before start of procurement 
undertaking 

  
Relationship 
Managers & 
if >£100k SLS 

SLS & 
Procurement 

Formal specification & evaluation criteria     

Simplified specification & evaluation  (if necessary)    

All documents available on the date of  
publication of notice or advertisement 

 if advertised   

Publish in OJEU 2     

Advertise in Contracts Finder 2 

(within 24 hrs of 1st advert anywhere else)   
>£25k if 

advertised 
anywhere 

  

Invitation to Tender (ITT)      

Formal tender opening process      

Formal tender evaluation process     

                                                           
1 If you wish to advertise your Quick Quote, use the ‘Create Project’ ‘Advertised Quotation (<50K)’ process 
2 Handled automatically by the e-Procurement system 

Formatted: Font: 9 pt

Formatted: Font: 9 pt

Formatted: Font: 9 pt

105

file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23SLS
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/Waivers%20Policy.docx
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/Procedure%20Outlines.docx%23Open
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/Procedure%20Outlines.docx%23Restricted
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/Waivers%20Policy.docx
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23goods
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23services
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23Sch3
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23ContractValue
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23SpecEval
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23SpecEval
https://www.contractsfinder.service.gov.uk/Search
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23advertised


Award notified in OJEU 2     

Award notified in Contracts Finder 2  if >£25k   

Signed contracts lodged with SLS     

Standstill period   recommended  

Service Area to add contract data to 
central Contracts Register 

Contracts 
> £5k 

   

Complete Reg84 Report     

 
  

106

file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23SLS


3.2.2 Schedule 3 – The following table gives an overview of the Procurement and Contract requirements 
for expenditure on Schedule 3 services at various contract values. These are for specific services 
such as health, social care, education, cultural and certain other service contracts as defined by 
Common Procurement Vocabulary (CPV) codes: 

Schedule 3 Services 
Contract Value 

Below OJEU £615k£615k Above OJEU 

< £5k 
< £5k - £50k > £50k 

> 
£615k£615k 

Light Touch Regime (“LTR”)     

Any appropriate process may be used     

Quick Quotes Process3 
Formal specification & evaluation criteria 

 Min 3 
Quotes 

  

Simple quotation and Purchase Order     

Legal & ProcurementSupport teams to be 
notified before start of procurement 
undertaking 

 
 

 Relationship 
Managers & 
if >£100k SLS 

 SLS & 
Procurement 

All documents available on the date of  
publication of notice or advertisement 

 
if advertised   

Advertise in OJEU – contract notice or PIN 4 
ALL documents available at date of notice 

 
   

Advertise in Contracts Finder 4 

(within 24 hrs of 1st advert anywhere else) 

 > £25k, if 
advertised 
anywhere 

  

Pre-qualification questionnaire (PQQSQ) 
(Restricted Procedure) prohibited prohibited 

Optional (but 
prohibited below 

£181k£181k) 
 

Invitation to Tender (ITT)     

Formal tender opening process     

Formal tender evaluation process     

Publish contract award notices 4 

(can publish notices grouped quarterly) 

 
If > £25k   

Standstill period   recommended  

Service Area to add contract data to central 
Contracts Register 

 Contracts 
> £5k 

  

Complete Reg84 Report     

For ALL procurements, any appropriate process may be used and there is flexibility in the types of 
award criteria that can be defined but any procedure used must ensure equal treatment of tenderers 
and transparency. There are no prescribed timescales for procedures but they must be “reasonable 
and proportionate”.  
The procedure can deviate from the LTR as long as there is no breach of equal treatment & 
transparency and the reasons are documented & communicated. 

3.2.3 Works – The following table gives an overview of the Procurement and Contract requirements for 
expenditure on Works at various contract values: 

Works 
Contract Value 

Below OJEU £4,551k£4,551k Above OJEU 

< £5k £05k - £50k £50k - 
£4,551k£4,551k 

> 
£4,551k£4,551k 

Approved business case for the 
procurement at the appropriate level 

  
  

Full OJEU process     

Invitation to Tender (ITT)  
 

 (if not 
Construction Line) 

 

Optional Construction Line “Tender”    (if no ITT) n/a 

Pre-qualification questionnaire (PQQSQ) 
(Restricted Process) 

 
prohibited 

Optional (but 
prohibited below 

£181k£181k) 
 

                                                           
3 If you wish to advertise your Quick Quote, use the ‘Create Project’ ‘Advertised Quotation (<50K)’ process 
4 Handled automatically by the e-Procurement system 

Formatted: Font: 9 pt

Formatted: Font: 9 pt

Formatted: Font: 9 pt, Bold, Font color: Green

Formatted: Font: 9 pt

Formatted: Font: 9 pt

Formatted: Font: 9 pt

Formatted: Font: 9 pt, Bold, Font color: Green

107

file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23Sch3
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23CPV
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23LTR
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23SpecEval
https://www.contractsfinder.service.gov.uk/Search
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23advertised
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23Works


Request for Quotation (RFQ)Quick 

Quotes process3, credit check and 

references for selected supplier 

  
(min 3 

quotes) 
  

Simple quotation and Purchase Order     

Legal & ProcurementSupport teams to be 
notified before start of procurement 
undertaking 

   Relationship 
Managers & 
if >£100k SLS 

 SLS & 
Procurement 

Formal specification & evaluation criteria     

Simplified specification & evaluation (if necessary)    

All documents available on the date of  
publication of notice or advertisement 

 if 
advertised 

  

Publish in OJEU. 5ALL documents to be 
available prior to issue of the OJEU notice 

 
   

Advertise in Contracts Finder 5 

(within 24 hrs of 1st advert anywhere 
else) 

 > £25k, if 
advertised 
anywhere 

  

Formal tender evaluation process     

Award notified in OJEU 5     

Award notified in Contracts Finder 5  If > £25k   

Signed contracts lodged with SLS     

Standstill period   recommended  

Service Area to add contract data to 
central Contracts Register 

 Contracts 
> £5k 

  

Complete Reg84 Report     

3.2.4 Abnormally Low Tenders 

The Council has a duty to investigate any tenders that appear to be abnormally low. 
We are obliged to require tenderers to explain the price or costs proposed in the tender and assess 
the information provided in consultation with the tenderer. The situation can be complex since 
PCR2015 regulations lay out specific elements to be considered, conditions to limit when the 
Council may reject a tender and obligations for when it must reject a tender.  
Contact Procurement for help in interpreting the specific rules.  

3.3 Contracting Requirements 

3.3.1 Overview of Contract Terms & Conditions  

Having selected an appropriate supplier, the following sources of T&Cs may be appropriate for 
various contract values. These represent the minimum requirements for any given contract value; 
for low value contracts, more stringent T&Cs (e.g. simplified Contract Terms instead of a standard 
PO) may be relevant in some circumstances: 

Contract 
Value 

Duration Risk 

Procurement 
Cards 

Standard 
Purchase 

Order 
Terms 

Template 
Contract 

Formal 
Contract 

Terms 
(via SLS) 

Suppliers’ 
Terms 

< £50k 
<12mth any   if necessary  By exception 

and only with 
input of 

Shared Legal 
Solutions 

>12mth any n/a  if necessary  

£50k – £100k any any n/a n/a   

>£100k any any n/a n/a n/a  

NOTE: Services may have Procurement Cards, which can be utilised for low value, low risk, one-off 
transactions, subject to the individual spending limit on the card. All ongoing/recurring requirements 
should be procured under a PO. 

If you have any questions or concerns around contracts that may be high risk, consult SLS and/or 
Procurement. For example: relatively low value contracts may have risks around sensitive data 

                                                           
5 Handled automatically by the e-Procurement system 

108

file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23SpecEval
https://www.contractsfinder.service.gov.uk/Search
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23advertised
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23SLS
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23PBPs
http://www.wokingham.gov.uk/EasySiteWeb/GatewayLink.aspx?alId=3462
http://www.wokingham.gov.uk/EasySiteWeb/GatewayLink.aspx?alId=3462
http://www.wokingham.gov.uk/EasySiteWeb/GatewayLink.aspx?alId=3462
http://www.wokingham.gov.uk/EasySiteWeb/GatewayLink.aspx?alId=3462
file:///C:/00%20RT/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23SLS
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23SLS
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23SLS
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23SLS
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23PBPs


associated with them, which make the inclusion of a Confidentiality Agreement appropriate in that 
particular case. 

3.3.2 Acceptance of Tenders and Signing of Contracts: 

Activity Under £50k £50k - £100k £100k - £500k £500k+ 

Acceptance of Tenders 
(prior to contract award) 

Head of 
ServiceAssistant 

Director 
Director 

Director by 
Material Decision 

Contract Signature None if PO or 
Purchasing Card. 
Otherwise 2 
Officers named 
on “List of 
Authorised 
Officers…” 

Two Officers: 
1. Head of Legal Services 
or Qualified Solicitor 
or Barrister 
2. Any Officer in 1 
or Director 
or a member of Corporate 
Leadership Team (CLT) 

Sealed as deed 
 

  (facilitated by Shared Legal Solutions) 

These levels apply as long as the tender does not exceed the overall approved budget by the lesser 
of 10% or a maximum of £20,000, providing sufficient budget can be secured, and the tender is the 
most advantageous, as measured against the previously set criteria. 
Directors may only accept a tender which falls outside these criteria subject to consultation with 
Director of Finance & Resources (Chief Finance Officer) (Section 151 Officer) and if applicable, the 
Head of Human Resource Operations with regard to Transfer of Undertakings of Employees (TUPE), 
as a Material Decision. 

3.3.3 Supplier Details 
It is the responsibility of the Responsible Officer to ensure that all Suppliers to the Council are 

entered into the Council Purchase-to-Pay (P2P) system (or any replacement system) and that a 

purchase order is created to allow for the payment of invoices, prior to the start of the contract. 

3.3.33.3.4 Modification of contracts during their term (including extensions): 

Subject always to the availability of an approved budget for the total amount to be committed, the 
ability to demonstrate ongoing value-for-money and that the modification does not alter the 
overall nature of the original procurement a contract may be modified within certain, defined 
limits; contact Procurement for advice. 

The primary concern of PCR2015 is to ensure that the scale of the contract opportunity (i.e. its 
overall value) is not significantly changed. Many contracts (especially Works) will allow for changes 
to requirements and specifications within their terms, as long as the overall nature and scale of the 
contract is not substantially altered.  
There is no means to extend a contract beyond the term/s defined within the original contract 
documents (which may include one or more defined extension periods). A Material Decision has no 
legal basis in this respect; once the maximum allowable term is complete, a new contract must be 
awarded. This will usually be awarded through a new procurement procedure with a suitable level 
of competition, as described above. 
The regulations allow some mechanisms that may be useful in these circumstances but they are 
specific and quite restrictive; contact Procurement for advice. 

3.4 Contract management during the contract duration 

Good contract management relies on planning, starting with the creation of the contract documents 
during the initial procurement. 
For any particular service requirement, we should develop a clear idea of what success looks like – 
what would we ideally want from the contractor that would deliver a first class service with a 
minimum of input from ourselves. Clauses and requirements, KPIs, regular reporting of metrics and 
contract reviews can all be built into the tender pack; setting expectations with potential contractors 

109

file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/667801%20-%20List%20of%20authorised%20officers%20having%20authority%20to%20sign%20March%202015.doc
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/667801%20-%20List%20of%20authorised%20officers%20having%20authority%20to%20sign%20March%202015.doc
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/667801%20-%20List%20of%20authorised%20officers%20having%20authority%20to%20sign%20March%202015.doc
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23PBPs
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23CM


at the outset. Mechanisms that incentivise good performance and behaviours and the potential to 
share any benefits that the partnership approach generates can all be valuable approaches. 

3.4.1 Contract RegisterRecording of Contract / Tender Information - for transparency, reporting 
and audit requirements, as well as to enable effective Council-wide contract management activity, 
all contract details are automatically recorded by the e-Procurement system and held in a central 
register. The details will be made directly available to the public, via the WBC external website, as 
required by Transparency Regulations. entered into should be recorded in the central Contracts 
Register. This is mandatory for contracts with a contract value of over £5,000 (to comply with our 
transparency obligations). Entering all contracts on to the Register will enable Service teams to 
leverage the contract management alerts and intelligent functionality built into the system. 

The process to add, edit, maintain and manage contract details on the central Contracts Register is 
documented separately. Shared Legal Solutions shall retain original copies of contracts valued over 
£50,000 during the term of the contract. These contracts will be archived for a period of 6 years from 
the contract end date or for 12 years if under seal. 
Directors (or a delegated Responsible Officer) shall retain copies of contracts under £50,000, which 
should be archived at the contract end date, as a guide, for a period of 5 years. 

3.4.2 Key Performance Indicators – contracts entered into by the Council should contain KPIs, which 
are agreed with the supplier at the contracting stage of the procurement process. These ensure that 
both the Council and the supplier can regularly monitor and manage the supplier’s performance 
against the contract, to ensure that what has been contracted for is delivered. KPIs should be a 
combination of quantitative and qualitative measures which can be readily collected and measured. 
Procurement has produced a separate brief guide, for typical KPIs to include in a contract. 

Having agreed KPIs with suppliers, it is up to the responsible contract manager to agree the process 
for capturing and reviewing these measures on a regular basis and capturing any deviations to ensure 
remedial action is taken. 

3.4.3 Performance Reviews – good contract management practice requires the establishment of 
routine and regular contract performance reviews over the lifetime of the contract. The Council’s 
contract managers and suppliers review KPIs, work plans and other performance tools so that 
deviations from contract can be rectified quickly.  It is the responsibility of Directors to ensure that 
officers, or staff, with contract management responsibilities in their Directorate, undertake such 
regular performance review activity, as appropriate. 

3.4.4 Contract end planning – it is also good practice to prepare for the end of a contract well before 
the contract end date is reached. The responsible contract manager should start planning for 
contract end, renewal or re-letting 24 months, and no less than 12 months, before contract end. This 
will be assisted by the contract management alerts from the central Contracts Register, where 
contract details are on the e-Procurement system. 

  

110

file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/KPIs.docx


4 Overview of Procurement Process Selection 

4.1 This section details the processes to be followed for any procurement. The precise process will depend 
on type and value of procurement as well as any corporately mandated or optional approaches that 
may be available. 

4.2 To direct users to the appropriate process for their procurement, a ‘process wizard’ is set out below. 
It works by asking some key sequential questions about the nature of the proposed procurement to 
arrive at which process should be used: 

1 2 3 4 5   

Type 
Above/ 
below 
OJEU 

Procurement 
Size 

Available 
Corporate 
Contract 

Available 
Framework 
Agreement 

Default Process 
Optional 

Processes 
available 

Goods & 
Services 

Above 
> 

£181k£181k 

Yes n/a Corporate Contract   

No 
Yes Framework Contract  

No Full OJEU Process [] 

Below 

£50k –  
£181k£181k 

Yes n/a Corporate Contract   

No 
Yes Framework Contract  

No Above £50k Process [] 

£25k - £50k 

Yes n/a Corporate Contract   

No 
Yes Framework Contract  

No Above £25k Process Table 3.2.1 

£0k - £25k 

Yes n/a Corporate Contract   

No 
Yes Framework Contract  

No £0-< £25k Process  
 

1 2 3 4 5   

Type 
Above/ 
below 
OJEU 

Procurement 
Size 

Available 
Corporate 
Contract 

Available 
Framework 
Agreement 

Default Process 
Optional 

Processes 
available 

Schedule 3 
Services 

Above 
> 

£615k£615k 

Yes n/a Corporate Contract   

No 
Yes Framework Contract  

No Light Touch Regime  

Below 
< 

£615k£615k 

Yes n/a Corporate Contract   

No 

Yes Framework Contract  

No 
Tender Process  
Approved Supplier List  

 
1 2 3 4 5   

Type 
Above/ 
below 
OJEU 

Procurement 
Size 

Available 
Corporate 
Contract 

Available 
Framework 
Agreement 

Default Process 
Optional 

Processes 
available 

Works 

Above 
> 

£4,551k£4,551k 
No 

Yes Framework Contract  

No Full OJEU Process [] 

Below 

£50k –  
£4,551k£4,551k 

Yes n/a Corporate Contract  

No 

Yes 
Framework Contract 
or > £50k Process  

Table 3.2.3 
No 

> £50k Process 

£5k - £50k Process 

£0 -< £50k 
Yes n/a Corporate Contract  

No n/a Purchase Order  

 
No. Optional Processes 

 Open Procedure 

 Restricted Procedure (above £181k£181k only) 

 Competitive Procedure with Negotiation (by exception only) 

 Competitive Dialogue (by exception only) 

 Framework or Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS) 

Formatted: Font: 9 pt

Formatted: Font: 9 pt

Formatted: Font: 9 pt

Formatted: Font: 9 pt

Formatted: Font: 9 pt

Formatted: Font: 9 pt

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

111

file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23CorpCon
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23CorpCon
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23Framework
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23Framework
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23CorpCon
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23CorpCon
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23Framework
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23Framework
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23CorpCon
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23CorpCon
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23Framework
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23Framework
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/Procedure%20Outlines.docx%23Open
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/Procedure%20Outlines.docx%23Restricted
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/Procedure%20Outlines.docx%23CompNeg
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/Procedure%20Outlines.docx%23CompDialogue
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/Framework%20Providers.docx


 Approved Supplier / Provider List 

  

112



5 Related Policies and obligations 

There is a range of policies and additional clauses that support and expand on these PCRPs but they are 
typically specific to each individual Council and/or subject to update from time to time. As such, they do not 
form part of the core PCRPs and are supplied as appendices/annexes, as indicated below. Ensure that you 
always access a fresh copy of any particular document you need to refer to. 

Appendices sit outside of the Constitutional Regulations and may be updated from time to time without the 
need for formal approval. 

5.1 Related Policies & Processes (Appendix 2) 
This appendix lists all the Council policies which are relevant to the PCRPs and should be read in 
conjunction with the information above. 

5.2 Additional Obligations 
The previous Procurement & Contract Rules had been appended over a number of years with 
obligations that addressed particular issues and experiences. Some are now incorporated in the overall 
rules but those that are still relevant and require specific mention are referenced below. 
The detailed description for each clause can be found in the appendices. 

Statutory Obligations (Appendix 3) 
i. Transparency Reporting – Deleted – WBC’s e-Procurement system manages all new data 
ii. The Social Value Act / Localism 
iii. Safeguarding – DBS (Disclosure & Barring Service) 
iv. Supported Organisations 
v. Social Enterprises (VCSE) 
vi. Contracts involving Council Assets 
vii. TUPE (Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment)) 

WBC Specific Obligations (Appendix 4) 
i. Assets & Security 
ii. Loans, Leases & Guarantees 
iii. Sponsorship & Grant Monies 
iv. Mitigation of Risk (including Performance Bonds) 
v. Insurance 
vi. Receipt of Tenders – Deleted – this is fully managed by WBC’s e-Procurement system. 
vii. Opening of Tenders – Deleted – this is fully managed by WBC’s e-Procurement system. 
viii. Acceptance & Signing of Contracts – Deleted – this is incorporated into the main document. 
ix. Setting up Supplier Details & Recording of Contract/ Tender Information – Deleted – this is 

incorporated into the main document. 
 

113

file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/PCRPs%20-%20Appendix%20Two.docx
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/PCRPs%20-%20Appendix%20Three.docx
file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/PCRPs%20-%20Appendix%20Four.docx


APPENDIX ONE – OJEU THRESHOLD VALUES 

Threshold Euro GBP  
(2018 conversion) 

Display 
Value 

Bookmark 
name 

Goods & Services € 221,000 £ 181,302 £181k GSthold 
Schedule 3 € 750,000 £ 615,278 £615k S3thold 
Works (Schedule 2) € 5,548,000 £ 4,551,413 £4,551k WORKSthold 
Concessions € 5,548,000 £ 4,551,413 £4,551k Cthold 

 
The EC procurement thresholds for application of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 are fixed for a 2 
year period (1st January – 31st December); the values are subject to change on the 1st January of every even 
year (i.e. 2018, 2020, 2022,…). 
Public Concession contracts occur very rarely in WBC but when they do, they are subject to a separate set 
of regulations; the Concession Contracts Regulations 2016. If you believe your procurement may fall into 
this category, contact Procurement for further information. 
 
Note: these thresholds apply to the total ascertainable value of the contract / business opportunity 
(excluding VAT) and not the annual cost or budget. 
 

NOTE: - 
When updating the reference figures in the table above, reassign the correct 
bookmark name to the newly entered figure. You achieve this by:  

 Type in the new figure that you require. 

 Highlight the new figure (remember to include the ‘£’ symbol) by holding 
your left mouse button and dragging the cursor across it. 

 From the menu bar select [Insert], then [Bookmark]. A ‘Bookmark’ dialogue 
box will pop up. 

 Select the correct ‘Bookmark name’ from the list in the dialogue box and 
click [Add]. 

 When you close the document, a dialogue box will open to ask if you wish to 
save your changes; ALWAYS click [SAVE], even if you have already saved the 
document beforehand. This will run a macro, which automatically updates 
all the fields in the document that are linked to your changes. 

 
 

114

file://///wdc-fp1/data$/LCS/PCM/KB/2015%20EU%20Changes%20Useful%20Info/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23ContractValue


Updated January 2018

Appendix One
OJEU Threshold Values

Threshold Euro GBP 
(2018 conversion)

Display
Value

Goods & Services € 221,000 £ 181,302 £181k
Schedule 3 € 750,000 £ 615,278 £615k
Works (Schedule 2) € 5,548,000 £ 4,551,413 £4,551k
Concessions € 5,548,000 £ 4,551,413 £4,551k

The EC procurement thresholds for application of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 
are fixed for a 2 year period (1st January – 31st December); the values are subject to 
change on the 1st January of every even year (i.e. 2018, 2020, 2022…).

Note: These thresholds apply to the total ascertainable value of the contract / business 
opportunity (excluding VAT) and not the annual cost or budget.

Note: The Concession Contracts Regulations 2016 came into force on 18th April 2016. 
These represent the UK transposition of the EU’s new Concession Contracts Directive 
(2014/23/EU).

With effect from 1 January 2018

115



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX THREE – Additional Obligations, STATUTORY 

Index 
i. Transparency ReportingNo longer required – process managed by the e-Procurement system 
ii. The Social Value Act / Localism 

iii. Safeguarding – DBS (Disclosure & Barring Service) 
iv. Supported Organisations 
v. Social Enterprises (VCSE) 

vi. Contracts involving Council Assets 
vii. TUPE (Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment)) 

 

 
 

i) Transparency ReportingNot Used 

The Council will publish details of current contracts with a description of what is being provided, the 
duration of the contract, the name of the supplier and data concerning the total value of the contract. 
 

ii) The Social Value Act / Localism 

For all: 

 Service contracts with a value in excess of the EU threshold and 

 all works contracts over £1m; 

 the contractor and its supply chain will be required to actively participate in the achievement of social 
objectives relating to the participation in skills development, employment and training programmes in 
accordance with Wokingham Borough Council’s Employment and Skills Guidance for Tenders, which can be 
found on the Council’s website. 
 

iii) Safeguarding – DBS (Disclosure & Barring Service) 

Wherever a contract or tender involves working regularly with children or vulnerable adults, or wherever 
required as appropriate to the nature of the contract, DBS checks must be included as a requirement at the 
outset within the tender specification and the terms and conditions document. 

These must also clearly state that all costs relating to DBS checks shall be borne by the contractor. 
DBS checks should be repeated at 3-yearly intervals for those who remain in post. Contractors should be 
asked to provide evidence that DBS checks are monitored and kept up to date.  

Contractors should be asked to confirm that they are aware that: 

 An organisation which knowingly employs, in a relevant role, someone who is barred to work with 
children or vulnerable adults is breaking the law. 

 They must inform the Independent Safeguarding Authority if they dismiss or remove a member of 
staff because they have harmed a child or vulnerable adult, or they would have dismissed or 
removed them had they not left. 

 
iv) Supported Organisations 

In the case of a supported business, supported employment programme or sheltered workshops as defined 
in Regulation 20 of the PCR2015 (essentially establishments where more than 30% of the workers are 
disabled or disadvantaged); the Council may restrict the scope of invitations to tender to those types of 
organisations. This is termed a “Reserved Contract” and the call for competition shall make reference to 
Article 20 of the Public Contracts Directive. Other relevant procurement rules and procedures continue to 
apply. 
This should not be confused with the completely separate arrangement (Regulation 77) for reserved 
contracts to support mutual and social enterprises:  Appendix Three (v) – Social Enterprises below 
  

117



v) Social Enterprises (VCSE) 

PCR2015 includes a significant alteration in the treatment of Social Enterprises, mutuals, charities and other 
similar organisations (or VCSEs). 

Covered under the Schedule 3 regulations (specifically Regulation 77); contracts may be reserved for 
qualifying organisations ONLY if they are exclusively for one or more services covered by a specific sub-set 
of the Schedule 3 CPV codes. 
The relevant codes are highlighted in yellow in the list of Schedule 3 CPV codes. 

A “qualifying organisation” is one that fulfils all of the following conditions: - 

a. its objective is the pursuit of a public service mission linked to the delivery of those services; 
b. profits are reinvested with a view to achieving the organisation’s objective, and any distribution of 

profits is based on participatory considerations; 
c. the structures of management or ownership of the organisation are (or will be, if and when it 

performs the contract): 
i. based on employee ownership or participatory principles, or 

ii. require the active participation of employees, users or stakeholders; 
d. the organisation has not been awarded, pursuant to this regulation, a contract for the services 

concerned, by the contracting authority concerned, within the past 3 years. 

The contract may only be awarded for a maximum of 3 years. 

The call for competition shall make reference to Article 77 of the Public Contracts Directive. 

This regulation is designed to promote opportunities to qualifying social enterprises by protecting them 
from full EU competition for the first 3-years of a particular type of contract. They are expected to be able 
to develop their services during that initial period and will then be subject to full competition.  
This should not be confused with the completely separate arrangement (Regulation 20) for reserved 
contracts for: Supported Organisations – Appendix Three (iv) above. 
 

vi) Contracts involving Council Assets 

In order to comply with the International Finance Reporting Standard (IFRS), wherever a contract is 
proposed which includes use of a defined asset (i.e. an item of property, plant or equipment) or conveys 
the right to use a specific asset, prior to the agreement of such a contract the permission of the Chief 
Financial Officer should be sought. The contract agreement should split the payment between those 
elements applicable for the asset and those elements applicable for the service. 
 

vii) TUPE (Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment)) 

If existing employees are associated with the contract opportunity (either internally or externally) the 
Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006 must be observed. For example: a 
contract for services is retendered as it has come to the end of its term and the existing supplier employs 
staff specifically to provide us with those services. Those staff would be covered by TUPE regulations should 
the new contract be awarded to a different supplier.  
If in any doubt, the Contract must be checked with the Service Manager – Shared Legal Solutions or the 
Service Manager – Human Resources. 

A Confidentiality Undertaking form must be used as part of the tender process where TUPE applies. 
 

118

file:///C:/00%20RT/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23VCSE
file:///C:/00%20RT/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Schedule%203/Schedule%203%20CPVs%20with%20Text%20descriptions.docx


APPENDIX FOUR – Additional Obligations, WBC SPECIFIC 

Index 
i. Assets & Security 
ii. Loans, Leases & Guarantees 
iii. Sponsorship & Grant Monies 
iv. Mitigation of Risk (including Performance Bonds) 
v. Insurance 
vi. Receipt of TendersNo longer required – process managed by the e-Procurement system. 
vii. Opening of TendersNo longer required – process managed by the e-Procurement system. 
viii. Acceptance & Signing of ContractsNo longer required – incorporated into the main document. 
ix. Setting up Supplier Details & Recording of Contract/ Tender InformationNo Longer required – 

incorporated into the main document. 
 

 
i) Assets & Security  

For guidance on assets & security, see Finance Regulations 12.1.5 – Assets and Security. 

 

ii) Loans, Leases & Guarantees 

For general guidance, see Finance Regulations 12.1.13 – Investments, Borrowing, Treasury Management, 
Leasing and Trust Funds. 

Clauses that are directly relevant to loans, leases & guarantees may be found in Finance Regulations 
12.1.13.7 – Loans, Leases and Guarantees and the subsequent sections. 

 

iii) Sponsorship & Grant Monies 

Council income from sponsorship or grants is covered by the Financial Regulations: 12.1.14 – External 
Funding.  

Grants should be assessed on a case by case basis. The Glossary contains a definition. 

a) Where the money is given simply to carry out works or services from which the Council derives no 
direct benefit this is probably satisfactory and can be considered a grant. 

b) Grants given to benefit the local community and to achieve better financial outcomes should be 
considered in line with Council priorities, although, where money is given and the Council receives a 
benefit intended to be enforceable in return then this is a contract and must follow Procurement rules. 

c) Where the Council gives an organisation money which then enables the organisation to bid/tender for 
a business opportunity, the Council would be acting anti-competitively and if the contravention 
affected trade between member states of the EU it would also contravene state aid rules. A 
procurement process must be followed in line with UK Law and potentially European Regulations. Any 
such money actually paid by the Council must be returned to the Council prior to the commencement 
of the tendering process. 

 

iv) Mitigation of Risk (including Performance Bonds) 
An appropriate level of security for the due performance of a contract should be considered in every case. 
For low value contracts no specific steps may be necessary but as contract value increases, so should the 
level of safeguards that are put in place. 
For all contracts appropriate performance safeguards should be agreed and formally recorded in the 
contract documents.   

Continuity is critical for many of the services that the Council provides. It is therefore essential that 
appropriate steps are taken to ensure that we can continue to deliver the service, even if the current 
contractor runs into difficulties or defaults on their deliverables. To that end, suitable clauses should be 
included in the contractual terms and conditions in order to mitigate the risk of any default. 

119

file:///C:/00%20RT/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/WBC%20Procurement%20Glossary.docx%23grants


There are many different ways of achieving the required safeguards; the method (or methods) selected 
depend on the nature and value of the specific contract and the state of the market. 
The following lists the typical key factors to consider: - 

a) Maturity of the market: Where there are many capable suppliers available (especially if several are 
locally based), who could potentially step in to cover any urgent issues, the need for other forms of 
protection is diminished. 

b) Length of contract/Payment Schedule: A long-term contract with regular monthly payments, in arears, 
should be quite stable and can, in practice, supply immediate funds by withholding payment for the 
most recent period/s, if necessary. 

c) Nature of contract: If the service can tolerate a short lapse in provision without major difficulties, the 
Council will have time to secure alternatives, should the incumbent contractor fail. Statutory service 
provision, with significant immediate consequences of failure, will need a much more secure approach. 

d) Nature of Risk: Are the real risks in the contract focussed around potential default or are localised 
failures and issues more likely, where appropriate insurance may be more effective. Clearly, multiple 
risk factors are present in all contracts and combined safeguards may be required. A balanced 
assessment of the likelihood and consequences of each risk factor is needed to establish the right 
controls and mitigation. 

e) Financial Standing: If the contractor is large and financially stable, especially when compared to the 
contract value, there may be no need for additional safeguards. 
Alternatively, the Contractor may be a subsidiary of a larger parent company/group, which is a real 
entity (as opposed to a holding company name) that can draw on real resources. In these cases, a 
parent company guarantee can be an effective, generally cost free, safeguard. 
Council’s Form of Parent Company Guarantee (LINK) 

f) Contract Management: The effective use of Performance Measures and Key Performance Indicators as 
part of an active contract management scheme can be the best safeguard. This is most effective when 
implemented as an integral part of the contract tender with planned development throughout the 
contract term. 
Not only can well planned and executed contract management provide advanced warning but it can 
also prevent potential issues from developing into major concerns, through early intervention and a 
stronger relationship between Council and Contractor. 

g) Performance Bond: A performance bond (or other suitable security) may be an appropriate safeguard 
for the specific circumstances of the contract opportunity. This will be provided by the contractor, 
through a Bank or leading Insurance Company. 

You need to consider the practicality of a bond to secure the contract. Whilst it is designed to provide 
a fund for alternative provision, the likelihood of being able to release those funds quickly is very low. 
The contractual details surrounding a Performance Bond are becoming increasingly complex and any 
release of funds is typically subject to Legal scrutiny. 

Whilst the cost of the bond may be low when compared to the contract value, its cost in relation to 
the level of benefit it secures can be relatively high. The contractor may be willing to set aside funds 
directly with us to cover the same liability; a pragmatic and low cost alternative. 

The amount of the bond shall not normally exceed 10% of the contract sum (or 15% of the annual 
value of a contract exceeding 12 months duration), unless otherwise agreed with Director of Finance & 
Resources (Chief Finance Officer) (Section 151 Officer). 

Where a bond is used, the following documents must be included (as Appendices) and referred to in 
the tender pack: - 

i. Council’s Form of Guarantee Bond (LINK) 
ii. Bond Letter (LINK) 

The cost of a Performance Bond, where provided, shall be clearly itemised in the tender submission. 
  

120

file:///C:/00%20RT/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Performance%20Bond/Parent%20Company%20Guarantee.doc
file:///C:/00%20RT/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Performance%20Bond/Guarantee%20Bond.doc
file:///C:/00%20RT/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Performance%20Bond/Bond%20Letter.doc


v) Insurance 

Insurance is necessary to help protect the Council against the financial consequences of claims arising from 
the activities of contractors. 

It is essential that relevant and adequate insurance details of everyone who enters into a contract with the 
Council are obtained before the contract commences. 

'Relevant' generally refers to Public Liability cover and Employer's Liability cover, but might include 
Professional Indemnity insurance, and possibly others (e.g. Products Liability or Motor).  Reference should 
be made to the Insurance summary document for more details of what is required and the procedures that 
are to be followed.  Questions regarding the insurance requirements for a contract may be referred to the 
Head of Governance and Improvement Services. 

It is the responsibility of the contractor to maintain adequate insurance and, where applicable, for 
adequate insurance to be in place for any subcontractor they have instructed to work on their behalf.  This 
requirement must be stated within the terms and conditions of the contract. 

Where Professional Indemnity insurance is required, it must be stated within the conditions of the contract 
that cover remains in place for a reasonable period after the expiry of the contract. 

The officer, or team, entering into the contract on behalf of the Council, must carry out the monitoring of 
the insurance during the contract period. 

Further details and a suggested template letter are available. 

 
vi) Receipt of TendersNot Used 

Safeguards must be in place to avoid any potential maladministration in the receipt of tenders.  
The day, date and time by which tenders must be returned shall be clearly indicated in the ITT documents. 
Democratic Services must be notified of the title (or reference number) of the tender, its return deadline 
and the contact details of the relevant Authorised Officer at: democratic.services@wokingham.gov.uk . 
An appropriate date for the tender opening meeting will then be agreed with the Authorised Officer and 
advised to Democratic Services. 
Tenders must be returned in plain packaging, securely wrapped, and using the return details provided. The 
returned envelope should not be marked or franked with the name of the tenderer. The following controls 
apply: - 

a) Tenders shall be addressed to :- 
Democratic Services 
TENDER RETURNS – [title of tender or reference number] 
Wokingham Borough Council, Shute End, Wokingham, Berkshire, RG40 1BN 

b) Upon return, tenders shall be kept in a locked and secure area until the scheduled tender opening 
date. The tender opening should be scheduled for the day after the published ‘return of tenders’ 
deadline date. 

c) Tenders received after the appointed deadline or which do not strictly comply with the instructions to 
tender (as issued with the tender documents) shall be disqualified on the basis that they have failed to 
fulfil the tender criteria. 

d) The following circumstances shall be subject to review by Democratic Services, the resultant decision 
to accept or reject the tender and the reasons for that decision to be recorded in a Material Decision, 
authorised by the Head of Governance & Improvement Services: - 

 Any tender opened in error shall be considered to determine if its inclusion would be anti-
competitive in any way. The circumstances of the opening shall also be recorded in the Material 
Decision. 

 Tampered or damaged tenders (i.e. torn, opened envelopes, etc.). 

 Late tenders, where the reason for lateness is beyond the control of the tenderer or there is clear 
evidence of the tender being sent in adequate time in order to achieve the tender deadline.  

e) The Tender Opening Administrator shall record the late receipt of, or other reason for disqualifying, a 
tender. The disqualified tender documents shall be retained with all other tender documentation in 
accordance with the Council’s Records Retention Policy. 

121

file:///C:/00%20RT/WBC%20Rules%20&%20Processes/Linked%20Docs/Insurance.docx


 
vii) Opening of TendersNot Used 

Safeguards must be in place to avoid maladministration in the opening of tenders. Any breaches of this 
Regulation will be reported to the Corporate Leadership Team (CLT).  Details of the full procedure and a 
copy of the Tender Opening Summary sheet are documented separately.  

Democratic Services shall be notified in advance of the dates of all tender openings. A Tender Opening 
Summary sheet and any relevant qualifying documents must be stamped, signed and dated by all present. 

All tenders with an estimated value of £50,000 or over shall be opened in the presence of: 
a) the Service Manager Democratic Services or directly authorised representative; 
b) the Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) (Section 151 Officer) or directly 

authorised representative; 
c) a relevant Service Officer (usually the relevant budget manager, but could also be the relevant  

Director or the Head of Governance and Improvement Services); 
d) the Project Manager (if not already covered by (c) above); 

and the Tender Opening Summary sheet completed. 

All such tenders should be notified to the relevant Executive Member as soon as possible after the opening 
process has been completed. 

Tender Opening Summary Sheet  

The Director or authorised representative shall complete the top section of the Tender Opening Summary 
Sheet with the information shown below and take this to the tender opening:- 

a) the date, time and location of the tender opening; 
b) names and signatures of all attending the opening procedure; 
c) budget available and cost centre; and 
d) the name of each tenderer and total amount of tender bid, if ascertainable. 

The Democratic Services Officer is required to: - 
a) ensure that the Tender Opening Summary Sheet has been fully completed. 
b) scan the completed Tender Opening Summary sheet and provide a copy to all Officers present  

Discrepancies 

Special consideration is required in the case of tender discrepancies. Where examination of tenders reveals 
errors/discrepancies, which would affect an otherwise successful tender, the tenderer shall be allowed to 
either confirm or withdraw their offer. If the tenderer withdraws, the next tenderer in competitive order is 
to be selected.  
If you have any doubts or questions about how to handle a discrepancy, contact your Procurement 
Business Partner. 

 

viii) Acceptance of ContractsNot Used 

Directors can accept a tender providing it complies with all of the following: 

a) it is less than £500,000 in aggregate value, (if over £500,000 then it can be accepted by way of a 
Material Decision); 

b) it does not exceed the overall approved budget by the lesser of 10% or a maximum of £20,000, 
providing sufficient budget can be secured; 

c) it is the lowest tender, or the most advantageous, as measured against previously set criteria; 
d) it is the highest tender, (if payment is to be received by the Council), or the most advantageous, as 

measured against previously set criteria. 

Directors may only accept a tender which falls outside these criteria subject to consultation with Director 
of Finance & Resources (Chief Finance Officer) (Section 151 Officer) and if applicable, the Head of Human 
Resource Operations with regard to Transfer of Undertakings of Employees (TUPE), as a Material Decision. 

  

122



ix) Setting up Supplier Details & Recording of Contract/ Tender InformationNot Used 

Supplier Details 

It is the responsibility of the relevant Director or Responsible Officer to ensure that all Suppliers to the 
Council are entered into the Council Purchase-to-Pay (P2P) system (or any replacement system) and that a 
purchase order is created to allow for the payment of invoices. The process description is available on 
Grapevine; including the necessary form. 

Recording of Contract/Tender Information 

Shared Legal Solutions shall retain original copies of contracts valued over £50,000 during the term of the 
contract. These contracts will be archived for a period of 6 years from the contract end date or 12 years if 
under seal. 

Directors (or a delegated Responsible Officer) shall retain copies of contracts under £50,000, which should 
be archived at the contract end date, as a guide, for a period of 5 years. Directors are responsible for 
ensuring that details of all agreed Contracts are entered into the central contracts register. 

123



This page is intentionally left blank



Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee and 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees

Annual Reports
2017-18

Produced: March 2018
Received by Council: 22 March 2018

125

Agenda Item 85.



2

Contents Page No

Foreword by Councillor John Kaiser, Chairman of the Overview 3
and Scrutiny Management Committee

Section 1 – Executive Summary 4

Section 2 – Introduction to Overview and Scrutiny 5

Section 3 – Report of the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee 7

Section 4 – Report of the Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny 11
Committee

Section 5 - Report of the Community and Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 16
Committee

Section 6 – Report of the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 20

Section 7 - Getting Involved in Overview and Scrutiny 24

Section 8 - Dates of Overview and Scrutiny Committee Meetings 2018-19 25

126



3

Foreword by Councillor  John Kaiser,
Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Management Committee

Welcome to the Annual Reports of Wokingham Borough Council’s Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees for 2017-18. The reports describe how the Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
reviewed the delivery of key services and highlighted topics of importance raised by local 
residents and community groups. 

The 2016/17 annual report highlighted a number of major challenges facing both central and 
local government. Most of these challenges remain. Wokingham Borough Council has found 
savings of £46m since 2010 but continues to face further significant funding reductions from 
central Government. At the same time demand for services continues to increase due, for 
example, to the implications of an ageing population and the growing number of children in 
care. The Council faces further challenges from new housing development in the Borough and 
the need for supporting infrastructure such as roads, schools and community facilities.

In order to meet these challenges the Council has to be more innovative and ensure that its 
decisions focus on key priorities and the needs of local communities. The role of Overview and 
Scrutiny is to ensure that those decisions are effective and transparent, delivering value for 
money for local Council Tax payers. Overview and Scrutiny also monitors decisions made by 
other public service providers such as the NHS and the police. It aims to ensure that decision 
makers are open and accountable to the residents of the Borough. 

During the past year the Council’s four Overview and Scrutiny Committees have considered a 
wide range of issues relating to public services across the Borough. The Committees have also 
questioned the Leader of the Council and Executive Members about the performance of key 
services and future priorities. Members also contributed to the major review of Overview and 
Scrutiny carried out by one of the House of Commons’ Select Committees. Looking forwards, 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committees will continue to hold key decision makers to account. 
They will also increase their focus on pre-decision scrutiny and policy development by 
conducting research, talking to residents and making recommendations to improve policies and 
key public services which impact on all the Borough’s residents. 

For most of 2017/18 the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee was chaired by Keith 
Baker. I would like to thank Keith, the Overview and Scrutiny Members and the Officers and 
residents who contributed their time and effort during the year. 

John Kaiser,
 March 2018

127



4

SECTION 1 – EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Overview and Scrutiny is a key element in the system of checks and balances which ensure 
that Wokingham Borough Council and its partners make and implement effective decisions for 
the benefit of the residents of the Borough. The Council’s Executive is empowered to take 
decisions within the financial and policy framework set by the full Council. Non-Executive 
Members of the Council are appointed to the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committees to 
review those decisions and the way they impact on the performance of key services.

The Council’s Overview and Scrutiny function is delivered by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Committee and three Committees focussing on Children’s Services, Community 
and Corporate Services and Health issues. Overview and Scrutiny Committees make 
recommendations for improvement to full Council and Executive and to partner organisations. 

The report sets out the range of issues and submissions considered by the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees in 2017/18, including:

 Implementation of the Council’s 21st Century organisational change programme.

 Review of performance indicators which highlight how services are performing.

 Review of the findings of Ofsted inspections of schools and Children’s Services.

 The process for updating the Local Plan and listening to the views of Town and Parish 
Councils, residents and other local stakeholders. 

 Performance of health services, including hospitals, GPs and the ambulance service and 
proposals for closer working between health and social care.

 Implementation of Civil Parking Enforcement and the Wokingham town centre 
regeneration project.

 Effectiveness of the Borough’s Community Safety Partnership and local policing.

Effective Overview and Scrutiny utilises information and ideas from a wide range of sources 
including residents, service users and community groups. During 2018-19 Members involved 
in Overview and Scrutiny will continue to hold the Council and its partners to account, providing 
“critical friend” challenge to the Council’s Executive and other public service providers. In so 
doing Members will seek to reflect the aspirations and concerns of local residents and 
communities. Particular focus will be placed on improvements to pre-decision scrutiny and input 
to support new policy development.

Members of the public are welcome to suggest issues for consideration by Overview and 
Scrutiny and to attend meetings which are usually held in the evening at the Council offices in 
Shute End.

128



5

SECTION 2 – INTRODUCTION TO OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY

Wokingham Borough Council is a large, complex organisation with a thousand employees and 
an annual budget in excess of £100m. The Council’s Vision is to make the Borough “a great 
place to live, an even better place to do business”. The Council makes major strategic decisions 
which affect the long-term future of the area and its communities. It also makes decisions on a 
daily basis which affect the lives of some of the Borough’s most vulnerable residents. In order 
to ensure that the Council spends public money wisely and makes well informed decisions 
about key services it is essential that an effective system of checks and balances is in place. 

The Council’s Executive is empowered to take decisions within the financial and policy 
framework set by the full Council. Non-Executive Members of the Council (representing each 
of the political groups) are appointed to the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committees to 
review those decisions and the performance of key services. The relationship between Council, 
Executive and Overview and Scrutiny is illustrated in the diagram below:

In order to deliver the Overview and Scrutiny function the Council has established the following 
Committees:

 Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee – responsible for overseeing the 
Overview and Scrutiny function and developing an annual work programme for each of 
the Committees.

 Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee – responsible for scrutiny of 
services relating to schools, safeguarding and child protection, looked after children and 
children with special educational needs and disabilities. 

COUNCIL
All 54 Members of the full Council meet 
six times each year. Full Council agrees 
the Budget and the Policy Framework for 
the year ahead

EXECUTIVE
The Leader of the Council appoints 
up to nine Executive Members. The 
Executive is empowered to take all 
executive decisions (collectively or 
individually) within the Budget and 
Policy Framework agreed by the full 
Council

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY
Non-Executive Members from the 
different political groups are 
appointed by the full Council to 
provide checks and balances on the 
decisions taken by the Executive, 
review service performance and 
advise the Executive on policy issues

129



6

 Community and Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee - responsible for scrutiny 
of Council services, crime reduction and community safety and flood risk management.

 Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee – responsible for scrutiny of local NHS bodies, 
public health arrangements and the work of the Local Healthwatch service.

The Committees consider issues at their regular meetings or by setting up time-limited Task 
and Finish Groups. The Council’s Overview and Scrutiny structure is illustrated below:

The role of Overview and Scrutiny Members is to ask questions to assure themselves that there 
are systems in place which ensure that they will be able to trust the data they receive, to know 
that the systems are recording the right things, to know that major issues are not being ignored 
and that emerging risks are recognised and acted upon without delay.

Overview and Scrutiny is not about the investigation of minor matters or individual complaints. 
The Council has a separate corporate Complaints procedure which is used to investigate 
individual complaints about services. Similarly, Overview and Scrutiny does not look at quasi-
judicial matters such planning or licensing issues. Finally, Overview and Scrutiny is not used 
for raising issues of a party political nature as these matters can be addressed through debate 
at full Council meetings.

         Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee

Children’s 
Services 

Overview and 
Scrutiny 

Committee

Task and Finish Groups

Community and 
Corporate 

Overview and 
Scrutiny 

Committee

Health 
Overview and 

Scrutiny 
Committee

130



7

SECTION 3 

REPORT OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 

Councillor John Kaiser, Chairman 
Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee

During the 2017/18 the Management Committee considered a number of issues which impact 
on the residents of the Borough. These included the performance of key services, the Local 
Plan update, economic development and the implementation of the 21st Century Council 
organisational change programme. The Committee also considered the “call-in” of Executive 
decisions relating to the proposed relocation of Wokingham library to the new Carnival Pool 
facility and the acquisition of units at Peach Place for key worker housing. 

The Committee questioned the Council Leader and Executive Members about priorities for the 
year ahead and the performance of key services. This helped to strengthen the working 
relationship with the Executive which is crucial as a key element of Overview and Scrutiny is 
the ability to influence decision makers at the Council and other public service organisations.

As mentioned above, Members submitted evidence to the inquiry into Overview and Scrutiny 
carried out by the House of Commons Communities and Local Government Select Committee.  
The Select Committee highlighted the importance of an organisational culture which underpins 
constructive challenge and democratic accountability. It made a number of recommendations 
relating to lines of accountability, access to information, the role of scrutiny Chairmen, Officer 
support and extending the scope of scrutiny to monitor commercial bodies and Local Enterprise 
Partnerships. The Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee broadly supported the 
recommendations and will seek to apply the learning from the inquiry into the development of 
Overview and Scrutiny function at Wokingham Borough Council.

As we move into the new Municipal Year the Management Committee will continue to focus on 
initiatives to strengthen the Overview and Scrutiny process. This will include greater emphasis 
on pre-decision scrutiny and measures to achieve greater involvement by residents and local 
community groups in the development and monitoring of key public services.

John Kaiser
       

131



8

Remit of the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee

The Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee oversees the Council’s Scrutiny function 
and is responsible for developing and co-ordinating the work programmes of the three Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees. The Committee also organises a training programme to ensure that 
non-Executive Members involved in Scrutiny have the requisite skills and knowledge to carry 
out their roles.

Membership

Councillor John Kaiser (Chairman).
Councillors Parry Batth, Lara Blumenthal (Vice-Chairman), Lindsay Ferris, Kate Haines, 
Pauline Helliar-Symons, Ken Miall, Ian Pittock, Malcolm Richards, Chris Smith, Bill Soane, and 
Shahid Younis.

Substitute Members: Councillors Philip Houldsworth, Abdul Loyes, Imogen Shepherd-Dubey 
and Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey.

Officer contact: Neil Carr neil.carr@wokingham.gov.uk

Highlights from the Year

Consideration of ‘Call-Ins’

The Committee held two special meetings to consider call-ins relating to decisions made by the 
Executive. The first call-in related to the decision to relocate Wokingham library into the new 
Carnival 2 leisure facility. The Committee concluded that the decision had been taken in line 
with the Council’s Constitution and the relevant decision making principles. The second call-in 
related to the proposal to purchase units in the Peach Place development for use as key worker 
housing. Again the Committee found that the decision was compliant but also recommended 
that the Executive ensure that any future affordable housing scheme which departed from the 
Council’s normal procedures be supported by details of how the scheme was different and the 
benefits provided for the Council.

Leader and Executive Member Sessions

The Leader of the Council and the Executive Members attended meetings of the Committee 
to discuss priorities for the year ahead and issues which may benefit from pre-decision 
scrutiny. The Committee found these sessions a useful way to develop better working 
relationships and inform the work programmes for the year ahead. These sessions will be 
repeated in 2018/19 and will also include a session with the Council’s Chief Executive. 

Performance Management

The Committee received the quarterly report setting out details of the Council’s performance 
against a number of financial, staffing and operational/project indicators. The Committee made 
further representations about the timeliness of the performance management reports and 

132



9

suggested that Officers consider ways to improve both presentation and timetabling. It was 
noted that the Council’s 21st Century Council change programme included IT investment that 
would enable the production of more timely performance reports. 

21st Century Council

The Committee considered an update on the Council’s 21st Century Council change 
programme. Submissions were made by the Lead Member, the Chief Executive, Programme 
Manager and UNISON. The Committee requested an analysis of the lessons learnt from 
Phase 1 of the programme and the ways in which Phase 2 would be strengthened as a result. 
Further updates would be considered as the programme progressed.

Local Plan Update

The Committee received a progress report on the Local Plan Update. Parish Council 
representatives attended the meeting and submitted a question about the Council’s 5 year land 
supply and the actions of developers who were in effect “land-banking” and submitting further 
applications. The Committee supported the Council’s actions in seeking co-ordinated lobbying 
of the Government by the Borough, Town and Parish Councils.

Member Training

The Committee recognises the importance of ongoing training and development to ensure that 
Members’ skills and knowledge are constantly upgraded. In June 2017 a training session was 
held which examined key elements of effective Overview and Scrutiny including preparing for 
meetings, questioning techniques and the development of key lines of enquiry. Representatives 
from Bracknell Forest and West Berkshire Councils attended the training session to bring a 
different perspective on the challenges facing Overview and Scrutiny.

Work Programme 2018/19

The Committee will scrutinise the following issues in 2018/19:

 Evidence from the Leader, Executive Members and Chief Executive on priorities, policy 
development and performance of key services;

 Updated Council Plan and Corporate Peer Review Action Plan;

 The 21st Century Council change programme;

 Progress on delivery of the four Strategic Development Locations (SDLs) and the Local 
Plan Update;

 £500m infrastructure investment (including the SCAPE contract);

 The Council’s annual Budget Consultation exercise;

 Operation and performance of Council-owned companies;

133



10

 Compliance with the Council’s statutory duties under the Equality Act;

 Reviewing the Assets Review Programme and the Property Portfolio Investment Fund;

 Outcomes from the Traffic Congestion working group;

 Effectiveness of the Thames Valley Berkshire Local Enterprise Partnership;

 Planning processes relating to the implementation of planning conditions and TPOs;

 Overview and Scrutiny Member training and support.

The Committee will also consider adding items to the Work Programme as a result of 
consultation with residents, community groups and partners organisations. 

134



11

SECTION 4 

REPORT OF THE CHILDREN’S SERVICES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

Pauline Helliar-Symons, Chairman 
Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee

The Committee’s work is split almost equally between children’s social work and educational 
attainment. As well as monitoring all the recommendations put in place by earlier Committees 
and Task and Finish Groups, the new work that has come its way is outlined below. This is in 
addition to the normal performance monitoring that we do at each meeting. This keeps the 
Committee in touch with how the service and schools, especially the ones that have had 
Ofsted inspections, are performing.

We also monitor what the Service is doing to help schools requiring improvement or schools 
causing concern to improve. This is now more complex, with the advent of new academies 
and free schools, as we have little control over what they do, yet the Local Authority is still 
accountable for their educational outcomes. 

Following a recommendation from the Coombes School Task and Finish Group, the 
Committee now has established standing part 2 sessions to review schools causing concern. 
Local ward Members are invited to attend the meetings and take part in the discussions.

Another innovation is the introduction of regular updates by the Executive Member for 
Children’s Services. The Committee receives and considers information on the development 
of new and existing policies, including arrangements, timescales and consultations. The 
Committee is able to have an input in the early stages of policy development. 

The Committee also continued to monitor the Social Worker recruitment and retention 
strategy and was pleased to note that the rate of Social Worker retention is much improved. 
This is the result of continued efforts to improve and develop the strategy.

All members of the Committee and their substitutes attend training at the start of the first 
meeting each year as Children’s Services is an area that is constantly changing and we are 
keen to keep up to date with new legislation and service developments. Training is also be 
arranged during the year if specific needs arise. 

It has been particularly heartening this year to have had a Committee most of whose 
members had experience from previous years. This adds both to the stability and consistency 
of our work, much of which is about examining developments, trends and progress; and to 

135



12

maintaining the knowledge of a very complex area of work by these Members so that they 
can delve deeper. This is difficult to achieve if the membership keeps changing as it used to. 

I would like to thank all members of the Committee, and the substitutes who have frequently 
been asked to attend, for their commitment to and interest in the work that we do, and for all 
the positive and genuinely useful contributions that they have made.

Pauline Helliar-Symons

136



13

Remit of the Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee

The Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee is responsible for scrutiny and 
assisting with policy development in relation to services for children and young people. This 
includes schools, early years’ settings and children’s centres, safeguarding and child 
protection, children in care and services for children with special educational needs and 
disabilities.

Membership:

Councillor Pauline Helliar-Symons (Chairman). 
Councillors Parry Batth, Laura Blumenthal (Vice-Chairman), Kate Haines, Ken Miall, Bill 
Soane, Shahid Younis and Beth Rowland.

Substitute Members: 

Councillors Lindsay Ferris, Emma Hobbs, Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey and Chris Smith.

Representatives of the Church of England Diocese and the Roman Catholic Diocese, 
together with a Parent Governor are also able to attend meetings of the Committee when 
Education issues are being considered.  At the moment these posts are vacant. 

Officer contact: Luciane Bowker luciane.bowker@wokingham.gov.uk

Highlights from the Year

Performance Management

At each meeting the Committee reviewed the performance of Children’s Services in relation to 
key Performance Indicators. These indicators demonstrate the contribution made by the 
service to achieving key Council priorities relating to looking after vulnerable people, 
improving educational attainment and focussing on every child achieving their potential. 
Members asked detailed questions on the performance indicators and requested further 
evidence to support the direction of travel set out for indicators in the report. I have asked for 
the scope of the indicators we look at in the future to be widened still further to include, as an 
example, the number of young people offending and reoffending.

School Performance Data

The Committee received regular School Performance data reports and summaries of recent 
School Ofsted reports. The Committee noted that many schools had improved their Ofsted 
inspection results over the previous year but also challenged the performance of schools that 
were marked ‘Requires Improvement’. The service was reminded that the Council’s ambition 
is for all schools within the Borough to have an Ofsted rating of ‘Good’ or ‘Outstanding’. The 
Committee noted high achievements and the fact that, on the whole, Wokingham schools 

137

mailto:luciane.bowker@wokingham.gov.uk


14

continued to perform well, with 92% of pupils attending schools that were rated good or 
outstanding. 

Child Care Sufficiency 
 
The Committee considered a report which assessed the sufficiency of childcare in the 
Borough in order to deliver the additional 15 hours of childcare that parents were now entitled 
to. The Committee was informed that this was a market led provision, and as the Council was 
not the provider, it had little control over it. The Committee was informed that none of the local 
providers had indicated that they would not be able to deliver the extra hours, but it was not 
yet known how much demand there would be for the extra hours. The Committee agreed to 
monitor the development of the Child Care Sufficiency Strategy.

Peer Review 

The Committee received the summary of the findings of a Peer Review which took place in 
March 2017. The review had identified strengths and recommendations which were in line 
with the service’s own self-assessment. The Committee noted with concern that long waiting 
times for Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) had been highlighted by the 
review. The Committee was informed that this issue had already been identified and the 
service was working towards improving the waiting times.

Social Work – Recruitment and Retention

The Committee was pleased to learn that the workforce was currently stable, with more than 
80% of permanent staff with tenure of 18 months or more. This was the result of various 
initiatives to attract and retain Social Workers. However, this would remain a priority and the 
Committee will continue to receive regular updates to ensure that Social Worker recruitment 
and retention continues to be effective.

Joint Targeted Area Inspection (JTAI)

The service underwent the JTAI which was an inspection undertaken by four inspectorates: 
Ofsted (who led the inspection), the Care Quality Commission, Her Majesties Inspectorate of 
Constabulary and Her Majesties Inspectorate of Probation. The inspection looked at 
arrangements to safeguard children with a specific focus on “children experiencing neglect”. 
An action plan was drawn up in response to the JTAI and members from other partners in the 
MASH have been invited to report on their part to the Committee; there will be 6 monthly 
updates on what progress is being made.

Policy Update from the Executive Member for Children’s Services

A successful innovation this year has been that Councillor Mark Ashwell (Executive Member) 
attended meetings of the Committee to update Members on the development of new and 
existing policies. The Committee welcomed the opportunity to give its views and to make 
recommendations at an early stage of policy development. As an example, the Committee 
reviewed and made recommendations on the proposals for Foster Carer Council Tax 
Exemption and Care Leavers Council Tax Exemption.

138



15

Local Safeguarding Children’s Board (LSCB) Annual Report

The Committee considered the LSCB’s annual report and noted that there had been 
significant improvement since the previous report.  However, it was identified that mental 
health services needed to improve in relation to the length of waiting lists. Members 
welcomed the improvement in ‘how we hear the child’s voice’, with the Children In Care 
Council now taking an active part at Corporate Parenting Board meetings. 

Corporate Parenting Board (CPB) Annual Report

The Committee received the annual report which contained a comprehensive review of the 
work undertaken by the Board during the year. The Committee endorsed the new strategic 
priorities and the Strategic Delivery Action Plan. In addition, the children in care are surveyed 
annually about what they think of us as corporate parents, and I have asked that the results of 
this survey be reported to the Scrutiny Committee each year.

Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH)

The Committee continued to monitor the development of MASH in the Borough following its 
launch in 2016. Partner agencies were invited to attend the meeting and give evidence to 
Members. The Committee was informed that work was being undertaken to improve joint 
decision making.  Further improvements required investment in IT systems and the 
Committee recommended that the Council continue to invest in the development of MASH.

Work Programme 2018/19

The Committee will scrutinise the following issues in 2018/19:

 Delivery of safeguarding services, including staff recruitment and retention;
 Key Children’s Services performance indicators and major projects;
 School performance, Ofsted reports and schools causing concern;
 Feedback from the annual conversation with Ofsted about Children’s Services;
 Sufficiency of school places across the Borough;
 Progress relating to narrowing the gap in educational attainment for children from 

disadvantaged backgrounds;
 Impact of the Council’s 21st Century Council change programme on Children’s Services;
 Key strategic initiatives such as the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH);
 Impact of demographic and legislative changes on the service.

139



16

SECTION 5   

REPORT OF THE COMMUNITY AND CORPORATE OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Shahid Younis, Chairman
Community and Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee

During the past year the Committee has continued its focus on the delivery of Council services 
to ensure that they provide value for money for the Borough’s Council Tax payers. Executive 
Members and Officers were invited to attend meetings of the Committee to give evidence and 
answer questions on priorities and performance. 

The Committee also examined the proposed changes to the relationship between the Council 
and voluntary sector organisations. The Committee welcomed the proposal to move from short 
term grants to longer term contracts with associated performance indicators. This will provide 
greater stability for local organisations and greater clarity about the deliverables expected by 
the Council.

The Committee considered a range of other issues during the year including flood prevention, 
community safety and local policing, town centre regeneration, unauthorised encampments and 
a range of highways issues such as civil parking enforcement.

In developing its work programme the Committee is keen to ensure that the “voice” of local 
residents and community groups plays a bigger part in its deliberations. The Committee 
recognises that involving residents, community groups and local “experts” in Overview and 
Scrutiny reduces the risk of a partisan approach as Members are able to hear directly from 
those stakeholders whose interests they are representing. The Committee will continue to 
promote greater public involvement in Overview and Scrutiny over the coming year and will 
share any relevant learning with the other Committees. 

I thank the Members of the Committee, Officers, residents and others who took part in our 
meetings for their valuable contributions during the year.

                                                                         Shahid Younis
      

140



17

Remit of the Community and Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee

The Community and Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee is responsible for the scrutiny 
of internal Council operations and partnership working across the Borough. It also has 
responsibilities under the Police and Justice Act 2006 which involves oversight of the operation 
of the Borough’s Community Safety Partnership. The Committee is also responsible for the 
scrutiny of flood risk management. 

Membership

Councillor Shahid Younis (Chairman).
Councillors Pauline Jorgensen, Abdul Loyes, Ken Miall, Philip Mirfin, Rachelle Shepherd-
Dubey, David Sleight and Bill Soane (Vice Chairman).

Substitute Members: Councillors Mike Haines, Clive Jones, Dianne King and Ian Pittock.

Officer contact: Callum Wernham: callum.wernham@wokingham.gov.uk

Highlights from the Year

Review of the Voluntary Sector

The Committee received reports on plans to strengthen the Council’s relationship with voluntary 
sector organisations. This involved greater clarity on the services being provided and the 
funding mechanism to drive improvements and greater joined up working. Moving from short 
term grants to longer term contracts would bring greater certainty for the organisations and 
greater clarity on the levels of performance expected. 

The Committee welcomed the new way of working and recommended a greater focus on 
transparency and improved communication with ward Members about voluntary sector activity 
in their area. 

Flood Prevention

The Committee considered an update on flooding issues during the winter of 2016/17 and the 
ongoing work to raise awareness and share information with partner organisations. Members 
asked questions about the asset register, local land drainage by-laws and the role of Flood 
Wardens in providing local knowledge relating to river and stream levels. The Committee 
requested improved communication with ward Members and Town/Parish Councils about the 
identity of local flood wardens.

Local Policing

The Committee received a briefing from Superintendent Shaun Virtue, the Local Area Police 
Commander, on local policing issues relating to the Bracknell and Wokingham Police Area. The 

141



18

briefing highlighted a number of key issues such as the ongoing threat from drug use in schools, 
domestic violence and road safety. 

The Committee noted the impact of staffing reductions across the Thames Valley for front line 
services in the face of increasing demand from a growing population. Superintendent Virtue 
also gave evidence to the Committee in relation to the work of the Community Safety 
Partnership. 

Community Safety Partnership

The Committee scrutinised the work of the Community Safety Partnership over the previous 
year. Members asked how the partnership and its delivery groups had progressed the four 
strategic priorities relating to the reporting of domestic abuse, reducing the level of repeat 
offending, understanding hidden crime and communicating the work of the partnership to make 
all residents feel safer. Community organisations were invited to give evidence to the 
Committee about local issues and the effectiveness of local solutions. 

Members considered the range of performance indicators underpinning each of the priorities 
and provided evidence of local issues which impacted on community safety and the work of the 
partnership. Members also considered the emerging Community Safety Strategy for 2018/21 
and the proposed new priorities which had been developed after consultation with local 
stakeholders. 

Town Centre Regeneration

The Committee received an update on the Wokingham town centre regeneration projects 
relating to Peach Place, Carnival Phases 1 and 2 and Elms Field. Members welcomed progress 
on the projects but noted the impact of the projects, in conjunction with the Market Place 
regeneration, on local businesses and retailers. A representative from the Thames Valley 
Chamber of Commerce addressed the Committee and highlighted the importance of clear 
information and timeframes to enable local businesses to plan for the future. 

The Committee agreed to monitor progress on the regeneration projects during 2018/19 and to 
seek further evidence of their impact on local businesses.

Civil Parking Enforcement

The Committee received an update on the implementation of Civil Parking Enforcement (CPE) 
which went live in October 2017. The update included performance data which underpinned 
the new service. This indicated that the contractor (NSL) had performed well against the 
objectives and assumptions set out in the business case. Members asked about the benefits of 
the new arrangements, customer feedback and partnership working with Town and Parish 
Councils. Members also received an update on work to develop a new parking strategy for the 
Borough which would be the subject of public consultation prior to adoption by the Council.

Work Programme 2018-19

The Committee will scrutinise the following issues in 2018/19:

142



19

 Effectiveness of the Borough’s Community Safety Partnership and local policing 
arrangements;

 Council Revenue and Capital Budget monitoring;

 Wokingham Town Centre regeneration projects;

 The Council’s relationship with the voluntary sector and Town/Parish Councils;

 Highways and Transport issues such as Civil Parking Enforcement, road maintenance, 
cycling facilities and the re-let of major highways contracts;

 Effectiveness of flood prevention measures;

 Waste and recycling (including the collection of food waste from 2019);

 The proposed Coppid Beech park and ride facility;

 The impact of changes to train services;

 Measures to increase public engagement with the Overview and Scrutiny function.

143



20

SECTION 6 

REPORT OF THE HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Ken Miall, Chairman
Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

The demands confronting NHS and social care services continue to grow. Medical advances 
mean that our residents are living longer, but are frequently living with long term chronic 
conditions such as dementia, diabetes and heart disease. This has significant resource 
implications. The average 65 year old costs the NHS 2.5 times more than the average 30 year 
old. For an 85 year old the cost is five times as much. The impact of poor diet and lifestyle 
choices add further demands. At a time of rising demand for health and social care services 
the state of the national finances has meant increasingly tight funding settlements. Increasing 
demand and limited resources are resulting in pressures in the system as evidenced by missed 
targets, difficulties in seeing a GP, increased demand for A&E and a growing number of carers 
helping relatives with increasingly complex needs.  

In response to these challenges it is essential that decision makers are able to understand local 
needs and deliver safe, effective services which achieve value for money. The role of the Health 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee (HOSC) is to ensure that residents’ views are heard and 
reflected in the development of these key services. The Committee also monitors the ongoing 
integration of health and social care, scrutinises service performance and acts as a “critical 
friend” challenging the information provided to it by a range of service providers. 

During the year HOSC addressed a wide range of issues, some of which are detailed below. 
The Committee also continued to work closely with key health and social care service 
providers, the Wokingham Health and Wellbeing Board, the Borough’s Clinical 
Commissioning Group and the local Healthwatch team. A challenge we face with Wokingham 
being a small unique Borough is that HOSC often addresses issues relevant to our particular 
area and not others or vice versa.  When dealing with the larger external organisations it is 
often the case that we are able only to access data for the UK as a whole or grouped figures 
for the wider Berkshire West area. This is where providers such as Wokingham Healthwatch 
can allow us to concentrate on the matters that affect our residents the most.

I would like to record my thanks to the HOSC Members, Officers, external partners, residents 
and community groups who contributed to the work of the Committee during the year.

Ken Miall

144



21

Remit of the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

The Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (HOSC) reviews and scrutinises matters relating 
to the planning, provision and operation of health services in the Borough. This includes acute 
and community health services, family and public health services and the work of the Local 
Healthwatch team. 

The Committee exercises powers conferred through the Health and Social Care Act 2012 and 
the Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013. The Committee also scrutinises social care services and other health related 
services jointly commissioned by the Council and local health bodies. 

Membership 

Councillor Ken Miall (Chairman).
Councillors Parry Batth, Laura Blumenthal, Kate Haines (Vice Chairman), John Jarvis, Clive 
Jones, John Kaiser, Malcolm Richards, Chris Smith, and Bill Soane.

Substitute Members: Abdul Loyes, Imogen Shepherd-DuBey, Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey 
and Alison Swaddle.

All attendees at HOSC meetings, including members of the public, may ask questions after 
each report/presentation is delivered.

Officer contact: Madeleine Shopland madeleine.shopland@wokingham.gov.uk
Highlights from the Year

Safeguarding Adults

The Committee considered annual reports from the Borough Council and the West Berkshire 
Safeguarding Adults Board. The reports highlighted high levels of commitment and innovation 
from staff which had been validated by an external peer review. Members note that the number 
of safeguarding concerns continued to increase year on year, with over half the concerns being 
raised by health and social care staff. Members sought assurance about the repeat concerns 
and were informed that governance and operational systems were in place to identify concerns 
which were repeated.

NHS Dental Services

The Committee received an update on the provision of NHS dental services in the Borough 
which confirmed the level of provision and accessibility on a ward by ward basis. Members 
noted the fact that improving access to NHS dental services was a national priority. 45.5% of 
the Borough’s population had attended an NHS dental practice in the two years prior to May 
2017. 

Health and Wellbeing Board

145



22

Councillor Julian McGhee-Sumner, then Chairman of the Health and Wellbeing Board, 
attended a HOSC meeting to update Members on progress made against the key priorities in 
the new Health and Wellbeing Strategy. These were: enabling and empowering resilient 
communities; promoting and supporting good mental health; reducing health inequalities and 
delivering person-centred integrated services. Members asked about the reducing outcomes 
from the “Step Up, Step Down” project and performance in the Borough relating to bed 
blocking. 

Optalis

The Committee considered and update on Optalis, the Council-owned company providing care 
and support services to older people and adults with a disability. With effect from 1 April 2017, 
the company was jointly owned by the Council and the Royal Borough of Windsor and 
Maidenhead. Members asked about the allocation of company resources between service 
delivery in Wokingham and Windsor and Maidenhead and the financial benefits arising from 
the merger. 

21st Century Council

The Committee considered an update on the potential impact of the Council’s 21st Century 
Change programme on health and social care services and the integration agenda. The future 
shape of key services would depend on a number of factors including more schools becoming 
academies, further reductions in Government funding and the impact of other elements in the 
change programme. It was essential the Council worked closely with the voluntary and faith 
sectors, partners and neighbouring authorities. Members stressed the importance of effective 
communication with residents and safeguards to ensure that vulnerable residents did not “slip 
through the cracks”.

Healthwatch 

At each Committee meeting Healthwatch Wokingham Borough updated Members on its work. 
Members also considered the Healthwatch Annual Report for 2016/17. During the year, 
Healthwatch submitted reports on a range of issues including visits to local facilities in the 
Borough, extra care facilities and the potential joint commissioning of Healthwatch services in 
Reading and Wokingham. Members expressed concern about the possible joint commissioning 
on the grounds that the two boroughs faced different health and social care challenges. 
Members also queried why the potential for joint commissioning with other Healthwatches was 
not being considered as an option. 

Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire and Berkshire West Sustainability and Transformation 
Plan

The Committee continued to work with West Berkshire, Reading, Oxfordshire and 
Buckinghamshire Councils in the joint scrutiny of the Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire and 
Berkshire West Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP). The STP included key 
programmes and enabling work streams focussing on prevention relating to child and adult 
obesity and exercise, urgent care, mental health, workforce issues and digital interoperability. 

146



23

Work Programme 2018-19

The Committee will scrutinise the following issues in 2018/19:

 Monitoring health and social care outcomes and the performance of the local NHS 
Foundation Trusts;

 Monitoring the work of the Wokingham Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG);

 Reviewing progress on the integration of health and social care services;

 The provision of effective community mental health services;

 Access to primary care services within the Borough’s Strategic Development Locations;

 Monitoring progress relating to the development of community hubs; 

 Input into the delivery of the Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire and Berkshire West 
Sustainability and Transformation Plan.

147



24

SECTION 7 

GETTING INVOLVED IN OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY

The Council is committed to making Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings accessible to 
all residents of the Borough. A key aim is to increase public involvement in the process and to 
remove barriers to participation. 

Residents can get involved in Overview and Scrutiny by attending meetings - all Overview and 
Scrutiny meetings are open to the public and are held in the early evening to make attendance 
easier. In addition, copies of Agendas including reports to be considered are published five 
working days before each meeting and can be accessed on the Council’s website:

www.wokingham.gov.uk/council-and-meetings

Residents can also elect to receive automatic notification when new Overview and Scrutiny 
Agenda and Minutes are published.

Each Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting includes a Public Question Time session 
which allows residents to raise issues of general interest and/or specific issues relating to the 
items under consideration.

Members of the public are also able to contribute to Scrutiny reviews by giving evidence either 
as an individual or as part of a community group. Residents can also request that a specific 
item is considered by Overview and Scrutiny as a review item. Residents can complete an 
online Scrutiny review suggestion form at:

www.wokingham.gov.uk/council-and-meetings/decisions/ask-for-a-scrutiny-review

During 2018-19 the Council will be seeking to make more use of local and social media to raise 
awareness of issues coming before the Overview and Scrutiny Committees and to allow 
residents to provide comments and feedback.

The Council’s Twitter feed is accessible here: WokinghamBorough@WokinghamBC

If you want to learn more about Overview and Scrutiny or want to discuss a specific issue, 
please contact Neil Carr, the Council’s Scrutiny Officer:

by telephone: 0118 974 6058, or 
by email: neil.carr@wokingham.gov.uk or by post:
Democratic Services, Wokingham Borough Council, Shute End, Wokingham, RG40 1BN.

148

http://www.wokingham.gov.uk/council-and-meetings
http://www.wokingham.gov.uk/council-and-meetings/decisions/ask-for-a-scrutiny-review
mailto:neil.carr@wokingham.gov.uk


25

SECTION 8 

DATES OF OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE MEETINGS IN 2018/19

 Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee

Wednesday 23 May 2018 at 7pm
Wednesday 20 June 2018 at 7pm
Wednesday 18 July 2018 at 7pm
Wednesday 19 September 2018 at 7pm
Wednesday 17 October 2018 at 7pm
Wednesday 21 November 2018 at 7pm
Wednesday 16 January 2019 at 7pm
Wednesday 20 February 2019 at 7pm
Wednesday 20 March 2019 at 7pm

 Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Tuesday 22 May 2018 at 7pm
Tuesday 18 September 2018 at 7pm
Tuesday 20 November 2018 at 7pm
Tuesday 22 January 2019 at 7pm
Tuesday 19 February 2019 at 7pm

 Community and Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Monday 18 June 2018 at 7pm
Monday 10 September 2018 at 7pm
Monday 5 November 2018 at 7pm
Monday 14 January 2019 at 7pm
Monday 11 March 2019 at 7pm

 Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Monday 4 June 2018 at 7pm
Monday 16 July 2018 at 7pm
Monday 17 September 2018 at 7pm
Monday 21 January 2019 at 7pm
Wednesday 6 March 2019 at 7pm

149



This page is intentionally left blank



Audit Committee Annual Report
2017/18

 

151

Agenda Item 86.



1. ROLE OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee provides independent assurance over the Council’s 
governance arrangements, risk management and the system of internal control in 
operation.  This year the Committee has fulfilled this task by considering the 
following:

(a) Internal and External Audit 

Internal Audit

Monitoring the Council’s internal controls and governance arrangements forms 
part of the Audit Committee’s remit.  In undertaking this role the Committee 
received quarterly progress reports on the work and performance of the Shared 
Audit and Investigations Service and Ernst & Young, the Council’s external 
auditor.

In June 2017 the Committee received and approved a revised Audit and 
Investigations Plan 2017-18 which detailed those audits which were proposed to 
be undertaken during 2017/18 and the scope of these reviews.  The Plan had 
been amended following a reprioritisation of work due to a number of factors such 
as the 21st century council project.  The 2018/19 Audit and Investigation Plan 
which detailed the proposed work to be undertaken by Internal Audit and 
Investigations for the forthcoming year, was considered and approved in February 
2018.

Housing Revenue Account Rents Audit
An update on the actions being taken with regards to the six outstanding 
recommendations from the 2015/16 Rents Audit report (of which two are high risk 
and four are medium risk) and the progress being made against these was 
received in December 2017.

External Audit

In addition the Committee received and approved the External Audit Plan 2017-
18 in February 2018.  Members noted the timetable showing the key stages of the 
audit and the agreed deliverables and received assurance that the new July 
deadline would be achieved.

(b) Investigations 

Throughout the municipal year the Committee has been informed of the work on 
investigations undertaken by the Shared Audit and Investigation Service.  The 
Investigations element of the Audit and Investigations Plan includes fraud 
awareness, proactive fraud drives and investigation of fraud and malpractice. 

(c) Risk Management

The Committee received updates on the Council’s Corporate Risk Register at 
each meeting.  Members requested further information and context in relation to a 

152



number of risks throughout the year so as to receive assurance regarding the 
effectiveness of the Council’s risk management arrangements.

(d) Statement of Accounts

Part of the Audit Committee’s role is to approve the Council’s annual statement of 
accounts.  In doing this the Committee must take into account if the appropriate 
accounting policies were followed and if there were concerns arising from the 
financial statements or from the audit that Council needed to be made aware of.  
The Committee reviewed and approved the annual statement of accounts in 
September 2017.

(e) Corporate Governance

The Committee must consider the Council’s arrangements for corporate 
governance and agree any necessary actions to ensure compliance with best 
practice.  As part of this the Committee oversaw the production of the 2016-17 
Annual Governance Statement and approved it on behalf of the Council prior to 
its inclusion in the final Statement of Accounts.  Members were satisfied that the 
Annual Governance Statement properly reflected the risk environment.

Members received a report in February 2018 which detailed the claims and 
returns for which local authorities were required to make their own audit 
arrangements; Teachers’ Pension Return; the Pooling of Housing Capital 
Receipts Return, and the Review of Sub Contracting Arrangements for the 
Education Skills Funding Agency.

(f) Treasury Management 

The Committee received the Treasury Management Strategy 2018-19 at its 
meeting in February 2018 and recommended it to Council.  The Treasury 
Management Strategy is agreed annually by Council at the same time that the 
Medium Term Financial Plan is approved.  

In addition the Committee considered the Treasury Management Outturn report 
2016-17 in June 2017 and the Treasury Management Mid-Year Report 2017/18 in 
December 2017.

(g) Council’s Corporate Complaints process

The Committee received two updates on the implementation of the Council’s 
corporate complaints process and compliments received throughout the year.  
Members noted that there had been a reduction in the number of complaints 
escalated to Stage 2.  This was in keeping with the focus of the complaints 
process now being on resolution at as early a stage as possible.

(h) 21st Century Council - governance arrangements

The Committee had previously considered whether the governance arrangements 
in place to implement the 21st Century Council project, were sufficient.  In 

153



December 2017 Members were updated on the conclusions from the internal 
audit of governance arrangements for the 21st Century Council programme.

(i) General Data Protection Regulations

The Committee sought assurance regarding the Council’s preparedness for the 
implementation of the General Data Protection Regulations from 25 May 2018, 
receiving a briefing at its meeting in February 2018. 

(j) Prevention and Detection of Fraud and Corruption

Members received and reviewed the Council’s updated policies and procedures 
to prevent and detect fraud and corruption and recommended their approval to 
Council. 

2. CONCLUSION

To conclude, the Audit Committee is satisfied that the Council’s systems of 
internal control, governance and its risk management arrangements are sufficient 
to manage the achievements of its objectives.

Anthony Pollock 
Chairman, Audit Committee
March 2018

154



Standards Committee 

Annual Report 

2017/18

Submitted to the Council – March 2018

155

Agenda Item 87.



Introduction by UllaKarin Clark,
Chairman of the Standards Committee

I am pleased to present the Annual Report of the Standards Committee for 2017/18. 

The key aim of the Standards Committee is the promotion and maintenance of the highest 
standards of conduct by elected Members representing the Borough, Town and Parish 
Councils. Members’ conduct should be underpinned by the seven principles of public life, 
also known as the Nolan principles. These are selflessness, integrity, objectivity, 
accountability, openness, honesty and leadership.

The Standards Committee met three times during the year and focussed on ensuring that 
the Borough Council’s policies, as set out in the Members’ Code of Conduct, were up to date 
and underpinned by best practice. The Committee considered trends arising out of 
complaints data and arrangements to ensure that Members were aware of their 
responsibilities under the Code of Conduct. The Committee is especially keen to ensure that 
newly elected Members are aware of their responsibilities and the standards of behaviour 
expected of them. 

In relation to the points above, I am pleased to report that the level of Code of Conduct 
complaint activity in 2017/18 was significantly lower than in previous years.

I would like to record my thanks to the Borough, Town and Parish Members, Officers and 
Independent Persons who contributed to the work of the Committee. In particular, I would 
like to mention the contribution of Roger Loader (Parish Council representative) and Carole 
Freeman (Independent Person) who stood down during the year. I wish them well for the 
future. 

Finally, I would like to welcome Paddy Haycocks and Nick Oxborough to their roles as 
Independent Persons.

 UllaKarin Clark
    March 2018

156



1.0 What does the Standards Committee Do?

The role of the Standards Committee is to promote, monitor and enforce probity and 
ethical standards amongst elected Members within the Wokingham Borough,  
including Town and Parish Councillors. 

The Localism Act 2011 removed the requirement for a national code of conduct and 
statutory Standards Committees. The Act introduced a locally focussed “light touch” 
framework for the adoption of a Member Code of Conduct, and processes for the 
receipt and consideration of complaints. Although not obliged to do so under the 
terms of the Localism Act, Wokingham Borough Council decided to maintain a 
dedicated Standards Committee.  

In addition to the receipt and consideration of Code of Conduct complaints against 
Wokingham Borough Council Members, the Committee is also responsible for the 
receipt and consideration of complaints against Town and Parish Councillors. If the 
complaints process determines that a Town/Parish Councillor is in breach of the 
Code of Conduct, recommendations will be submitted to the relevant Town/Parish 
Council as to the appropriate sanction. However it is for the Town/Parish Council to 
decide what action is to be taken. 

The Terms of Reference for the Committee, recorded in Chapter 9 of the Borough 
Council’s Constitution, are set out below:

Role and Functions

The Standards Committee has the following role and functions:

a) promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by Councillors, co-opted 
members, including church and parent governor representatives;

b) assisting the Councillors, co-opted members, including church and parent 
governor representatives, to observe the Members’ Code of Conduct;

c) advising the Council on the adoption or revision of its Members’ Code of 
Conduct;

d) monitoring the operation of the Members’ Code of Conduct, the Officers’ Code 
of Conduct and the Council’s Whistleblowing policy and any other appropriate 
codes of conduct and procedures;

e) advising, training or arranging to train Councillors, co-opted members and 
church and parent governor representatives on matters relating to the Members’ 
Code of Conduct;

f) the exercise of (a) to (e) above in relation to the Parish/Town Councils wholly or 
mainly in its area and the members of those Parish/Town Councils;

g) the presentation of an annual report by the Chairman of the Standards 
Committee to Council.

157



2.0 Who Sits on the Standards Committee?

The Committee is made up of six Wokingham Borough Council Members. These 
Members are voting members of the Committee and are appointed on the basis of 
political proportionality. An elected Member from Wokingham Borough Council chairs 
the Committee. The current Chairman is Councillor UllaKarin Clark.

The Committee also includes three, non-voting, Town and Parish Council 
representatives. 

The 2017/2018 membership of the Committee was:

o UllaKarin Clark, (Chairman)
o Ken Miall (Vice-Chairman) 
o Chris Bowring
o Prue Bray
o Pauline Helliar-Symons
o Paul Swaddle

o Sally Gurney (Wokingham Town Council)
o Roy Mantel (Twyford Parish Council).
o Roger Loader (Barkham Parish Council) – part year. 

3.0 Independent Persons

Under the terms of the Localism Act 2011, Wokingham Borough Council is required 
to appoint an Independent Person (a member of the public, not a Council Officer or 
elected Member) whose views must be sought before the Standards Committee 
takes a decision on an allegation it has decided to investigate. The Independent 
Person’s views may also be sought on an allegation prior to that stage. In addition, a 
Member who is subject of an allegation may seek the views of an Independent 
Person. Three people are currently acting in the Independent Person role:

o David Comben
o Paddy Haycocks
o Nick Oxborough

An Independent Person cannot sit as a member of the Standards Committee, but 
may attend meetings with the same rights as a member of the public.

4.0 Who Supports the Standards Committee?

The Committee is supported by:

o Andrew Moulton, Assistant Director, Governance and Monitoring Officer
o Mary Severin, Borough Solicitor and Deputy Monitoring Officer 
o Neil Carr, Democratic Services.

158



5.0 Standards Committee Activity in 2017/18

During the 2017/18 Municipal Year three Code of Conduct complaints were received. 
The Standards Committee considered an update report on the complaints and 
investigations at each of its meetings. The complaints related to:

 The conduct of a Borough Councillor at a meeting with external partners.

 The process a Parish Council followed in nominating persons as trustees to a 
local charity.

 A post on social media made by a Town Councillor. 

No action was taking in relation to any of these complaints as it was concluded, in 
each case, that there had been no breach of the Code of Conduct.

It is worth reiterating that the number of complaints received should be seen in the 
context of there being 54 Borough Council Members and over 200 Members of Town 
and Parish Councils across the Borough. 

Whilst recognising that the level of complaint activity in 2017/18 was very low, the 
Committee continues to recognise the importance of dealing with every complaint 
seriously and expeditiously. 

6.0  Standards Committee – Future Actions

The Committee will continue to seek improvements to the Code of Conduct and 
supporting processes to ensure continuous improvement in line with best practice. In 
so doing it will seek to maintain the credibility and good governance of the Borough, 
Town and Parish Councils.

The Committee will also deliver further training and support, as necessary, to 
underpin high standards of ethical behaviour by elected Members and Officers across 
the Borough. High standards of behaviour help to build trust in elected 
representatives which is crucial to the democratic process. 

The Committee has also submitted comments to the Review of Ethical Standards in 
Local Government undertaken by the Committee on Standards in Public Life. The 
review is examining the structures, processes and practices relating to codes of 
conduct, investigation of breaches of said codes, sanctions for misconduct, managing 
conflicts of interest and whistleblowing. 

The Committee on Standards in Public Life aims to report on these issues later in 
2018. Any learning points from that report will be incorporated into local policies and 
procedures to ensure that the highest standards of conduct are maintained. 

159



This page is intentionally left blank



161

Agenda Item 88.



162



163



164



165



166



167



168



169



170



171



172



173



174



175



176



177



178



179



180



181



182



183



184



185



186



187



188



189



190



191



192



193



194



195



196



197



198



199



200



201



202



203



204



205



206



207



208



209



210


	Agenda
	78. Minutes of Previous Meeting
	83. Council Plan
	Council Plan Appendix

	84. Changes to the Constitution
	Appendix 1 - Anti Fraud  Anti Corruption Policy
	Appendix 1a - Whistleblowing  Guidance
	Appendix 1b Anti Bribery Policy
	Appendix 1c Anti Money Laundering Policy
	Appendix 1d- Prosecutions and Sanctions Policy
	Appendix 1e - RIPA Policy
	Appendix 2 - Procurement + Contracts Rules + Procedures
	Appendix 2a -PCRP Appendix 1
	Appendix 2b PCRPs - Appendix Three
	Appendix 2c PCRPs - Appendix Four

	85. Annual Report from the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee and the Overview and Scrutiny Committees 2017/18
	86. Audit Committee Annual Report 2017-18
	87. Standards Committee Annual Report 2017-18
	88. Reports from Members appointed to Outside Bodies

